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Statement from the Chair and Chief Executive 

We have had an incredibly busy period over the last 12 months as colleagues throughout the 
organisation have worked tirelessly to improve the quality of services we provide for the 
communities of Tameside and Glossop. Over this time we have worked through a detailed 
improvement programme to ensure that all of the services we offer are of a good or outstanding 
standard.  
 
We have seen a number of key appointments throughout the organisation at director and senior 
management level as well as a significant investment in the number of doctors and nurses that we 
have working at the hospital, allowing us to deliver high quality, safe care across all wards and 
departments.  
 
2013/14 was the year we further embraced cultural change at the hospital by proactively 
encouraging staff to speak out if they were in any doubt about any part of their work or treatment 
of patients. In addition to this we have seen further reductions in the number of patients acquiring 
infections whilst under our care. This reduction was backed by a Trust-wide infection prevention 
campaign which we called Space Infectors. We have also seen the continued embedding of the 
hospital’s new Values and Behaviours, which are now also embedded within the Trust’s 
recruitment programme, where all potential employees are expected to demonstrate all of the 
hospital’s Values and Behaviours during the recruitment process.  
 
Some of our other achievements include: 
 

- Rapid assessment of patients with complex clinical needs when admitted to A&E; 
- Significant improvements to our critical care service, aligned to national standards;  
- Significant reduction in the number of complaints associated with patient care;  
- Development of a centralised booking team for inpatient and day case procedures; 
- Significant investment in our clinical leadership.    

 
Whilst we acknowledge that we are on the right track to deliver outstanding patient care, it’s also 
important to recognise that our journey of improvement will never end and we must continue to 
evolve, change and improve all the services that we offer our local communities.  
 
We finished the 2014/15 financial year with an £18.436m deficit, as predicted. This overspend was 
largely down to the increase in staffing levels across the organisation, including the use of bank 
and agency staff. Additionally, we have invested heavily in infrastructure and other improvements 
to many areas of the organisation.  
 
We believe that 2014/15 has been a significant step in the right direction for Tameside Hospital 
and a year that will be marked in history as the year the hospital turned a corner. We are now 
confident that we have all the pieces in place to build a long term sustainable future for the 
organisation and a hospital that patients, the local community and staff can be truly proud of.  
 

 
 
 
 

Paul Connellan                Karen James 
Chair                             Chief Executive  
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About the Trust and summary of 2014/15 

 

Tameside Hospital was established as a Foundation Trust on February 1st 2008.  The Trust 
operates from the Tameside General Hospital site, which is situated in Ashton–under-Lyne. 
The hospital services a population of approximately 240,000 residing in the surrounding 
areas of Tameside in Greater Manchester, and the town of Glossop in Derbyshire. 
 
Tameside Hospital is a self-governing Foundation Trust. The Board of Directors assume 
management responsibility but are accountable for its stewardship to the Council of 
Governors and members.  Our performance is scrutinised by the Foundation Trust 
regulator Monitor, and Care Quality Commission.  
 
Employing approximately 2600 staff, the hospital provides a range of healthcare services 
one would associate with a general hospital. These services include general and specialist 
medicine, general and specialist surgery and full consultant led Obstetric and Paediatric 
hospital services for women, children and babies. 
 
The Trust’s clinical services are provided in a number of different specialties and 
departments. These are organised into four divisions. 
 

In 2014/15 there were 81,915 attendances to our A&E department, 50,973 inpatient and 
daycase spells, and 236,965 attendances to our outpatient clinics. 

Tameside Hospital Foundation Trust was able to report compliance with the majority of 
the regulatory targets and has generally maintained a strong performance. The trust did 
not meet the emergency four hour waiting target for quarters 2,3 and 4 due to a 
significant increase in A&E attendances. 

In July 2013 the Trust was placed in special measures as a result of Keogh etc. Upon re-
inspection during May 2014, whilst significant improvements were observed by the Care 
Quality Commission, the trust was rated as ‘inadequate’ and remained in special 
measures. The trust is due to be re-inspected during April 2015 and anticipates being 
removed from special measures as a result of that inspection. 
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Strategic Report 

 

This Strategic Report provides a review of the trust’s business and will cover the following 
areas: 

• Trust Strategy 
• Business review and management commentary 
• Operational performance and service developments 
• Our people 
• Financial outlook 

Strategy 

The Trust developed its five year strategy to fix and then develop the organisation, 
to deliver services to the local community based on best practice and proven 
concepts from within the NHS, the international health care community and also 
from sources outside health. 

The strategy has a number of key elements as follows: 
• exit special measures – achieving this will enable the focus and 

resources to move forward with radical improvements to services at the 
core of the plan; 

• form Strategic Partnerships – to share best practice, make better use of 
resources, obtain new financing and improve quality and sustainability; 

• introduce Outcome-based Care – to enable the focus to be squarely on 
patient outcomes and the value-add of care given 

• implement Care Pathways – to embed best practice, continuous  
improvement and proportionate controls into the clinical lifecycle; 

• become an Integrated Provider – to improve the delivery of health and 
care services to the local community by integrating everything together 
under the umbrella of THFT construct; 

Progress against delivery of the Strategy can be evidenced by the Trust’s delivery of 
key outcomes against its Corporate Objectives during 2014/15. 

 
Business review and management commentary 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust contracts mainly with its local commissioner, 
Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). Approximately 91.6% of the 
trust’s income is derived from a legally binding contract which is agreed between the trust 
and all its commissioners.   
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As described in other sections of this Annual Report, whilst the achievement of some of 
the trust’s national performance targets has been a challenge, the trust has always 
prioritised patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness. 

A significant focus of the board during 2014/15 has been the planning and pursuit of an 
integrated care model of care that will ensure the trust’s clinical and financial sustainability 
in the future. An integrated model of care will enable the trust to serve its patients and 
carers even better.  

The board reviews the major risks to the achievement of the organisation’s objectives 
every month using a scoring system based on best practice techniques. The significant 
risks which concerned the trust during 2014-15 are explained in detail within the Annual 
Governance Statement (p. 157) 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties facing the Trust –   

The Trust is currently in special measures as determined by Monitor. The extent of the risk 
and uncertainty faced by the Trust is informed by its financial position and its response to 
the safety and quality concerns, highlighted by external reviews (Keogh, Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and Health Education England) and a CQC Chief Inspectors of 
Hospitals inspection into its services. 

In addition the Trust has experienced challenges in delivering key performance targets 
during 2014/15, specifically the 18-week referral to treatment (RTT) following the 
introduction of a new patient administration system and the A&E 4-hour waiting time 
target, due to increases in attendances over the winter period. 

The Trust recognises that it is not feasible or sustainable either operationally, clinically or 
financially to operate in isolation and therefore a greater emphasis is being given to 
developing models of service delivery in collaboration with other partners which are both 
vertical models (acute, community, and primary care services) and horizontal models 
(secondary and tertiary services). The aim of these integrated models of care is to ensure 
affordable, clinically safe and high quality consultant led services, and to develop 
pathways of care which if appropriate support patients within the community. 

Aims and objectives 

Throughout 2014/15 the Trust generally maintained good performance delivery against 
key national and local measures.  
 
The Trust achieved all full year targets with the exception of A&E, the Trust did not 
achieve the A&E maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival to admission, transfer, 
or discharge for Quarter 4.  The Trust also failed to meet the three RTT standards 
(admitted, non-admitted and incomplete) pathways in Quarter 4. 
 
The Trust’s corporate objectives for 2015/16 aim to achieve the right balance between 
ensuring all patients receive harm free care and an improved hospital experience, and the 
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development of a strategic service model that will ensure clinical and financial 
sustainability for the trust. 
 
 The main themes or corporate objectives for the Trust to take forward into the coming 
financial year are as follows: 
 
 • All patients receive harm free care through the delivery of the Trust’s Patient Safety 
Programme.  
 
• To improve the quality of patient care through the implementation of the Trust’s agreed 
Quality Strategy. 
 
 • To improve the patient experience through a personalised, responsive, compassionate 
and caring approach to the delivery of patient care.  
 
• To foster a continuous quality improvement culture which promotes patient quality, 
safety, personalised and effective care. 
 
 • To develop a Strategic Service Plan which will secure clinical and financial sustainability 
for the Trust in conjunction with the Trust’s strategic partners and key stakeholders.  
 
• To work with our partners, stakeholders and the community to develop the reputation of 
Tameside Hospital as a provider of safe, high quality, effective care. 
 
 • To deliver against the required local and national frameworks and to put in place 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, in 
order to meet all the requirements of the Trust’s operating licence and the commissioners’ 
requirements.  
 
Each of the themes outlined above have a number of key measurable outcomes, aligned 
to the Trust’s Patient Safety Programme and Quality Improvement Strategy. 
 
 
Health and Safety 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has established a clear structure in respect of all 
matters relating to Health and Safety management, which discharges the requirement to 
have in place competent health and safety support, as defined in Regulation 7 of the 
Management of Health and Safety at Work regulations 1999.  
 
During the year, the board of directors reviewed health and safety on a regular basis 
utilising a quarterly dashboard performance and exception report.  
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External Reviews  

Care Quality Commission  

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was one of 14 hospitals in England that was 
subject to a review by Sir Bruce Keogh in May 2013. As a result of this review the Trust 
was paced in Special Measures by its regulator, Monitor.  

The Trust was re-inspected by the Care Quality Commission in May 2014 and whilst 
considerable improvements were observed, the trust was rated as” inadequate” and 
remains in Special Measures. Another CQC inspection has been scheduled for the week 
commencing 27 April 2015 and the board is confident that the trust will demonstrate 
considerable improvement and the “inadequate” rating will be lifted. 

Contingency Planning Team 

In September 2014, Monitor announced the decision to appoint a Contingency Planning 
Team at the Trust because it is facing challenges in providing acceptable levels of care 
and is financially unsustainable in its current form. PwC was selected to test and develop a 
locally-generated idea of fully integrating healthcare services for the local population, 
bringing health and social care services together in a radical new approach.  

Starting in November 2014, PwC are working collaboratively with local partners to confirm 
whether this is the best solution for the Trust and, if not, work out what is. They will also 
help to plan the best way to implement the right solution. 

Health Education England 

Post Graduate Educational Monitoring Visit 
 
Health Education North West (HENW) undertook a review of Post Graduate Education on the 22nd 
May 2014. The Trust received a copy of the Postgraduate Monitoring visit report on the 27th 
August 2014. 
 
The Trust received three reports covering all levels of training, the three reports received relate to 
Specialty specific issues, the Foundation Programme Doctors and GP Training. Within the reports 
HENW made some key recommendations arising from the visit and the Trust has devised an action 
plan based on these key recommendations.  
 
The Trust was asked to feedback the response to Domain 1 – Patient Safety by the 7th October 
2014. An action plan setting out how the Trust plans to meet all the recommendations was to be 
returned by the 23rd February 2015. The Trust completed both these actions work continues to 
monitor the overarching action plan and this is being overseen by the Medical Education Team 
with input from the Divisions as a number of the actions relate to operational issues. The Junior 
Doctors Issues group continues to meet monthly and the group will look at what evidence or 
audits are required to test the actions that have been put in place.  
 
The Trust has continued to meet with the Junior Doctors on a Monthly basis, a weekly survey is 
sent out to all juniors and the juniors can raise concerns and issues via a specific ‘meded’ email. All 
issues raised are addressed promptly either by the Medical Education Team or the operational 
teams. Clinical Incidents are picked up by a dedicated Patient Safety Officer who is linked to Junior 
Doctors to ensure the juniors receive timely feedback on issues raised.  



10	  |	  P a g e 	  
	  

 
CMFT Undergraduate Medical Education Monitoring Visit 
 
Central Manchester undertook an Undergraduate monitoring visit at Tameside on the 24th 
February 2015; the review was conducted by Professor Ray McMahon (Hospital Dean), Ms Bev 
Miller (Head of Undergraduate Medical Education) and Mr Tim Bellart (Quality Assurance 
Coordinator).  
 
The Trust received positive feedback on the Undergraduate placements experienced by the 
students at Tameside, the main highlights included: 
 

• The work that had clearly gone into completing the workplace agreement compliance 
document, together with the supporting evidence, was commended.  

• It was noticeable that many of the students had undertaken previous placements at the 
Trust and had actively sought to return.  

• The visiting team remarked on the excellent attendance at the visit from consultants 
involved in delivering UGME, which demonstrated their commitment to UGME  

• Job planning appeared to be facilitating the delivery of UGME and the progress with SPAs 
for the undergraduate tutor and year 4 associate tutor was commended.  

• The excellent opportunities available in the year 4 placements in O&G were noted, with the 
opportunity to experience breast disease and sexual health.  

 

Operational Performance and Service Developments 

During the last twelve months the trust has again consistently delivered the majority of 
the national targets and standards with the exception of RTT. The trust has focussed 
significant effort on reducing the incidence of hospital acquired infection with a 42% 
reduction in C.Diff. 

 	   	   	  

Targets as per Compliance Framework Target Met/Not Met 
	  

Clostridium Difficile Infection 41 √  	  

Cancer two week wait for specialist appointment 
from GP urgent referral 93% √  

	  

Cancer two week wait for specialist appointment 
with Breast symptoms 	  

(cancer not initially suspected) 
93%  √  

	  

Cancer 31 day diagnosis to treatment for first 
definitive treatment 96% √  

	  

Cancer 31 day diagnosis to treatment for second 
or subsequent treatment (surgery) 94% √  

	  

Cancer 31 day diagnosis to treatment for second 
or subsequent treatment (anti-cancer drug 
treatments) 

98% √  

	  

Cancer 62 days to treatment from GP urgent 
referral 85% √  

	  

Cancer 62 days to treatment from 
Consultant/Screening service referral 90% √  
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Maximum waiting time of four hours from arrival 
to admission/transfer/discharge from A&E 95% X 

	  

Referral to treatment waiting times – Admitted 
(90th percentile) 18 weeks X 

	  

Referral to treatment waiting times –  
Non-admitted (95th percentile) 18 weeks X 

	  

Referral to treatment waiting times –  
In-complete pathways (92nd percentile) 18 weeks X 

	  
 

Service Transformation 

We are committed to building upon our strengths and identifying opportunities to acknowledge 
and address some of the areas where further improvements could be made both in terms of 
safety, quality and efficiency.   

The need to enhance the organisation’s capacity and capability in relation to delivering sustainable 
improvement has been recognised and a Service Transformation Team has been established to 
support the programmes that are necessary to meet the current and future challenges.   

The Service Transformation team was established in September 2014 in order to support the Trust 
in achieving its strategic goals in relation to delivering sustainable improvement. To date the team 
has managed and successfully delivered a wide portfolio of change programmes and has 
supported clinical and management colleagues in achieving outcome benefits for patients. Going 
forward as an example, the following list illustrates just some of the areas and projects receiving 
support from the Service Transformation Team: 

• Radiology 
• Cardiology 
• Patient Flow 
• Outpatients 
• Urgent Care 
• Theatres 
• Discharge Information Processes 
• Ward weekend handover processes 

Service Developments (including Estates and Facilities) 

Over the past 12 months, there have been a number of improvements and service developments 
introduced to ensure the trust delivers the highest quality clinical services to its patients. 
 
The following gives some indication of the service developments undertaken last year and planned 
in the future: 

 
The Division of Emergency Services & Critical Care  
 
In the past 12 months there have been significant changes within the Urgent Care Directorate that 
have seen improvements in the services that are provided. 
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Emergency Department 
 
The nursing workforce continues to expand and the service has seen the appointment of an 
experienced ANP and a number of ENP’s to ensure that patients are seen by the most appropriate 
clinician. As part of the workforce plan a number of staff are developing their portfolios by 
undertaking either ANP or ENP training. 
 
The Departmental nurse staffing has been benchmarked against the new NICE guidance for ED 
staffing and has demonstrated that the nursing resource is within the benchmark limits. A skill-mix 
review will see an increase of senior qualified nursing staff on duty overnight to support acuity. 
 
The Department has also successfully expanded its cohort of paediatric nurses and continues to 
deliver Paediatric Emergency Services with our qualified APNP’s. 
 
The consultant workforce has expanded to 7 which allows the ability to extend the shop floor 
hours to 23.00 part of the week. This allows more senior decision making close to the point of 
entry and improves outcomes whilst reducing delays.  
 
The REACT operating hours have been extended and a dedicated facility has been commissioned 
for ambulance triage and handover. 
 
 
Acute Medical Unit 
 
On the Acute Medical Unit (AMU) we have appointed 2 additional full time acute physicians, Dr 
Adnan Jan and Dr Martin Pattrick, who has been appointed as Clinical Lead for Service 
Improvement. Martin has been at the forefront of leading by example and this has been evident by 
the acute medical in-reach process that has become embedded which has acute physicians seeing 
patients in ED for admission avoidance or re-direction to Ambulatory Care. 
 
An expansion of this service has seen the utilisation of an acute medical middle grade based in ED 
during core hours taking GP calls to offer advice and guidance and to see patients closer to the 
front door. 
 
The number of beds on the AMU has been reduced to 40 (not including the Ambulatory Care Unit) 
to meet a staffing ratio of 1 nurse to 8 patients as recommended by NICE. 
 
The Ambulatory Care Unit has gone from strength to strength and has been a key process in 
reducing length of stay and admission avoidance. It has however become a victim of its own 
success and a new home is now needed for it to continue to grow. 
 
The Nurse staffing has increased as has the number of medical staff, both as part of the core team 
and the on-call. 
 
The Division of Women’s and Children’s 
 

Women’s Health Unit (WHU) 
 
The integrated WHU continues to provide safe, high quality care to women who access our 
services. The enhanced recovery programme is well established within the Unit and has resulted in 
reduced length of stay and improved patient satisfaction.  
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The gynaecology outpatient procedures clinics have been expanded to include two extra post-
menopausal bleeding clinics and two outpatient procedure clinics every month to meet the 
expanding service needs for the patients. 

Ten new hysteroscopes have been purchased for use in the gynaecology outpatient procedures 
clinic.  This will enable the expansion of hysteroscopy clinics to meet service needs. 

Novasure and Essure procedures are now established within the outpatient department and the 
MINITOUCH system is currently being trialled as an additional ablation treatment using smaller 
instruments.   

A telephone follow up service for patients has been introduced to help reduce the high number of 
DNAs associated with this cohort of patients in outpatient clinics.  Early indications suggest that 
patients are very satisfied with this service. 

 
Maternity Services 

 
In 2014 –15,   2369 women gave birth to 2413 babies. The number of women having a normal 
birth is 67.2% (national average in 2013/14 was 60.9 %.) The caesarean section rate was 23.2% 
(national average in 2013/14 was 26.2%); the instrumental (assisted) delivery rate is 8.5% 
(national average in 2013/14 was 12.9%); and inductions of labour at 30.3% (national average in 
2013/14 was 25%) 
 
Having a home birth is an option for women and 2.6% of women chose this. 
 
Central delivery suite  (CDS) 

CDS has undergone changes in practice to improve safety. Epidural wastage recording was 
implemented and we are now 100% compliant. New epidural forms have been developed with the 
anaesthetic team to ensure more robust documentation. 

The pool room has recently undergone extensive refurbishment (with funds raised from the Bright 
Start Appeal), providing a calm, warm and welcoming environment for women and their families.  

The additional Midwifery Led Care birthing room has also been redecorated to mirror the standard 
of the pool room. The quality of the refurbishment reflects the excellent quality of care that is 
provided by the dedicated team of staff within the maternity unit. 

The introduction of fibronectin which is a test which allows a definitive result if women are likely to 
be in labour or labour early when presenting with this in mind. This has helped reduce the number 
of admissions to await events and has allowed for a more robust management plans for those with 
a positive result. 

Antenatal day assessment unit (ANAU) 

The feedback from patients on ANAU and waiting times has led to the introduction of an extra 9-5 
midwife each day to streamline the service and reduce waiting times. The ANU was nominated by 
the student midwives and subsequently awarded ‘Practice Placement of the Year in 2014’ from the 
University of Manchester 

Antenatal clinic 
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During the last twelve months processes within the clinic have been reviewed to improve patient 
flow, patient experience and effectiveness, the findings from the review are being implemented 
with the support of the multi- disciplinary team. 

There are plans for 2015-2016 to upgrade the Antenatal Clinic to match the standards of the rest 
of the unit and to make the starting point of every woman’s’ journey in her pregnancy a 
welcoming, professional and calming environment. 

Antenatal Screening 

The Trust antenatal and newborn screening performance is excellent, with national KPI targets 
achieved in all areas. 

External quality assurance has been deemed essential by the UKNSC in order to minimise harm 
and maximise the benefits of all national screening programmes. Participation in a formal process 
of external quality assurance is the responsibility of each local screening programme.  
 
The Trust Screening Midwife undertook the Peer Reviewer training towards the end of 2013 and 
was a member of the QA team which carried out an assessment visit at Liverpool Women’s 
Hospital in June 2014.  
 
Between July 2012 and August 2014, the Trust participated in a national pilot study offering 
newborn bloodspot screening for additional metabolic disorders. The pilot was successful and from 
September 2014,  four additional disorders were included in the standard screening which is 
offered to all babies: 

• Maple syrup urine disease (MSUD) 
• Homocystinuria pyridoxine unresponsive (Hcys) 
• Glutaric aciduria type 1 (GA1) 
• Isovaleric acidaemia (IVA) 

 

Within the service specification (no 19) for the newborn blood spot screening programme is a 
requirement to have: A national IT failsafe solution in place to ensure samples are received in the 
laboratory and no babies born in England miss being offered screening. 
 
Training of key personnel occurred in April 2014 and the National Failsafe IT solution was 
successfully implemented at the Trust in May 2014. 
 
Infant feeding 

The Trust was awarded UNICEF ‘Baby Friendly Accreditation’ in December 2014. Training for all 
staff on new UNICEF standards will commence from June 2015. Reassessment will take place in 
December 2016. 

We are working closely with the local council on a marketing campaign ‘Breastmilk it’s amazing’ to 
help raise an awareness of the benefits of breastfeeding across the Borough and ultimately 
increase our breast feeding initiation and drop off rates. 

We have submitted a business case to the commissioner for young families and children to 
purchase a small number of electric breast pumps for free short term loan from the postnatal 
ward. The aim of this is to support women with complex problems to breastfeed for longer.  

The Frenulotomy clinic continues to provide an excellent service for the babies of Tameside and 
Glossop with an average waiting time of 1-2 weeks for a consultation. 
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The breastfeeding peer support service continues to work well, supporting local women in the 
antenatal period, during a stay in hospital, at home and in support groups in the local community. 
Work is also ongoing within Glossop for further support from paid volunteers. 

 
Community Midwifery 
 
The Community Midwifery/Midwifery Led Care/Enhanced Midwifery Care  team provides care for all 
women of the Tameside and Glossop area, throughout their pregnancy. Care is provided through a 
team approach and each GP Practice has an allocated named Midwife.  

The Community service has been undergoing a review improve efficiency and effectiveness of the 
service but also improve continuity of carer for our women. The changes have been led by the 
members of the Community Team and one of the major changes has resulted in the expansion of 
the Midwifery Led Care Team to provide improved continuity of care during the intra partum 
period. This is also of benefit to the members of the extended Community Team as shift patterns 
are less fragmented and provide a better work life balance for all. 

The Midwifery Care Led Lead Midwife was shortlisted for the British Journal of Midwifery (BJM) 
Community Midwife of the Year in April 2014. She also was awarded ‘Champion for Normality’ at 
the MaMa Conference also in April 2014. 

 The Enhanced Midwifery Team was shortlisted for BJM ‘Team of the Year’  and in the ‘Excellence 
in Midwifery Practice’ category at  the Royal College of Midwives in March 2015.  In both awards 
the team were placed second.  

 
Smoking in pregnancy 

Smoking in pregnancy remains a priority for the Stop Smoking Service and the generic Midwifery 
service. Funding continues by Public Health Tameside for the Smoking Cessation Midwife to 
continue to support women to stop smoking during pregnancy, for the benefit of themselves, their 
unborn babies and the family as a whole. Support is also offered to the extended family. Funding 
for the post has been secured until March 2016. 

During 2014 /15 Tameside participated in the ‘Supporting a Smoke Free Pregnancy’ scheme 
offering ‘mothers to be’ vouchers a an initiative to stop smoking and remain smoke free until baby 
is 12 weeks old .The Smoking Cessation Midwife took a the lead on this. The aim of the project is 
to ‘make smoking history for children.’ Results so far are encouraging but the scheme does not 
finish until December 2015 and final figures will be available in March 2016. 

Progress this year involves having Nicotine Replacement Therapy available on the wards making it 
easier to administer such to patients willing to accept treatment, without waiting for prescriptions 
to be dispensed. 

Carbon Monoxide monitoring for all women is now embedded in Ante-natal clinic care and all staff 
are in the process of being trained to use the CO monitor .This will facilitate screening to be 
undertaken on all wards and departments and women referred as appropriate 

Figures for Smoking at Time of Delivery (SATOD) remain constant over the year but improvements 
can be seen in some months. 
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One of the key impacts that the Smoking Cessation Midwife has achieved is the support that she is 
able to offer women who are at risk (because of smoking) of having babies who a ‘small for 
gestational age’ (SGA). Case histories have proven that these women do stop smoking and have a 
better outcome. This has reduced the number of babies needing to be cared for on Neonatal unit 
and promotes early bonding for the whole family. 

Evaluation of the Midwife Led Stop Smoking Service has been undertaken and we are awaiting 
formal feedback. 

Teenage Pregnancy  
 
Tameside remains to have the fourth highest number of pregnant teenagers despite national 
statistics continuing to show overall decrease. A multi -agency Teenage Pregnancy pathway has 
been developed. 
  
The Teenage Pregnancy Midwife continues to work very closely with Children’s Social Care (CSC) 
due to the complexity of social problems and the vulnerability of these young people. Safeguarding 
is an integral part of all maternity care, throughout pregnancy from the antenatal booking stage 
and continuing postnatally.  
 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) being at a high level within Tameside, a key objective of Tameside 
Safeguarding Children’s Board is that Awareness of CSE and how to respond to it is promoted.  
The Teenage Pregnancy Midwife is involved in CSE work and training on behalf of the trust. 
 
The current rate of second pregnancies in teenagers nationally is 20%. The rate of consecutive 
deliveries for teenagers delivering at Tameside hospital remains less than 1%. This is due to long 
acting reversible contraception being encouraged and often implemented by the Specialist 
Teenage Pregnancy Consultant and Teenage Pregnancy Midwife who is now trained in the 
insertion and removal of implants. 
 
A challenge for the future is that national guidance and some of the other service providers within 
Tameside provide support up to the age of twenty however our service is up to the age of 19 at 
estimated date of delivery. 

Additional services are provided within Tameside Hospital antenatal clinic, including contraception, 
smoking cessation, Positive Steps (housing, benefits and education advise and help) and Family 
Nurse Partnership. 
 

 
Children’s Services 

 
The Children’s Services at Tameside continues to deliver a high quality service to children’s and 
young people from the Tameside and Glossop area. Providing 21 inpatient beds, 7 observation and 
assessment beds, 8 day case surgery beds, a 13 cot NICU and an impressive children’s outpatient 
department, the whole service provides a seamless service from front door to back door taking the 
needs of patients into consideration at every level. In the past 12 months the observation and 
assessment unit has increased its service from 12 to 24 hours providing an ambulatory model of 
care 
 

Neonatal Intensive care unit 

The Neonatal unit comprises 13 cots (1 for intensive care, 2 for high dependency care and 10 for 
special care) and provides clinical care for babies born from 27 weeks gestation. Those babies 



17	  |	  P a g e 	  
	  

born at an earlier stage may transfer to Tameside from a tertiary level centre at a later point in 
their care journey.  

The average number of babies receiving care in one year is 250, some of whom have more than 
one admission. Dependent on the degree of care required some babies can spend up to ten or 
twelve weeks on the unit until they are finally ready to be discharged home to the care of their 
parents. 

Additional facilities include bedrooms for parents to stay with their baby prior to taking them 
home, a breastfeeding room, and a play room for visiting siblings.  

We have a specific, dedicated nursing team of which 85% have attained a qualification in the 
provision of intensive and high dependency care. Currently two other nurses are undertaking this 
qualification at a local university. Within the past year we have introduced the role of ‘assistant 
practitioner’ to the unit to support the provision of special care and to work closely with parents in 
preparation for taking their baby home. 

Children’s Community Services:  

Over the last twelve months the team have continued to see high numbers of children in the 
community. The activity continues to grow year on year within current resources. 

Nurse led clinics continue to be well attended and we are now able to offer clinics at the weekend, 
Saturday morning and Sunday afternoon. 

We regularly monitor the DNA rates to ensure they are low and have started a texting service to 
remind parents about their children’s appointments. 

Clinics are followed up by regular questionnaires and the feedback excellent. 

GP referrals have increased again over the last twelve months and now account for over 40% of 
all referrals. Feedback from parents and GP’s is that the service offered is of a high standard. We 
continue to monitor our rapid response activity and are able to demonstrate that over 85% of 
children seen urgently are kept at home.  

 
The Division of Elective Services 
 
Breast MDT 
 
During the year we established a new joint MDT with the Nightingale Centre which is part of the 
University Hospital South Manchester NHS Foundation Trust.  This MDT ensured that patients were 
reviewed diagnosed and treated within a short a timescale as possible whilst maintaining the 
highest possible standard of quality.  
 
Colorectal 
 
Within the year we implemented a service where during laparoscopic bowel surgery a  Bicycle tyre 
pump test is performed.  This is to ensure that during surgery there is no anastomosis leak.  This 
being a gold standard for laparoscopic bowel surgery to allow for immediate repair ensures better 
outcomes for our patients. 
 
Outpatient improvement 
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Trust has introduced an appointment confirmation service in a number of specialties and will be 
rolled out in all specialties in April 2015. A new online cancellation form has been deployed via the 
Trust internet so patients can contact the Trust electronically.  
 
In response to the Lorenzo issue and in order to provide a safe and responsive service the trust 
has introduced a new Patient Target List (PTL) which provides schedulers with greater visibility so 
that they can prioritise according to clinical priority then chronological order.  To improve the 
patient experience patients are now being offered an improved choice for their first outpatient 
appointment.       
 
Elective patient flow 
 
During the year the Trust embarked on a “Right Patient Right Bed” initiative aimed at delivering 
the highest standard of care through the appropriate management of patients.  This resulted in a 
series of ward moves which were completed in February 2015.  At the same time the division took 
an opportunity to review nursing staffing complements.   
 
 
Five steps to safer surgery  
 
Following the implementation of the WHO checklist and team brief in 2009 a multi-disciplinary 
team completed a review of the process and developed a revised checklist in theatres.  The team 
also identified and subsequently produced a shortened version for procedures taking place outside 
of the main theatre environment.  Overall audits show very good compliance an adoption of the 
new format.  To ensure this is embedded within the theatres,  safety champions have been 
identified  to promote this.  
 
 
JAG accreditation 
 
In August 2014 the Endoscopy Unit underwent an external review of the service in line with the 
Royal College of Physicians Joint Advisory Group (JAG) guidelines.  In January 2015 the Trust was 
notified of a successful accreditation, this being in recognition of the quality and safety of patient 
care by defining and maintaining the standards by which endoscopy is practiced.     
 
 
Cancer Services 
 
Upper GI  
 
The Upper GI pathway has been redesigned to enhance the service and provide guarantees that 
patients will be reviewed, diagnosed and treated within as short a timescale as possible whilst 
maintaining a high standard of quality. The service had already offered the opportunity for patients 
to go direct for a diagnostic endoscope. However following that endoscopy if a clinician is 
concerned that a patient may have an Upper GI cancer there is a need for the patient to have a 
CT scan. To enable the CT to happen on the same day of a suspicious endoscope there are now 2 
designated endoscopy sessions per week. This means the Radiology department is prepared for 
the request for a same day CT scan. The benefits of the pathway changes include the reduction in 
time to review treat or discharge also it has allowed the Clinical Nurse Specialist to be the focal 
point for patients with suspected cancer from the moment of an abnormal endoscope.  
 
 
Cancer Services Team  
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The Trust over the past year has seen a 20% increase in the number of GP referrals for patients 
with a suspicion of having a cancer. All such patients are administratively managed by the Cancer 
Services team, this team track the patient through the pathway ensuring that the patient is 
reviewed, diagnosed and treated or discharged in line within the national Cancer Waiting Time 
timeframes. Due to the increase in referrals the Trust has ensured that the priority management of 
these patients has been maintained. This has been done by investing into the Cancer Services 
team to enable an increase the resources within the team, it has also allowed a management 
restructure which has provided a stronger management team. These changes have ensures that 
patients referred with a suspicion of cancer continue to be prioritised effectively through the 
cancer pathways.  
 
 
The Division of Diagnostics and Therapeutic Services  
 
Pathology 
 
Cellular Pathology 
 
Southern Sector Pathology undertook its first TUPE on August 1st 2014 with Cellular Pathology staff 
and laboratory moving into an integrated department at UHSM. UHSM Histopathologists are still 
providing a post mortem service on a rota basis and laboratory and consultant staff are still 
providing a FNA biopsy service on Mondays for the breast service and Wednesdays for the head 
and neck service. On Tuesdays laboratory staff provide an andrology (semenology) service. 
 
Blood Sciences 
 
Blood Sciences has met its departmental objectives and made continuous improvements in line 
with technological changes and specific guidelines. Performance Statistics have continued to show 
the department reaches the acceptable targets for RCPath (>90% for Emergency AE Tests in 60 
minutes). 
 
The LIMS (Telepath) was upgraded to version 2.2 with the main changes implemented for Blood 
Transfusion and activation of the AKI alerts. 
 
New instrumentation has been installed for Haematology with automated slide production 
increasing efficiency. 
 
Biochemistry has introduced new improved methodology for  
 

• Salicylate 
• Troponin 
• HCG 
• Progesterone 

 
Blood Transfusion has introduced the TraceSafe system, redesigning of compatibility labels and to 
allow direct correlation between label and prescription chart. 
 
Safer Practice Notice (SPN) 14 ‘Right Patient, Right Blood’ issued jointly by the National Patient 
Safety Agency (NPSA), National Blood Transfusion Committee (NBTC) and Serious Hazard Of 
Transfusion (SHOT) in November 2006 introduced the requirement for all clinical staff involved in 
the blood transfusion process to be assessed against competencies developed on a national basis. 
Although the NPSA is now disbanded, these training and competency skills remain recognised by 
the UK Core Skills Training Framework. 
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The table below shows the Trust compliance at against these competencies at the time of the 
report. 
 
 
Blood 
Administration 
(3 Yearly) 

Number of staff that require 
training/competency 
assessment 

Number of 
staff trained 

Percentage 
trained 

Staff Group    
Nurses/Midwives 703 604 86% 
    
Transfusion 
Sampling (3 Yearly) 

Number of staff that require 
training/competency 
assessment 

Number of 
staff trained 

Percentage 
trained 

Staff Group    
Nurses/Midwives 672 550 82% 
Phlebotomists 12 12 100% 
    
Blood Track (2 
Yearly) 
 

Number of staff that require 
training/competency 
assessment 

Number of 
staff trained 

Percentage 
trained 

Staff Group    
Nurses/Midwives 534 506 95% 
Laboratory Staff 23 23 100% 
Porters 47 47 100% 
 
Point of Care Testing has seen an increase in demand for blood ketone testing; this has been 
implemented in A+E and MHDU/CCU, CMW and AMU.  Blood gas instruments have almost 
standardised across the Trust with the upgrade of the ITU analyser, addition of Children’s Unit 
analyser and more recently installation of the latest blood gas technology to support of Critical 
Care re-design. Blood Sciences is currently working towards the ISO / UKAS inspection in June 
2015. 
 

Procurement processes are taking place in conjunction with South Sector  

• Transfusion analysers 
• POCT (IT & Glucose) 
• Immunology Service 

Microbiology 

The introduction of an automated ELISA to detect Cryptosporidium spp and Giardia spp in all 
faecal samples replaces microscopy for both. Giardia spp microscopy was also only done when 
requested and not for all samples received. Both Giardia spp and Cryptosporidia spp are labile 
outside the host (especially Giardia trophozoites lasting only hours) which can prove problematic 
when detecting the organisms by microscopy. The ELISA technique detects antigen on the surface 
of the organisms and can therefore detect whole and fragmented organisms that would not be 
visible under the microscope. 
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The combination of increased test sensitivity and a change in testing protocol has improved patient 
care as we have seen a substantial increase in Cryptosporidia/Giardia positive samples, which 
previously would have been reported as negative. 

 
Radiology  

The Radiology service based at Tameside NHS Foundation Trust focuses on a patient centred 
approach providing continuous 24/7 service delivery including support for emergency care, 
interventional radiology as well as a comprehensive cross-sectional imaging service. In 2014/15 
the department carried out more than 140,000 procedures whilst undergoing and instigating 
numerous service improvements. 

We have spent £1.5 million installing and commissioning a new GE MR scanner, placing 
significance not just on the ability and quality of the equipment but also on the environment and 
patient experience, ensuring that safety, quality and patient flow are optimum.  

We have invested in the development of a Radiology booking office to ensure compliance with 
Department of Health guidelines on reasonable notice, as well as allowing patients to choose 
appointments that are compatible with their personal needs. The aim is to improve the patient 
experience as well as patient flow through the department, helping to reduce the number of 
wasted appointment slots. 

We continue to support all members of the team in Professional development, this year this 
includes the development of advanced practice in: 

 Mammography 

 CT Head Image Reporting 

 MSK MR Reporting 

 Plain film MSK and Chest Reporting 

Our educational profile also includes undergraduate students from the University of Salford with 
whom we maintain close professional links.   

We remain one of only 7 Trusts in the UK who have appointed a Consultant Radiographer to lead 
the Ultrasound service. This year their role has included the development of an innovative one-
stop clinic for neck lumps. This has involved joint team working with an ENT surgeon for whom we 
have provided specialist ultrasound training and in turn received training in fine needle aspiration 
significantly improving the diagnostic portion of the patient pathway. 
 
 
Therapy Services Developments 
 
Acupuncture Outpatient Clinic 
 
Acupuncture is one of the many skills employed within physiotherapy as part of an integrated 
approach to the management of pain and inflammation. Physiotherapists base their treatments on 
scientific research and clinical evidence that Acupuncture can reduce pain by stimulating the brain 
and spinal cord to produce natural pain-relieving chemicals such as endorphins, melatonin (which 
promotes sleep) and serotonin (to promote well-being), to name but a few. These chemicals assist 
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the body's healing processes and offer pain relief as a precursor to other treatments such as 
manual therapy or exercise in order to aid recovery. 
 
Conventional acupuncture involves the use of single-use, pre-sterilized disposable needles of 
varying widths, lengths and materials that pierce the skin at the acupuncture points. The 
physiotherapist will determine the locations of these points on the basis of an assessment of the 
cause of the imbalance. A number of needles may be used during each treatment, and these are 
typically left in position for between 20 and 30 minutes before being removed. 
  
A dedicated acupuncture clinic is established for two afternoons.  Patients can be booked into the 
clinic by the treating physiotherapist.  The physiotherapy department has a treatment protocol for 
acupuncture that can be completed prior to treatment commencing.  The physiotherapists that are 
qualified to acupuncture patients will be on a rota.  This is to ensure that competency is 
maintained in the area.  
 
 
Inpatients Physiotherapy 
 
This year in the therapy department great efforts have been made to update and increase our 
stock of respiratory equipment to support the needs of the local population. Nasal High Flow is an 
oxygen delivery device that aims to correct and prevent potentially harmful hypoxemia and 
alleviate breathlessness whilst reducing areas of potential harm. The models have been updated 
and the stock increased to 16 Airvo-2 machines. In addition the Non-Invasive Ventilation service 
has updated its machines and increased the baseline stock level from 6 to 12. This is to meet the 
rising needs of the local population as well as expanding the service into other areas for best-
practice such as ITU. 2 of the machines have also been allocated to the training and development 
of staff to allow practical exposure to the machines and ensure medical device competency. 
   
  
The Community Link Day in December 2014 was a great success inviting all teams from the local 
community to present their service and increase awareness to a large group of professionals within 
the Tameside and Glossop area on topics such as referral criteria, referral process, aims of the 
service, contact information and patient literature. Over 14 services within the community 
attended and benefitted from information sharing and networking with other professionals. 
  
This link day was part of a larger ongoing project within the therapy department called ‘The 
Helping Hand.’ This project aims to promote recovery during and after illness, maintain 
independence, minimize deconditioning during hospital stays and maintain psychological well-
being.  
 
The project is based on the belief that recovery is about people staying in control of their lives and 
looking beyond health problems to new goals and things that give their life meaning. This process 
is influenced by other people’s expectations and attitudes and requires a well-organized system of 
support from professionals and family. 
 
The project is based on a 5 star scheme to improve patient information, training for staff and staff 
awareness, review of the hospital environment, review of available equipment and resources and 
improving community links for seamless, effective care. 
 
Occupational Therapy Manual Handling service. 
 
The Healthier Together review of Health & Care Services in Greater Manchester promotes 
partnership working, and encourages joined up care. It calls for high quality responsive care 
systems which are easy to access and advocates the coming together of services that were 
previously fragmented to improve quality and patient experience. 
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The inpatient occupational Therapy team are able to use their core skills to provide a timely initial 
ward based assessment, equipment referral and formal report for in-patients who have manual 
handling needs (as part of a joint health and community services pathway), demonstrating a good 
example of how services can work together to provide a high quality seamless service that is cost 
effective in: 
 
• Reducing the time a medically stable patient waits on a ward for a manual handling 

assessment once the need has been identified. 
• Reducing the time a medically stable patient occupies an acute hospital bed waiting for a 

community assessor to attend the hospital to commence the initial assessment. 
• Creating further capacity for local area assessors to expedite the essential environmental 

assessment. 
• Reducing the overall length of stay by streamlining the process. 
 
. 
Additionally where a patient has a manual handling need and has expressed a preference to be 
cared for by family members without formal care support then the OT Manual Handling Assessors 
can assess personal care needs   refer for the provision of equipment for use in the home 
environment, demonstrate equipment use, provide a personalized handling plan.  This ensures risk 
management and timely discharge for patients in need of practical support but without the need to 
occupy an acute hospital bed whilst waiting for extensive packages of care. 
 
Our People 

Staff Survey 
 
Staff involvement and engagement is one of the key objectives of the Trust. The Everyone Matters 
agenda has continued and has become the cornerstone of the patient and staff engagement 
agenda. 
 
The below summarises the Staff Survey results for 2014, and the Trust priority areas/key actions. 
 
Response rate 
 
The Trust overall response rates for the Staff Survey are as follows: 
 
 2014 

 
2013 DIFFERENCE 

Response rate Trust 
 

National Trust National  

  
38% 

 
42% 

 
48% 

 
49% 

 
DETERIORATION 
FOR BOTH TRUST 
AND NATIONAL 
RESPONSE RATES 

 
 
Highest and Lowest Ranking Scores 
 
The Trust score breakdown for the 29 Key Result areas was as follows: 
 

• Above average 15 (9 in 2013) 
• Average     6  (5 in 2013) 
• Below average  8  (14 in 2013) 
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In terms of overall staff engagement, the Trust had improved on the previous year (3.78 
compared to 3.70) and had also scored higher than the National Acute Trust average (3.74). 
 
 
A breakdown of the highest and lowest ranking scores is as follows: 
 

HIGHEST RANKING SCORES 
Trust 
Score  
2014 

National 
Average 
2014 

Trust 
score 
2013 

National 
average 
2013 

Percentage of staff experiencing 
discrimination at work in the last 12 months 
(lower the better) 
 

8% 11% 

 
 

11% 

 
 

11% 

Percentage of staff reporting errors, near 
misses or incidents witnessed in the last 
month (higher the better) 
 

93% 90% 

 
 

89% 

 
 

90% 

Staff motivation at work (higher the better) 
 3.93 3.86  

3.91 
 

3.86 
Percentage of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in 
the last 12 months (lower the better) 
 

21% 23% 

 
 

24% 

 
 

24% 

Percentage of staff witnessing potentially 
harmful errors, near misses or incidents in 
the last month (lower the better) 

31% 34% 
 
 

36% 

 
 

33% 
 
 

LOWEST RANKING SCORES 
Trust 
Score  
2014 

National 
Average 
2014 

Trust 
score 
2013 

National 
average 
2013 

Percentage of staff working extra hours 
(lower the better) 
 

74% 71% 
 

74% 
 

70% 

 Percentage of staff having equality and 
diversity training in the last 12 months.  
(higher the better) 
 

54% 63% 

 
49% 

 
60% 

Percentage of staff receiving health & 
safety training in the last 12 months 
(higher the better) 
 

73% 77% 

 
 

73% 

 
 

76% 

Percentage of staff experiencing physical 
violence from patients, relatives or the 
public in the last 12 months (higher the 
better) 
 

17% 14% 

 
 

18% 

 
 

15% 

 
 
The following table highlighted the key findings where the Trust has improved and deteriorated, 
when ranked with other NHS Acute Trusts. For Tameside, these were: 
 
 

SIGNIFICANT IMPROVEMENTS 
Trust 
Score  
2014 

National 
Average 
2014 

Trust 
Score 
2013 

National 
Average 
2013 
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Fairness and effectiveness of incident 
reporting procedures (higher the better) 

 
3.55 

 
3.51 3.45 

 
3.51 

Staff recommendation of the trust as a 
place to work or receive treatment (higher 

the better) 
 

3.70 

 
3.67 3.55 3.68 

 
 

 
 
Key actions and priorities 
 
The Trust is pleased to see areas of improvement, especially regarding staff engagement at work, 
and the % of staff recommending the Trust as a place to work or be treated. 
 
Each Division has received a local breakdown of scores. Each Division will be responsible for 
producing an action plan to address local issues, which will be monitored through the Executive led 
HR and OD Committee. 
 
The Trust has defined its Corporate level priorities and actions as follows: 
 

• Continued roll out of our Leadership Development Programme, which will be aimed at all 
levels of management. This will focus on expected standards and behaviours from 
managers.  
 

• Continued embedded of the Trust values into behaviours. These have already been built 
into nursing recruitment processes and the appraisal process. 

 
• Roll out of a coaching and mentoring programme, to support and develop managers and 

staff. 
 

• Improved training provision for health & safety and equality & diversity, which would 
include a mixture of e-learning packages and face to face training. 

 
• Develop and roll out of a Health & wellbeing and a communication strategic plan. 

 
Progress will be monitored through the HR and OD Committee. 

 
 
Workforce 
 
The Hospital has continued in its journey to embed the spirit of “Everyone Matters” into everything 
we do. 
 
The Trust launched the Trust Values in April 2014, and the themes of care, respect, safety, 
learning and communication have been built into the recruitment and the appraisal process. 
 

SIGNIFICANT DETERIORATIONS 
Trust 
Score 
2014 

National 
Average 

2014 

Trust 
Score 
2013 

National 
Average 

2013 
Percentage of staff appraised in the past 12 

months 
 

87% 
 

85% 93% 
 

84% 
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The workforce and OD strategy continues to focus on developing an engaged and competent 
workforce, working within a culture of openness and respect. 
 
Sickness Absence 
 
The Trust has continued to place the wellbeing of our staff high on our agenda. The Trust’s 
sickness absence rate is 4.8%, which is average for an acute Trust in the region (source: e-WIN).  
 
The Trust recognises that continued work is needed in order to preserve our staff’s health and 
wellbeing during times of change. A strategic health & wellbeing plan is currently being developed, 
which will set the direction for the Trust. 
 
The Trust is also in the process of rolling out a ‘core skills for managers programme’, which will 
include training on Attendance Management and Stress Awareness for managers, to assist them in 
identifying and managing stress related issues in the workplace. This will be accompanied by a re-
launched Stress Policy. 
 
Organisational Development and Staff Engagement 
 
The Trust’s OD Strategy was developed in early 2014, to support and complement other key 
organisational strategies such as the Quality Improvement Strategy, Nursing & Midwifery Strategy, 
Patient Safety Programme and the Communications & Engagement Strategy. 
 
The OD Strategy and accompanying plan sets out an enabling framework for achieving the Trust’s 
Mission, of ‘delivering, with our partners, safe, effective and personal care, which you can trust’ 
 
The Trust has made good progress against each of the key strands of the OD strategy, as follows: 
 
Values and Behaviours: The Values have been incorporated into the recruitment process for 
unregistered and registered nursing staff, and into the appraisal process for all staff. Values will be 
incorporated into the recruitment process for all staff in 2015. 
 
Leadership Development: The Trust has delivered a Board Level development programme, 
accredited ward manager development programme, and a leadership development programme for 
clinical directors and senior managers. This has included coaching training sessions. 
 
This will be expanded on in 2015. There will be a revised ward manager programme for new ward 
managers. There will also be a 3 layer leadership development programme, focusing on senior 
leaders, coaching for middle management and a “core skills” for managers/supervisors 
programme.   
 
Continuous Improvement: The Trust has redesigned the appraisal system (for non-medical staff), 
which is currently being launched. This will give a greater emphasis on measuring performance, 
and will focus on staff behaviour and values. Individual objectives will map back to the Corporate 
objectives. 
 
This is being rolled out as an appraisal window, where the Executive Team receive their appraisals 
in March, and this will then cascade through the organisation. All appraisals should be completed 
by August 2015. 
 
The Trust has recently launched the If in Doubt campaign, encouraging staff members to speak up 
if they have concerns. This will be re-run periodically, to ensure that staff know how to raise ideas 
and concerns, and to encourage a culture of openness. 
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Staff Engagement: The Trust has developed a formal communication strategy, based around key 
messages such as infection control and staff awards. Senior leadership is more visible, and 
internal/external communication methods continue to be improved. 
 
In the Staff Survey 2014, scores for Staff Engagement and Staff Motivation in the Trust were 
better than the national average, which was very encouraging.  
 
Equality and Diversity 
 
The trust has made a conscious decision to ensure all employment policies conform to the Equality 
Act and cover the principles of equality and diversity rather than have stand-alone policies relating 
to disabled employees and equal opportunities. 
 
Workforce changes 
 
The Trust has continued to review establishment levels, particularly within the nursing and medical 
workforce. There has been an increase of around 70 WTE within the nursing establishment, with a 
further 25 WTE recently agreed at Trust Board. In addition to this, around 24 WTE staff have been 
redeployed from Ward 30 (General Medical) and Ward 5 (Short Stay Unit) which closed due to the 
Transitional Care Unit opening in Darnton House. These staff have been redeployed onto other 
wards. 
 
The Trust continues to work towards a 1 to 8 nurse/patient ratio (1 to 10 at nights) as per RCN 
guidelines.  
 
The Trust had also increased resident medical cover out of hours, at both senior and junior level. 
There are ongoing challenges in recruiting to various medical roles. In light of this, the Trust has 
made a number of changes. This includes the creation of Advanced Nurse Practitioner roles in 
A&E, to reduce reliance on Specialty Doctors. The Trust is also piloting increased ward clerk cover 
at the weekends, to reduce reliance on junior doctors for administrative tasks. 
 
The senior management team has been strengthened, in recognition of the fact that the 
challenges facing the Trust continue to grow, and the need for transformation is crucial.  
 
Clinical Director roles were introduced in early 2014. These roles have been instrumental in giving 
more autonomy and visibility for the senior medical team, as well as giving them an active role in 
governance, quality, finance and KPI performance within the Divisions. 
 
In addition to this, the Trust has recently created Divisional Director roles and Assistant Chief 
Nurse roles. These will bridge the gap between Corporate/Executive level and the operational 
“ward and department” level. 
 
The Leadership Development Programme has provided support and coaching to a number of very 
senior managers. This will be rolled out further in 2015. 
 
South Sector Pathology has continued its implementation in 2014. The Cellular Pathology service 
and staff was transferred to the University Hospital of South Manchester in August 2014, which 
was phase 1 of the project. Discussions are on-going about the next stage with this project. 
 
There will be further workforce changes throughout 2015 as the Trust makes improvements to 
services, and continues on its journey towards becoming an Integrated Care Organisation. The key 
for the Trust will be to manage these changes whilst maintaining staff wellbeing and engagement. 
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EQUALITY & DIVERSITY 
 
The Trust formed a new Equality and Diversity Implementation Group (EDIG) in 2014. This group 
is now responsible for equality & diversity strategy in the Trust. The group is co-chaired by the 
Director of HR (workforce) and Director of Nursing (service), and includes both internal and 
external stakeholders. 
 
EDS 2 is a set of 18 outcomes grouped into four goals, which are overall Trust strategy, patient 
experience, workforce and the EDS four goals are as follows: 
 
1. Better health outcome for all                                   
2. Improved patient access and experience               
3. Empowered, engaged and included staff                
4. Inclusive leadership at all levels 
 
These outcomes focus on the issues of most concern to patients, carers, communities, NHS staff 
and Boards. It is against these outcomes that our performance is analysed, graded and our actions 
determined. The grading is completed by our key stakeholders, both internal and external to the 
Trust.  The agreed grading is then published to the public. 
 
The Equality & Diversity Implementation Group has made considerable progress in embedding the 
principles of equality & diversity into the Trust systems and process, via the continued 
implementation of our Patient Experience Strategy and the Trust Values. 
 
The Group is currently collating the relevant evidence across all four EDS2 goals with the view to 
completing its internal stakeholder EDS2 grading and identifying areas in need of improvement.  
The EDIG will then look to host its external consumer stakeholder EDS2 grading event in June 
2015 
 
The EDS2 action plan will be aligned to the revised Integrated Central Action Plan (RICAP) and the 
Board Assurance Framework (BAF). 
 
The Trust currently provides Equality & Diversity training as an e learning package. In response to 
the Staff Survey results, which suggested that staff did not feel that they had access to training on 
Equality & Diversity, the Trust will now be providing face to face sessions on a quarterly basis, 
starting in May 2015. 
 
The Trust currently employs: 
 
 Male  Female 
Directors 5 9 
Senior Managers 29 72 
Other Employees 477 2033 
 
 

GOING CONCERN  

After making enquiries the Directors have a reasonable expectation that Tameside Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts. 

The Trust is planning for a deficit of £25.75m in 2015/16.  As at the 31st March 2015, the Trust 
has assets of £31.298m and anticipates this will reduce to £5.545m by the 31st March 2016.  This 
is due to the planned deficit and the requirement to borrow a further £24.23m from the DH in 
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2015/16, in addition to the £14.65m borrowed in 2014/15.  These loans are due to repaid in two 
years, but can be extend for a further three years if required.   

All of the above assumes the Trust will deliver the required cost improvement programme (CIP) 
plan of £6.1m recurrently and in year. 

If the DH do not approve the required loan, the Trust will not be able to cover the costs of its 
liabilities going forward.  If this were the case the Trust would need to enter discussions with its 
commissioners as to the identification of commissioner requested services and how these would be 
supported going forward. 

The Directors have no reason to believe that the DH will not provide the required loans in 
2015/16.  Monitor currently has a contingency planning team working within the locality to identify 
a financially and clinically sustainable configuration for the Trust going forward, and it is accepted 
this will take time to implement. 

The Directors considered the following factors in concluding that the organisation is a going 
concern; 

• The level and basis of expected income for 2015/16 and fully signed off contracts and 
agreed activity levels, 

• Robust and full impact assessment of the  impact of Payment by Results tariffs specifically 
in 2015/16 but going forward, 

• An agreed Board resolution to apply for a loan and working capital facility. An expectation 
that the loan will be agreed by the end of Quarter 1.  To support the planned deficit and 
ensure the  NHS Foundation Trust has sufficient cash supporting the 2015/16 financial 
position and ensure the going concern status, the NHS Foundation Trust will be applying for 
a further Interim Revenue Support Loan for £24.23m, which it will draw down  from the DH 
based on its financial plans submitted to Monitor.  Ongoing negotiations between the NHS 
Foundation Trust, Monitor and DH, ultimately rely on DH's agreement.  Until the agreement 
has been finalised, the NHS Foundation Trust has received confirmation of cash support 
from a Working Capital Facility, which is expected to be utilised in June 2015.  This will be 
repaid on receipt of the Interim Revenue Loan, the NHS Foundation Trust is expecting this 
to be agreed by DH in July 2015. 

• An agreed capital expenditure programme for 2015/16 risk assessed reflecting the 
requirements of the foundation trust in delivering its mandatory goods and service schedule,  

• Contractual agreement with its main commissioner  Tameside & Glossop CCG to the Trust’s 
overall service strategy including full recognition of future commissioner intentions and ; 

• Full identification of  potential downsides and upsides, incorporated into the financial plan 
for 2015/16 including the potential impact of planned demand management initiatives. 

 

Signed statement – approved by the directors and signed and dated by the accounting 
officer. 

 

    

Karen James     Date   28th May 2015 

Chief Executive 
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DIRECTORS REPORT 
 
Board of Directors 
 
So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the NHS 
foundation trust’s auditor is unaware; and 
 
The directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order 
to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the NHS 
foundation trust’s auditor is aware of the information. The directors consider the annual 
report and accounts, taken as a whole are fair, balanced and understandable and provide 
the information necessary for patients, regulators and other stakeholders to assess the FT 
trust’s performance, business model and strategy.  
 
A statement that accounting policies for pensions and other retirement benefits are set out 
in note 1.6 to the accounts and that detail of senior employees’ remuneration can be 
found on page 149 the remuneration report. 
 
The Trust’s external auditors are KPMG. The Trust did not commission KPMG to undertake 
any other work other than the external audit. 

 
Declaration of Interests  
 
The Board regularly reviews the Register of Directors interests. The Register is maintained 
by the Foundation Trust’s Company Secretary. Directors are requested to bring to the 
Boards attention any potential or actual conflict of interest in relation to agenda items, at 
the start of its meeting. All Trust Board members provide details of their business and 
other relevant interests. A register of these interests is held by Tom Neve the Company 
Secretary, and is available for inspection upon request. 
 
Trust Board meetings are held in public. There are a number of other forums and 
opportunities, designed not only to inform both the staff and the general public, but also 
to generate feedback.   
 
The Trust Board includes members with a wide range of interests. This provides the depth 
and variety of opinion and discussion required for effective decision making. The Board is 
of the view that it is well placed to develop and lead a successful organisation into 
2015/16 and beyond. The Executive and Non-Executive Directors have taken measures to 
develop an understanding of the views of Governors and members about the NHS 
Foundation Trust.  
 
These have included attendance at meetings of the Council of Governors and attending 
meetings external to the hospital to engage its members and the community it serves. The 
experience, interests and activities of the members of the Trust Board are summarised 
below 
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Paul Connellan - Chair 

Appointed: November 2011 and reappointed in November 2014 for a further 3 years. 

Paul spent eight years as the Director of Marketing and Customer Services at Manchester 
Airport before embarking on a highly successful consultancy career. Organisations such as 
Liverpool Airport and Railtrack are among his company’s clients. In addition to his 
extensive commercial experience, Paul has been a Non-Executive Director of NHS Trafford 
PCT and its predecessor organisations since 2006.The chairman is married with two grown 
up daughters, one of whom is a lawyer and the other a teacher. 

Board Committees – Remuneration and Terms of Service,  Chair of the Council of 
Governors                                      

Tony Ward - Non Executive Director 

Appointed: May 2006 and due to retire from office on 30 April 2014 
Board Committees: Audit Committee, Finance and Performance Committee, 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee  
Areas of interest: Qualified Accountant, specialist in process reengineering 
Current / Previous work: Managing Director of several operations within a UK public 
limited company. Previously the Finance Director of a division within another UK plc. 

Tricia Kalloo - Non Executive Director and Senior Independent Director  

Appointed: November 2010 and reappointed  in November 2013 for a further 3 years  
Board Committees: Audit Committee, Remuneration and Terms of Service, Chair of 
Quality and Governance Committee  
Areas of interest: Patient experience, safety and outcomes. Staff health and wellbeing. 
Current / Previous work: Currently CEO and owner of Wellness International. 
Previously worked in health care in the USA prior to moving to Antigua where she became 
Director of Finance and Administration for the Eastern Caribbean Civil Aviation Authority. 

Anne Higgins - Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: February 2012 and reappointed in February 2015 for a further 3 years.  
Board Committees: Quality and Governance Committee 
Areas of interest:  Redesigning services to make them better for the people using them 
and more cost effective for the organisation. Making sure that people feel well looked after 
and happy with their hospital experience. 
Current / Previous work: Previously was a Corporate Director at Trafford Council and 
the Statutory Director of Adult Social Services is now providing a consultancy service 
around innovation and transformation in care and support services. 
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Anne Dray - Non-Executive Director 

Appointed:  January 2014 
Board committees: Audit Committee, Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee, 
and chair of Finance and Performance Committee 
Areas of interest: Qualified Accountant, spending NHS resources wisely, System 
Transformation 
Current/Previous work: 32 years working in the NHS - 20 years at Director/Chief 
Officer level. Currently working as Transition Programme Director at NHS Calderdale 
Clinical Commissioning Group.  

Julie Soboljew - Non-Executive Director 

Appointed: February 2014                                                                                                            
Board Committees: Quality & Governance 

Areas of Interest: Governance, challenge and support Executive Board, patient 
experience, change strategy.                         
Current/Previous work:  Previously spent 16 years at Manchester Airport as 
Geographical Systems Manager prior to career change into Financial Services. Currently 
Director specialising in mortgages & protection insurance. Also an associate member of 
the Institute of Professional Will Writers. In addition to extensive commercial & private 
sector experience, Julie has been a governor at a number of organisations and currently 
Chair of Governors at Glossopdale Community College.  

 
Karen James  

Chief Executive.  Substantively appointed October 2014 

Prior to joining Tameside Foundation Trust as the Interim Chief Executive, Karen was 
Chief Operating Officer at the University of South Manchester, Foundation Trust where she 
had been working since 2009.  Karen began her NHS career as a nurse and worked in a 
number of general and service improvement management roles in Greater Manchester 
before becoming Executive Director of Operations and Performance at Pennine Acute 
Hospitals Trust, prior to moving to Aintree Foundation Trust as the Chief Operating 
Officer. 

Brendan Ryan  

Medical Director. Substantively appointed October 2014 

Prior to joining Tameside as interim Medical Director Brendan was Medical Director at 
UHSM for the last 14 years. Brendan is also a Consultant in Emergency Medicine at UHSM 
which he has done since 1992 and although he is now the Medical Director he still works 
in the Emergency Department at UHSM two mornings a week. When Brendan was full-
time as an ED consultant, he had special interests in bereavement, pre-hospital care (and 
has worked many times at road accidents with fire and rescue colleagues) and major 



33	  |	  P a g e 	  
	  

incident planning and response. As Medical Director, Brendan’s areas of interest and 
responsibility are clinical quality and patient safety, education, and medical professional 
issues. Brendan is the Responsible Officer (for Revalidation) for Tameside. 

 
Barbara Herring   

Director of Finance. Appointed September 2012 and retired October 2014 

Barbara is an accountant, with over 20 years experience of working in the NHS across the 
North West and before that in the Department of Health. 

Barbara is keen to drive savings by improving quality of patient care and benefitting from 
the efficiencies that flow from that improvement. 

Jeremy Cook 

Interim Director of Finance – appointed November 2014 to January 2015 

Jeremy is a Scottish Chartered Accountant with 31 years post qualification experience of 
which the last 22 years have been spent in the NHS working both in Scotland and England 
in small, medium and large acute Trusts, large mental health trusts and in primary care.  

Jeremy has been self- employed covering interim and project work for the last 6 years of 
which 3 years have been spent in central London and 3 years within greater Manchester.  

Claire Yarwood FCMA 

Director of Finance – Appointed January 2015 

Claire joined the Trust having worked in the Greater Manchester economy for the past 29 
years in both Provider and Commissioning Organisations, most recently for NHS England 
and prior to this Director of Finance for the ten PCTS across Greater Manchester with an 
annual budget of £5.2bn. Claire joined the Trust to help drive the financial sustainability of 
the hospital services for the benefit of the population of Tameside.  

John Goodenough RGN Dip (HE). MSc (ongoing). 

Executive Director of Nursing.  Appointed June 2012 

John is a registered nurse with 23 years experience.  Prior to his current role John was 
Deputy Chief Nurse and Deputy Director of Nursing at East Lancashire. 

 
Paul Williams  MSc  FCMI 
 
Chief Operating Officer.  Appointed November 2011 and resigned July 2014 
 
Paul Joined the NHS in 2004 following a career in the Defence and Space Industries where 
he gained an MSc. Paul held a number of senior posts in the acute healthcare sector prior 
to joining Tameside in November 2011.  
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Paul took  up a new position of Director of Operations and Performance at St Helens and 
Knowsley in August 2014. 
He is a Fellow of the Chartered Management Institute 
 
Trish Cavanagh 
 
Chief Operating Officer - Appointed July 2014 
 
Tricia qualified as Registered Nurse in 1986 and has undertaken a range of clinical posts 
gaining an MSc. in Clinical Practice. She then worked for several years in service 
transformation roles aimed at improving the delivery of care to patients through redesign 
of systems and processes. Tricia joined Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust from 
University of South Manchester, Foundation Trust where she was Associate Director of 
Operations. 
 
Trust Board attendance 2014/15  
The table below indicates attendance at the monthly Trust Board Meetings  
 

Present: Position 24th 
April 
2014  

29th 
May 
2014 

26th 
June 
2014 

31st 
July 
2014 

28th 
August 
2014 

25th 
September 
2014 

30th 
October 
2014 

27th 
November  
2014 

29th 
January 
2015 

26th 
February 
2015 

26th 
March 
2015 

Mr P Connellan Chair ! ! ! ! !      !   ! ! ! ! ! 

Ms K James  
 

Chief Executive  ! ! ! ! X  
! 

 
! 

! ! ! ! 

Ms A Higgins Non-Executive 
Director 

! ! X X !  
! 

 
! 

! ! ! ! 

Mrs A Dray Non-Executive 
Director 

! ! ! X ! ! ! ! ! ! ! 

Mrs J Soboljew Non-Executive 
Director 

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! X ! ! 

Mr D Ward Non-Executive 
Director 

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! 

Mrs T Kalloo Non-Executive 
Director 

! ! ! ! ! ! X ! ! X X 

Mr J 
Goodenough 

Director of 
Nursing 

! ! ! ! X ! ! ! ! ! ! 

Ms B Herring Director of 
Finance 

! ! ! ! ! ! !     

Mr J Cook  
 

Interim 
Director of 
Finance 

       !    

Mrs C Yarwood  Director of 
Finance 

        ! ! X 

Mr P Williams 
 

Director of 
Operations 

! ! ! !        

Mrs C Cavanagh  Director of 
Operations 

    ! ! ! ! ! ! ! 

Mr B Ryan Medical 
Director 

! ! ! X ! ! ! ! ! ! ! 

Ms A Bromley Director of 
Human 
Resources 

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! 

Mrs G Parker  Director of 
Estate and 
Facilities 

! ! ! X ! ! X ! ! ! X 
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A register of interests for both directors and governors is held by the Company Secretary, 
and is available for inspection. 
 
 
Trust Board Committees 
 
The Trust Board established the following committees: Audit, Remuneration and Terms of 
Service Committee and the Quality and Clinical Governance Committee. The Finance and 
Performance Committee was established in January 2014. 
 
There are no performance-related elements to Director’s remuneration. 
 
Each of the Board Committees is chaired by a Non-Executive Director of the Trust Board. 
 
The Board of Directors and the Council of Governors of the Trust are committed to the 
principles of good corporate governance as detailed in the “NHS Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance”. The Board has reviewed and considered Monitor’s “NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance” and considers it complies with all recommended practice, except the 
provision which states that Executive Directors should be appointed by a committee of the 
Chief Executive, the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors and subject to re-appointment 
at intervals of no more than five years. All executive directors are on permanent 
pensionable contracts and subject to annual Performance review. 
 
CQC regulations setting out Fundamental Standards of Care includes the Fit and Proper 
Persons Requirement. This requirement applies to all executive and non-executive 
directors of NHS foundation Trusts. It is the responsibility of the chair, to ensure that all 
directors meet the fitness test and do not meet any of the ‘unfit’ criteria. 
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee met on two occasions during 2014/15 in 
relation to the appointment of the Chief Executive.  
 
The Chair and all of the Non-Executive Directors sit on this committee and were present at 
the following Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee meetings: 
 
29th May 2014 
10th July 2014 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE – REPORT OF THE CHAIR 
 
The Audit Committee membership comprises three Non-Executive Directors one of whom must 
have recent and relevant financial experience. The chair of the Committee for 2014/15 was Mr 
Tony Ward, who was appointed as a Non-Executive Director and chair of Audit Committee in May 
2006.  He is a qualified accountant who previously worked for several UK plc companies at 
Director level. The other two members are Mrs Anne Dray, also a qualified accountant who 
currently works as a Transition Programme Director for a Clinical Commissioning Group and Ms 
Trish Kalloo a Chief Executive and owner of an international wellbeing and occupational health 
company. Mr Ward’s term of office as Non-Executive Director finished as at the end of April 2015 
and Mrs Anne Dray will take over as chair of the Audit Committee, with Mr Martyn Taylor joining 
the Audit Committee.  Attendance, in a non-voting capacity, is expected from the Director of 
Finance and Trust Secretary. Other senior managers will attend as required. Attendance is also 
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expected from Internal Audit, External Audit and the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.  Meetings of 
the Audit Committee members only i.e. excluding Executive Directors can be held in private and 
are held with Auditors only when required. The Chief Executive will be invited to attend, at least 
annually to discuss the process of assurance that supports the Annual Governance Statement and 
when the annual accounts are considered. The Council of Governors has the duty to appoint or 
remove the Trust's external auditor, and this duty will be carried out at a general meeting of the 
Council of Governors, after they have received a report from the Audit Committee on the matter. 
 
This report details the role of the Audit Committee, the workplan for 2014/15 and performance of 
the Committee. 
 
The role of the Audit Committee is as follows: 
 

• To review the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of integrated 
governance, risk management and internal control across the whole of the organisation’s 
activities (both clinical and non clinical) and support the achievement of the organisation’s 
objectives.  
 

• To ensure there is an effective internal audit function established by management, that 
meets Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 2013 and provides appropriate independent 
assurance to the Audit Committee. 

 
• To review and monitor the external auditors independence and objectivity and the 

effectiveness of the audit process. The Committee shall review the, work and findings of 
the External Auditor and consider implications and managements response to their work. 
 

• To review the findings of other significant assurance functions, both internal and external 
to the organisation, and consider the implications to the governance of the organisation. 

 
• To monitor the integrity of the financial statements and any formal announcements relating 

to the Trust’s financial performance. 
 

• To request and review reports and positive assurances from directors and managers on the 
overall arrangements for governance, risk management and internal control. 
 

• To satisfy itself that the organisation has adequate arrangements in place for counter fraud 
and security that meets NHS Protect standards and shall review the outcomes of work in 
these areas. 
 

• To review the effectiveness of the arrangements in place for allowing staff to raise (in 
confidence) concerns about possible improprieties in financial, clinical or safety matters and 
ensure that any such concerns are investigated proportionately and independently. 

 
 
The workplan for 2014/15 is shown in table one. 
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Table One - Audit Committee Workplan 2014/15                              
  Links to corporate objectives Purpose of Activity 17th April 

2014 
22nd May 

2014 
21stAugus

t 2014 
20thNovem
ber 2014 

23rd Jan 
2015 

16th April 
 2015 

ITEM # INTERNAL AUDIT       

1.  Approve Audit Plan and fees for 2015/16 Governance  
X     X 

2.  Head of Internal Audit Opinion and Annual Report 2014/15 Assurance X 
     X 

3.  Assurance Framework Opinion Assurance X 
 X    X 

4.  Audit Plan Progress Report(inc recommendations update) Assurance + Risk Assessment X 
 

 
 X X x X 

5.  Review of Effectiveness of Internal Audit 

 

Assurance X – Report 
findings  X – Report 

findings    

 COUNTER FRAUD       
6.  Approve Counter Fraud Annual Plan     X   X 

7.  Counter Fraud Progress Report Assurance + Risk Assessment See annual 
report X X X x X 

8.  Counter Fraud Annual Report  

 

Assurance X X    X 
 EXTERNAL AUDIT       

9.  Agree plan and fee 2015/16 Governance    X   
10.  External Audit Progress Reports Assurance + Risk Assessment X X X X X X 
11.  Audit Opinion on Final Accounts(inc Quality Account) Assurance  X     
12.  Letters of Representation   X     
13.  Annual Audit Letter/ISA 260 Assurance  X     
14.  Review of Effectiveness of External Audit 

06. Performance and Regulation - 
deliver Green rating for Governance 

Assurance   X  X  
 OT     OTHER       

15.  Audit Committee Terms of Reference (review annually) Governance   X    
Assurance + Risk Assessment X X     

16.  Review of Significant Risk and BAF 

06. Performance and Regulation - 
deliver Green rating for Governance 
01. Patient Safety 
02. Quality and Patient Experience Governance  X     

17.  Review of SFIs and standing orders  x      
18.  Agreement of Final Accounts timetable 2014/15 Governance       

19.  Review of Annual Accounts prior to Board of Directors consideration Governance to provide BoD with 
Assurance  X     

20.  Losses and Compensation Report Governance to provide BoD with 
Assurance X x x x x x 

21.  Charitable Funds committee minutes Governance to provide BoD with 
Assurance X x x x x x 

22.  Review of Investment of Cash  Operating Policy 

03. Maintain Sound Financial 
Management deliver Trust financial 
plan 

Governance   X X   

23.  Management Letters of Representation Governance to provide BoD with 
Assurance X draft X X    

24.  Review Annual Audit Committee Report Governance    X   
25.  Self Assessment of Audit Committee’s Effectiveness Assurance X c/f     
26.  Private Discussions with Internal and External Auditors Assurance X      

27.  Meeting of Chairs of Audit Committee/Clinical Governance Committee 

06. Performance and Regulation - 
deliver Green rating for Governance 

Governance and Risk Assurance 
Triangulation  X X X X X 

28.  Declaration of Members Interests   X X X X X X 
29.  Review of External Reports    X X X X X X 
30.  Review Hospitality Register Governance    X   
31.  Review of Audit  Action Log Governance X X X X x X 

32.  Review Audit Committee Workplan 

06. Performance and Regulation - 
deliver Green rating for Governance 

Governance X X X X(inc annual 
review) x x 
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The Audit Committee approved the strategic three year Internal Audit plan for 2013/14 to 
2015/16 and the 2014/15 operational plan in April 2014. During the year the Audit 
Committee considered internal audit reports on financial systems, IM & T, performance, 
clinical quality, workforce and governance, risk and legality. Internal Auditors presented their 
progress reports against the approved Audit Plan at each of its meetings and the levels of 
assurance and audit recommendations were discussed.   
 
The Audit Committee also approved the External Audit plan for 2014/15 in January 2015 
which was formulated following an assessment of risks faced by the Trust.  KPMG were 
appointed as the Trust’s External Auditors in November 2011 for a period of three years and 
their contract was extended by a further two years to 2015/16.    
 
The significant risks identified to be key audit opinion risks were: 
 

• Valuation of land and buildings – in 2013/14 the Trust reported land and building 
assets of £98.7m.  Given the materiality in value and the judgement involved in 
determining the carrying amounts of land and buildings this was identified as a key 
audit opinion risk, 

 
• Recognition of NHS income – In 2013/14 the Trust reported total NHS income of 

circa £166.4m.  The Trust’s ability to meet its financial performance indicators is 
dependent upon the successful negotiations of additional income for over 
performance from Clinical Commissioning Groups.  The risk in 2014/15 is considered 
to be high due to the fact that Clinical Commissioning Groups are under pressure to 
reduce costs and to challenge invoices from Trusts for care delivered in excess of 
agreed contractual levels. 
 

In reviewing the significant risks the Trust’s Finance and Performance Committee received a 
detailed paper on the actions undertaken by the Finance Department and were provided 
with details of how the figures included in the accounts were delivered. The Committee was 
able to provide assurance to the Audit Committee with regard to their review of these risks.  
It should be noted that the Chair of the Finance and Performance Committee and one of 
the members are also members of the Audit Committee. 
 
External Audit are required under ISA 260 to communicate to the Audit Committee any 
matters specifically required by other auditing standards and any other matters of 
governance interest. The presentation of the ISA 260 report at the Audit Committee 
meeting on 28th May 2015 provided assurance that there were no significant issues to 
report with regard to the two areas of significant risk identified above.    

 
In addition to the significant risks identified other areas of audit focus included: 
 

• Professional standards review of the fraud risk relating to potential management 
override of controls, 
 

• Professional standards review of the fraud risk from revenue recognition, 
 



Draft	  	  

39	  |	  P a g e 	  
	  

• Liabilities arising from the private finance initiative accounting for life cycle 
expenditure. 
 

• Risks relating to the going concern concept. 
 
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 were considered at the meeting 
of the Committee in May 2015 and following discussion with external auditors, were 
recommended to the Trust Board for approval and adoption. 
 
Where the Trust is planning to appoint outside management consultants to undertake work, 
consideration is given to whether the external auditors can be included in the list of firms to 
be considered, or whether they should be excluded as the work would potentially 
compromise their independence as auditors. Consideration is given to factors such as the 
likely fees for the work, the areas in which the work is to be undertaken, and whether the 
auditors are likely to review the area as part of their work. The auditors have their own 
policy for concluding whether possible non-audit work could compromise their 
independence, or be perceived to compromise it. In line with the ICAEW's ethical standards, 
if they cannot put in place appropriate safeguards, they will not put forward a proposal. 
 
The cost of provision of the External Audit service for 2014/15 was £64,200.  In addition 
additional audit work was performed in year reviewing the accounting treatment of a 
proposed managed equipment service contract which amounted to £3,500. 
 
The Audit Committee assessed the effectiveness of both internal and external audit during 
the year by issuing a questionnaire to Committee members, Executive Directors and Senior 
Managers asking for comments on a range of issues including the Auditor's independence, 
objectivity, expertise and the quality of audit staff. The comments received were favourable 
and gave the Audit Committee positive assurance on the overall effectiveness of both the 
internal and external auditors 
 
The Trust have secured arrangements in accordance with its contractual requirements to 
have in place a Local Counter Fraud Specialist(LCFS).The LCFS is the responsible individual 
for the day to day work at the Trust to combat any fraud , bribery and corruption matters. 
The LCFS reports directly to the Director of Finance and to the Trust's Audit Committee who 
take an oversight and challenge on work undertaken to protect the NHS funds from fraud. 
The Trust also have in place an anti-fraud, bribery and corruption policy which is available to 
all staff to access via the intranet. 
 
The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of its performance in-year and concluded that 
it has complied with its Terms of Reference for 2014/15.  A report detailing each of the key 
tasks the committee has been assigned to undertake on behalf of the Board and which 
summarises the positive assurances which support the sign off of the Annual Governance 
Statement has been produced.  A workshop was held at the January meeting which was 
facilitated by Internal Audit and was to assess the effectiveness of the Audit Committee.  At 
this meeting a plan was also developed for 2015/16 drawing on the experience and 
effectiveness of the Committee during 2014/15. 
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The table below indicates attendance at the Audit Committee 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE RECORD 
2014/15 

 
 17.04.14 27.05.14 21.08.14 20.11.14 17.01.15 
Mr T Ward (Chair) 
Non-Executive Director ! ! ! ! ! 
Mrs A Dray Non Executive 
Director  ! !  ! ! 

Ms T Kalloo 
Non Executive Director  

  !  ! 

TOTAL 2 2 2 2 3 
      
In attendance      
B Herring 
Director of Finance to 
October 2014 

! ! ! N/A N/A 

J Cook  
Interim Director of Finance  
from November 2014 

N/A N/A N/A ! ! 

Ms C Yarwood 
Director of Finance from  
January 2015 

N/A N/A N/A N/A ! 

Mr T Neve  
Corporate Secretary 

 !  ! ! 

 TOTAL 1 2 1 2 3 
Mr T Rees-KPMG ! !    

Mr A Smith -KPMG  ! ! ! ! 
Mr S Connor - MIAA !  ! ! ! 
Mr S Quinn - KPMG  !    
Ms H Walters - MIAA !     

Ms T Jabeen - MIAA   ! ! ! 
Mr T Cobain - MIAA   !   
J Winstanley - MIAA    ! ! 
Mr R Causer - LCFS  ! !   

Mr B Dawson - LCFS    ! ! 
TOTAL 3 4 5 5 5 
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The table below indicates attendance at the Finance and Performance Committee  
 

 
 
 
 

  23rd 
April 
2014 

27th 
May 
2014 

24TH 
June 
2014 

25th 
July 
2014 

26th 
August 
2014 

23rd 
September 

2014 

28th 
October 

2014 

25th 
November 

2014 

6th 
January 

2015  

27th 
January 

2015 

24th 
February 

2015 

24th 
March 
2015 

Mrs A 
Dray 

Non-
Executiv
e 
Director 
(Chair) 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Mr T 
Ward 

Non-
Executiv
e 
Director  

√ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Mrs B 
Herring 

Director 
of 
Finance 

√ X √ √ √ √ √      

Mr J 
Cook 

Interim 
Director 
of 
Finance 

       √ √ √ √ √ 

Mrs C 
Yarwood 

Director 
of 
Finance 

          √ X 

Miss S 
Holroyd 

Deputy 
Director 
of 
Finance 

√ √ X √ √ √ √ X X X X X 

Mrs G 
Parker 

Director 
of 
Estate 
and 
Facilities 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ X 

Mr P 
Williams 

Chief 
Operati
ng 
Officer 

√ √ X          

Mrs P 
Cavanag
h 

Director 
of 
Operatio
ns 

    √ √ √ √ X X √ √ 

Mr C 
Porter 

Turnaro
und 
Director 

√ √ √ √         

Mr P 
O’Neill 

Turnaro
und 
Director 

    √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Mr P 
Nuttall 

Director 
of 
Perform
ance 
and IM& 
T 

          √ √ 
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The table below indicates attendance at the Quality and Clinical Governance 
Committee 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Member	   Apr-‐
14	  

May-‐
14	  

Jun-‐
14	  

Jul-‐
14	  

Sep-‐
14	  

Oct-‐
14	  

Nov-‐
14	  

Dec-‐
14	  

Jan-‐
15	  

Feb-‐
15	  

Mar-‐
15	  

Mrs	  T	  Kalloo,	  Non-‐	  Executive	  Director,	  Chair	   Y	   A	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	   A	  

Ms	  A	  Higgins,	  Non-‐Executive	  Director	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	  

Ms	  J	  Soboljew,	  Non-‐Executive	  Director	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	  

Mr	  T	  Ward,	  Non-‐Executive	  Director	   Y	   Y	   	  	   	  	   Y	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

Ms	  K	  James,	  Chief	  Executive	  -‐from	  Sept	  14	  (or	  
nominated	  deputy)	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Y	   (Y)	   (Y)	   (Y)	   Y	   Y	   Y	  

Mr	  B	  Ryan,	  Medical	  Director	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	  

Mr	  J	  Goodenough,	  Director	  of	  Nursing	  (or	  nominated	  
deputy)	  

Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   (Y)	   Y	   (Y)	   Y	  

Mr	  P	  Williams,	  Chief	  operating	  officer	  (left	  Trust	  
August	  2014)	  	  

Y	   A	   Y	   Y	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

Mrs	  T	  Cavanagh,	  Director	  of	  Operations	  -‐	  from	  
October	  2014	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   A	   A	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	  

Ms	  B	  Herring,	  Director	  of	  Finance	  -‐	  left	  Trust	  
November	  14	  

Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

Mrs	  C	  Yarwood	  Director	  of	  Finance	  	  -‐	  from	  January	  
2015)	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   A	   A	  

Ms	  A	  Bromley,	  Director	  of	  Human	  Resources	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	  

Mr	  P	  Weller,	  Director	  of	  Quality	  and	  Governance	  (or	  
nominated	  deputy)	  

Y	   Y	   Y	   (Y)	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	  

Mr	  T	  Neve,	  Company	  Secretary	   A	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   A	   A	   Y	   A	  

Ms	  L	  Stewart,	  	  Deputy	  Director	  of	  Nursing	  (or	  
nominated	  deputy)	  

Y	   Y	   Y	   (Y)	   Y	   Y	   (Y)	   Y	   Y	   (Y)	   (Y)	  

Mr	  A	  L	  Sivner,	  Chief	  Pharmacist	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	  

Dr	  A	  Massarano,	  Paediatric	  Consultant	  -‐	  resigned	  Feb	  
2015	  

A	   Y	   A	   Y	   A	   A	   P	   Y	   A	   	  	   	  	  

In	  attendance	   	  	  

Mr	  J	  Fletcher,	  Head	  of	  Assurance	  and	  Governance	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	  

Mrs	  A	  Dooley,	  Head	  of	  Patient	  Safety	  and	  Risk	  
Management	  

Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   Y	   A	   Y	   Y	  

Mrs	  H	  Howard,	  Head	  of	  Patient	  Experience	  	   	  	   	  	   Y	   Y	   Y	   	  	   Y	   	  	   	  	   Y	   Y	  

Mr	  E	  Morton,	  Monitor	  Improvement	  Director	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Y	   Y	   A	   A	   Y	   Y	   A	  

Y	  =	  Attended	  	  (Y)	  =	  Represented	  by	  Nominated	  deputy	  A	  =	  Apologies	  X	  =	  DNA	  No	  Apologies	  P=	  Part	  of	  Meeting	  
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NHS Foundation Code of Governance 
 
 
Tameside Hospital Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS Foundation Trust code of 
Governance most recently revised in July 2014, is based on the principles of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012.  
 
 
After an external review of Trust Board and Quality governance by Deloitte at the end of 
2013, the corporate and quality governance arrangements at the trust were enhanced and 
have been subject to further revisions during 2014/15. 
 
Patient Safety Strategy 
 
The Trust Board is committed to delivering and improving patient safety. As a result of the 
external reviews a Patient Safety Strategy and Patient Safety Programme was developed and 
reviewed and enhanced during 2014/15. The Patient Safety programme focuses on key 
elements to deliver in a coordinated manner across the organisation with structures 
embedded to provide the necessary assurance and monitoring. The following indicates the 
key areas of focus: 
 

• Nutrition and hydration 
• Tissue viability and continence 
• Falls prevention 
• Reduction of harm from Venous Thrombosis 
• Medicines Safety 
• Infection prevention 
• Management of acutely unwell patients 
• Improved Peri operative outcomes through safer surgery 

 
The Quality Account on pages 51 to 138 provides detailed information on the Patient Safety 
Programme, Patient Experience, and Patient Outcomes. 
 
 
Stakeholder Relationships  
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust operates within a local and regional health 
economy. Highlighted below are the key stakeholders which the trust works with. 
  
The Trust’s main commissioner is NHS Tameside and Glossop which accounts for 
approximately 84.9% of all income received from commissioners. Most of the remainder of 
the clinical income is spread across 5 other NHS Commissioners within the Greater 
Manchester area. 
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The hospital continues to work very closely with the “Southern Sector” partnership 
comprising South Manchester University Hospitals Foundation Trust and Stockport 
Foundation Trust in order to explore and develop clinical and non-clinical synergies.  
 
The hospital also works very closely with Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, with whom 
we share the Tameside General Hospital site. 
  
Other key stakeholders are Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (TMBC), the North West 
Ambulance Service, (NWAS) the Tameside Third Sector Coalition (voluntary sector),  and our 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Partners, Consort Healthcare. 
  
In addition to commissioning agreements with CCGs, we collaborate with a number of other 
NHS bodies including the following: 
  
Central Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust – Central Manchester 
operates our 18 station Renal Dialysis Unit which is located on the Tameside Hospital site. 
  
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust – Outpatient Ophthalmology services and Outpatient and 
Daycase Oral surgery services on the Tameside site are provided by Pennine Acute. 
  
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust – Outpatient Urology Services are provided on our site by 
medical staff from Stockport NHS Foundation Trust. We also commission a range of services 
including dietetics and speech and language therapy from Stockport which support inpatient 
and outpatient services delivered by THFT. 
  
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust – visiting Consultants and supporting Clinical Nurse 
Specialists provide an on-site oncology service. 
 
Salford Royal - Neurosurgery Outpatients 
 
 
 
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The purpose of the NHS Foundation Trust code of Governance is to assist NHS foundation 
trust boards in improving their governance practices by bringing together the best practice 
of public and private sector corporate governance. The following section briefly describes an 
overview of the governance arrangements in place at the trust. Information relating to the 
system of internal control adopted by the trust may be found in the Annual Governance 
Statement on page 157 to page 175. 
 
The governance arrangements of the Trust include a Governing Council (the Council of 
Governors) and the Trust Board of Directors. One of the key roles of the Council of 
Governors is to form a critical link between the Foundation Trust membership and the Trust 
Board, enabling a two way exchange. The Council of Governors has a key focus on external 
relationships and on growing and developing the membership base, listening to their views 
and reflecting them to the Board. However, it remains closely involved in internal discussions 
about developing strategy and continually improving the quality of care and the range of 
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services provided. The Health and Social Care Act (2012) has strengthened the role and 
responsibilities of the Council of Governors and the over-riding role is to hold the non-
executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board 
of directors and to represent the interests of NHS foundation trust members and of the 
public.  
 
The Chairman, Chief Executive, and the Company Secretary form the key link between the 
work of the Council of Governors and that of the Trust Board. Should any disagreements 
between the council of governors and the board of directors arise that cannot be resolved 
through normal channels, the Senior Independent Director will attempt to resolve these 
concerns. Ms Tricia Kalloo is the Senior Independent Director. 
 
The Trust Board is the principal forum for strategic decision making for the Trust. The Board 
brings together the expertise and independence of the Non-Executive members with the 
knowledge and experience of the Executive Team to support the on-going management of 
the organisation, as well as strategic direction setting. The Board continually reviews the 
commercial and financial robustness of the organisation, from the position in-year, through 
to the very long timescales required to support major capital investments. The Board also 
provides the focus for all of the Trust’s assurance processes, and all self-assessments and 
external declarations. 
 
The Trust Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day running of the Trust’s business 
to the Chief Executive and the Executive Directors. The Non-Executives hold the Executives 
to account through the work of the Trust Board and its Committees. 
 
All Executive Directors are subject to annual performance evaluation by the Chief Executive 
who in turn is evaluated by the Chairman. Non-Executive Directors are evaluated by the 
Chairman, who in turn is evaluated by the Senior Independent Director. 
 
All Board committees annually assess their performance against their Terms of Reference 
and report their evaluation to the Trust Board. 
 
All of the Non-Executive Directors on the Trust Board are considered to be independent. This 
assessment is based on the information contained within the Register of Directors’ Interests. 
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance recommends that the Trust Board should 
appoint one of the Non-Executive Directors as the senior independent director, in 
consultation with the Council of Governors. The senior independent Director should be 
available to members and Members of Council if they have concerns which cannot be 
resolved through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive or Finance Director. 
 
Governing Council 
 
Following the establishment of the Foundation Trust in February 2008, the Council of 
Governors which had existed in shadow form for some time, assumed its full range of 
responsibilities and continues to discharge their responsibilities as defined in the Trust 
Constitution. The Council of Governors meets on a bi monthly basis with a formal agenda 
covering both standing and ad hoc items. Membership of the Trust Board are expected to 
attend these meetings in order to understand the views of Governors and members. 
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Attendance at these meetings is given in the table which follows. The following committees 
have been established as sub committees of the Council of Governors: 
 
- Nominations Committee 
- Membership and Engagement Committee 
- Equality and Diversity Group 
 
 
In addition, the following groups report their progress and proceedings formally to the 
Council of Governors, Patient Experience Group, the Disability Equality Working Group, the 
Annual open Day Task and Finish Group and the Annual Planning Advisory Group. 
 
The Nomination Committee is responsible for advising and/or making recommendations to 
the Council of Governors in all matters relating to the recruitment process for the selection 
of candidates for the office of Chairman or other Non-Executive Directors. 
 
During the past year, the Nomination Committee agreed and oversaw the re-appointment of 
2 Non-Executive Directors and the Chair and an appointment of a non-Executive Director. A 
national open advertising process was used to make the appointment.  
 
Nomination Committee 

The following Governors sit on the Nomination Committee and were present at all 
Nomination Committee meetings n 2014/15  

Terry Askew – Chair 

Gillian Drummond 

John Vare  

Date  Nomination Committee  
October 2014  Reappointment of Chair 
February 2015 Reappointment of Anne Higgins Non-Executive Director 
March 2015 Appointment of Martyn Taylor Non-Executive Director  
 

An Annual plan Advisory Committee was established to work with Governors, both elected 
and appointed, to establish their view on the trust’s forward plan, including its objective’s, 
priorities and strategy, and these views have been communicated to the board of directors.  
 
During the 2014/15 year Governors attended several local authority hosted District Assembly 
meetings in their townships and also hosted an open day event during September 2014 at 
which more than 1,500 members of the public attended. Governors were also invited to 
speak at various special interest community groups. 
 
These events and meetings are one way in which publically elected governors determine the 
views of their members. Staff governors regularly meet with their membership at staff forum 
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and these views are communicated to the board and the bi-monthly Council of Governors 
meetings.   
 
 
 
Membership 
 
The Trust membership comprises a Public Constituency, a Staff Constituency and six 
members appointed from partnership organisations. 
 
Public Constituency 
 
The table below summarises the boundaries for public membership, the approximate 
population of the membership, and the number of Members of Council for each area. The 
areas are based on electoral wards. The trust considers the membership to be 
representative of the community it serves as much of the recruitment of new members take 
place when patients attend the hospital for the first time. There are currently 21,000 public 
members registered. 
   
Area Population Number of Governors  
Ashton under Lyne 45,000   2 
Audenshaw 11,000   1 
Denton  34,000   2 
Droylsden 23,000   1 
Dukinfield 23,000   1 
Hyde 34,000   2 
Longdendale  10,000   1 
Mossley 10,000   1 
Stalybridge 22,000   1 
Glossop 28,000   2 
England and Wales 53,000,000   1 
 

An individual aged 16 years or over who lives in one of the above areas can become a 
member of the Trust following completion of an appropriate application form. 
 
Public Members of council are elected for a period of three years, and are eligible for re-
election at the end of that period. 
 
 
Staff Constituency 
 
The table below summarises the six classes into which the staff membership is divided.  
 
Division  Number of Staff Governors  
Emergency Services and Critical Care 1 
Diagnostic and Therapeutic Services  1 



Draft	  	  

48	  |	  P a g e 	  
	  

Women’s and Children’s Services 1 
Elective Services 1 
Facilities 1 
Corporate Services 1 
 
 
The Trust operates an opt out membership policy. To date, only four members of staff have 
opted out of membership of the staff constituency. 
Individuals aged sixteen years or over who are employed by the Trust, or are not employed 
but exercise functions for the Trust, are eligible for membership of the staff constituency 
without application, provided they endorse the values and principles of the Trust. The period 
of employment must be at least 12 months. An individual who is eligible to be a member of 
the Staff Constituency cannot also be a member of the Public Constituency and cannot 
therefore become or continue as a member of more than one class.  
 
Changes to Council of Governors 2014/15 
 
During the year the following changes occurred in the composition of the Council of 
Governors:- 
 
Retiring Governors 
 
Mr J Stafford 
Mrs J Bergin 
Ms M Berechula 
 
Joining Governors 
 
Mr J Philips reappointed June 2014 
 
Governor Attendance 2014/15  
 
The table below indicates attendance at the Council of Governor Board meetings  

Public	  Governor	   Township	  

5th	  August	  
2014	  

7th	  October	  
2014	  

9th	  
December	  

2014	  

3rd	  
February	  
2015	  

Mrs	  J	  Bowes-‐Porter	   Ashton	  under	  Lyne	   ! ! ! ! 

Mr	  J	  Stafford	   Ashton	  under	  Lyne	   x ! x ! 

Mrs	  W	  Brelsford	   Audenshaw	   ! ! ! ! 

Mr	  T	  Askew	   Denton	   ! ! ! ! 

Mrs	  G	  Drummond	   Denton	   ! ! ! ! 

Mr	  J	  Vare	   Droylsden	   !	   !	   ! ! 

Mrs	  P	  Devine	   Dukinfield	   !	   !	   x ! 
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Eligibility and Exclusion 
 
Both public and staff members can be excluded from membership. The Trust Constitution 
contains full details of the conditions for disqualification from membership – the list which 
follows summarises the situations in which this can occur. 
 
Members can be disqualified if they have: 
 
•    been classified as a vexatious complainant, 
•    verbally or physically assaulted a Trust employee, volunteer, patient or visitor, 
•    been dismissed from the employment of the Trust (certain exclusions apply), 
•    sanctioned under the Trust’s Zero Tolerance Policy, 
•    registered as a sex offender, 
•    failed to agree to abide by the Trust’s values and principles, 
•   made a false application or statement in relation to their membership or election to the 
Council of Governors, or 
•    acted in a manner that is contrary to the Trust’s principles and objectives. 

Dr	  D	  Derbyshire	   England	  and	  Wales	   ! x x ! 

Ms	  A	  Townley	   Glossop	  	   ! ! ! x 
Mr	  C	  Webster	   Glossop	   ! !	   ! x	  
Mrs	  K	  Parkes	  	   Hyde	   ! x ! ! 

Mr	  J	  Philips	   Hyde	   ! ! x !	  
Mrs	  J	  Cooper	  	   Longdendale	   ! ! ! x	  
Vacant	   Mossley	    	     
Dr	  M	  Matin	   Stalybridge	   ! ! ! ! 

Staff	  Governor	   Division	      
Miss	  A	  Patel	   Corporate	  Services	   ! x x x 

Mr	  A	  Al-‐Chalabi	  	  
Diagnostic	  and	  
Therapeutic	  Services	  

! ! ! ! 

Mrs	  J	  Bergin	  
Elective	  Services	  
Division	  

! x x ! 

Ms	  M	  Berechula	  
Emergency	  
Services/critical	  care	  

x ! ! ! 

	  	  	  Mr	  M	  McCluskey	   Facilities	  	   ! ! ! x 
Ms	  S	  Lewcock	   Women’s	  and	  Children’s	   x ! ! ! 

Partnership	  Governor	  	   Organisation	      
Mr	  M	  Holden	   Infrared	   x ! ! x 
Cllr	  P	  Jenner/Cllr	  G	  
Oakley	  

High	  Peak	  Borough	  
Council	  	  

! ! x ! 

Dr	  A	  Dow	  
Tameside	  and	  Glossop	  
Primary	  Care	  Trust	  

! ! ! x 

Dr	  K	  Chand	  	   Healthwatch	   ! ! ! ! 

Cllr	  B	  Warrington	   TMBC	   ! !	   x !	  
Mr	  J	  Davies	   Young	  Person	  	   ! ! ! ! 
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If an individual ceases to be employed by the Trust, or perform functions on behalf of the 
Trust, they are no longer eligible for membership of the staff constituency. 
 
Membership Numbers 
 
The following table shows the number of public members in each area as at March 2015.  
 
The Public Constituency membership currently stands at 27,208 
 
Public Township  Number of Members 
Ashton-Under-Lyne  5854 
Audenshaw 1119 
Denton 2774 
Droylsden  1839 
Dukinfield 2316 
England and Wales  2073 
Glossop  2423 
Hyde 4473 
Longdendale 324 
Mossley 934 
Stalybridge  3079 
 
 
Membership Strategy 
 
The Trust maintains a data base of membership. This enables analysis of the composition of 
the membership which provides a matrix for membership drives. A Membership Committee, 
comprising Members of Council and supported by the Company Secretary who takes the lead 
on  Membership, looks at specific ways of increasing membership in line with the Trust’s 
Membership Strategy.  
 
During 2014/15 the decision was taken to develop ways of engaging with the current 
membership rather than increasing it beyond the existing 27,000. To this end the Council of 
governor’s Membership and Marketing group was refocused and reconstituted as the 
Membership Engagement Committee. 
 
Contact procedures 
 
To facilitate contact between members and Governors of Council, the hospital website 
contains the names, and contact details (email and telephone) for all of the Governors of 
Council. Mr Terry Askew is the nominated Lead Governor. 
 
A register of interests for the Council of Governors is held by the Company Secretary and is 
available for inspection on request. 
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1. Part One 
 

 
 
 
 

Statement on the Quality of Services 
from the Chief Executive and 
Statement of Director Responsibilities 
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Chief Executive’s Overview  

Since the production of the Quality Account for 2013/14 many changes have been 
made at Tameside. The organisation commenced on an improvement journey 
following the publication of the Keogh review in July 2013 and we have progressed 
that improvement programme rigorously throughout 2014/15.  
I was appointed substantively to the Chief Executive position in July 2014 having 
previously been seconded as Interim Chief Executive to drive through improvements 
in the way care is provided at Tameside. We have since appointed a new leadership 
team across the organisation who are committed to driving forward the changes 
here in Tameside to ensure we deliver excellence in care. 
Our partnership working with Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (TMBC) and 
Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has enabled a joint 
approach to the improvement journey. From this foundation we can further build our 
partnerships to face the challenges and grasp the opportunities afforded by 
integrated working. 
Our journey was from a baseline that was unacceptable. I believe; as is shown in 
this Quality Account; that we have made unquestionable progress to improve our 
services.   
This improvement was acknowledged by the CQC in their Inspection review in May 
2014; however at that time we had not had the opportunity to embed the necessary 
changes that were needed which was acknowledged by our Inspection team and 
this was reflected in our CQC ratings. 
Our strategy for Improvement has been informed by patient experience and patient 
feedback. We have listened and acted upon the concerns our patients have raised. 
Our improvement programme has been led by the Board of Directors with clinical 
leadership and staff engagement underpinning all we do. It has been delivered 
through an Executive led improvement programme which has had challenge and 
scrutiny from NHS England, CCG, Local Authority and Healthwatch and Monitor 
membership. We have provided assurances and evidence of our changes to this 
External Quality Oversight Group and we have received challenge and scrutiny. We 
have shown how we have prioritised patient safety, patient experience and clinical 
effectiveness.  
I hope that this Quality Account demonstrates just how much progress we have 
made in our the journey 
The Trust Board is committed to ensuring that the Quality and Safety of services we 
provide to our patients in Tameside Hospital are of the highest quality and we are 
continuously working with our partners, stakeholders and the community to achieve 
this objective and that we develop the reputation for Tameside Hospital as a provider 
of safe, high quality, effective care which we would all choose to use.  
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I confirm to the best of my knowledge the information in this document is accurate. 
 

 
Karen James 
Chief Executive 
May 2015 
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2014/15 Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Quality 
Report  
 
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.  
 
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and 
content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) 
and on the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to 
support the data quality for the preparation of the quality report.  
 
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy 
themselves that:  
 

• the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15 and supporting 
guidance;  
 

• the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and 
external sources of information including:  

 
• board minutes and papers for the period April 2014 to March 2015  
 
• papers relating to Quality reported to the board over the period April 2014 

to March 2015 
 
• feedback from commissioners dated 22/05/2015 
 
• feedback from governors dated 26/05/2015  
 
• feedback from local Healthwatch organisations dated 29/05/2015  
 
• feedback from Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated 29/05/2015 

 
• the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local 

Authority Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 
21/05/2015  

• the national patient survey 21/05/2015 
 
• the national staff survey 26/02/2015  
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• the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control 

environment dated 14/04/2015 
 
• CQC Intelligent Monitoring Report dated 01/12/2014   
 
• the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation 

trust’s performance over the period covered;  
 
• the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and 

accurate;  
 
• there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the 

measures of performance included in the Quality Report, and these 
controls are subject to review to confirm that they are working effectively in 
practice; 

 
• the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the 

Quality Report is robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality 
standards and prescribed definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and 

 
• the Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual 

reporting guidance (which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) 
(published at www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the 
standards to support data quality for the preparation of the Quality Report 
(available at www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual).  

The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the Quality Report.  
 
By order of the board  
NB: sign and date in any colour ink except black 
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Statement of Assurance from the Board 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust operates from Tameside Hospital in 
Ashton-under-Lyne, providing a range of acute hospital services for a population of 
approximately 250,000 people living in the surrounding area.   
The Trust became a Foundation Trust in February 2008 and currently employs 
around 2,600 staff, across a host of professions. 
Review of Services 
During 2014/15 the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provided and/or sub-
contracted 7 relevant health services (defined using the Care Quality Commission’s 
regulated activities). 
The services provided were: 

• Treatment of disease, disorder or injury 
• Diagnostic and screening procedures 
• Family planning services 
• Maternity and Midwifery services 
• Surgical procedures 
• Termination of pregnancies 
• Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental 

Health Act 1983 
The Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to 
them on the quality of care in all 7 of these NHS Services. The data the Trust has 
reviewed cover the three dimensions of quality – patient safety, clinical effectiveness 
and patient experience where necessary.  Where appropriate the Trust have 
indicated where the amount of data for review has impeded this objective.  The Trust 
systematically and continuously reviews data related to the Quality of its services.  
The Trust uses its Quality, Safety and Performance metrics to demonstrate this.  
Reports to the Trust Board, the Trust’s Quality and Governance Committee, Trust 
Executive Group and other key committees and the Performance Management 
Framework all include data and information relating to our quality of services.  The 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available on the 
quality of care in all of these NHS Services.   
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2014/15 
represents 92% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health 
services by the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for 2014/15.  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provides the wide array of services one 
would associate with a general hospital.  These include emergency services, general 
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and specialist surgery and full consultant-led obstetric and paediatric hospital 
services for women, children and babies.  

How Quality Initiatives are prioritised at the Trust 
In prioritising our Quality initiatives we have considered the Key requirements 
identified within National and Local Priorities informed by the Commissioning and 
regulatory requirements.  
The Keogh Review in 2013 and the Subsequent CQC chief Inspector of Hospitals 
Inspection in 2014 informed our improvement plan. 5 key areas for Trust 
Improvement were detailed  
 

• Care risks associated with the emergency and medical pathway. 
• Effective leadership. 
• Quality and performance management information requires improvement 
• Development of organisational culture to remove tolerance of sub-optimal 

care and engage more effectively with staff at all levels to improve quality 
• Need to improve patient and public engagement 

 

The Trust Board has overseen the delivery of the plan that has been agreed. The 
improvement programme consists of key areas and the content of this Quality 
Account will provide an overview of progress against these key improvement areas. 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is on an improvement journey from a 
baseline that was found to be unacceptable. We believe we have made significant 
progress against the Trust improvement programme. 
Central to our improvement journey are the Values and Behaviours we launched in 
April 2014 which were developed through staff engagement, and link to issues 
highlighted in local and national reports about Care in the NHS. These are aligned to 
our Quality Improvement Strategy and Patient Safety Programme objectives, and set 
out our approach to Safety, Respect, Communication, Learning and Care. They are 
used throughout the Trust from Recruitment and Induction to training and appraisal 
and performance.  
The pages below identify Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality 
Improvement Strategy which identifies how our Quality initiatives are identified, and 
the Patient Safety Programme which sets out our key patient safety priorities and 
our Values and Behaviours. 
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The Continuous Improvement of Clinical Quality is further incentivised through the 
contracting mechanism which includes quality schedules, penalties and CQUIN 
payments.  
NHS England and regulation frameworks highlight the focus on quality, and are 
linked to the NHS Mandate and Constitution. We have worked with Tameside and 
Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group and Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
to align our quality aims and to maximise the potential delivery through these 
mechanisms.  
Priorities for Quality Improvement 

The priorities for 2014/15 were set out in the Trust Objectives and in the previous 
Quality Account. There are identified below and are what we are reporting on in this 
quality account 

2. Improved Patient Safety by : 
• The percentage of harm free care will increase from the current baseline of 

95% with the aim of harm free care for every patient. 
• Reduction in the number of avoidable hospital acquired pressure ulcers 

and we will reduce the incidence of pressure sores Grade 2 and above. 
We will ensure less than 1% incidence with a 99% compliance rate. 

• Reduction in catheter associated urinary tract infection ensuring 99% of 
patients receive no avoidable UTI. 

• Reduction in patient falls resulting in harm ensuring less than 1% 
incidence resulting in 99% of patients receiving harm free care.  

• Reduction in harm from VTE through appropriate risk assessment and 
thromboprophylaxis. 

• Increase in the identification of deteriorating patients and a reduction in the 
number of avoidable cardiac arrest calls and improved response to 
deterioration triggers. We will ensure a 50% reduction from the baseline.  

• Reduction in the number of hospital acquired infections. 
• Improved compliance with infection prevention standards and 

requirements.  
• Incident reporting will increase resulting in the Trust being in the upper 

quartile of comparable similar sized Trusts using NRLS data. 
• The number of incidents causing harm will reduce resulting in a reduction 

in harm per 1000 patient incidents when compared to similar sized Trusts 
using NRLS data. 

 
3. Improved Patient Experience by: 

• Improvement in Friends & Family Test and response rates by a further 5% 
on the national trajectory. 

• Improvement in patient experience score and net promoter score. 
• Reduction in the number of complaints per 1000 patient contacts to below 

1.15 complaints per 1,000 patient contacts. 
• Increase in the number of recorded compliments per 1000 patient contacts 

by 25% above current baseline 
• Improvement in results of the First Friday feedback 
• Achievement of all access standards  
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4. Improved Quality of Patient Care and Outcome  by: 
• Increased participation in and improvements in performance against 

national/local clinical audits. 
• Improved compliance with clinical care bundles and Advancing Quality 

markers. 
• Adherence to all eligible NICE Guidelines.  
• Reduction in 30 day re-admission rates from the current baseline of 9.1% 

to 8.73% (75th percentile). 
• Adherence to all agreed internal standards with systematic monitoring and 

assurance processes.  
• Reduction in mortality rates and implementation of a systematic review 

process to levels that are not statistically significant and show a reduction 
in the raw death rate and the implementation of a systematic review 
process. 

• Improved care in relation to nutrition and hydration. 
 
Progress against these priorities is detailed in Part three of the Quality account. 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s priorities for improvement in 2015/16 are 
embedded in the Trust Board agreed objectives provided in full at the end of the 
Quality account. Our priorities for improvement are developed in the context of our 
agreed Quality Improvement Strategy and Patient Safety Programme implemented 
and developed with our stakeholders and has been informed by the publication of 
the Keogh review, CQC Chief Inspector of Hospital report and other regulatory and 
external reviews of the Trust since July 2013  
The priorities for 2015/16 are  
1. All patients receive harm free care through the delivery of the Trust’s Patient 

Safety Programme 
• We will continue to build upon and embed the reduction in harm achieved in 

2014/15 and we will maintain or exceed the end of year position against key 
performance metrics. 

• We will participate in the Haelo Patient Safety Programme and ensure 
external engagement is secured to meet its expressed objectives  

• We will implement and deliver the Trust Safety plan for 2015/16 measuring 
and monitoring safety objectives across the Trust as submitted to Haelo and 
the NHSLA. 

• A speciality level range of safety metrics are developed which will drive local 
quality improvement and measurement.  

• We will develop in partnership with our commissioners and other providers 
and the local authority a system wide metrics for at least two agreed areas of 
harm and collate baseline data for these.  

• We will develop a system for anticipating and predicting potential future harm 
and implement this for at least two of the Patient Safety Patient work streams 
for 2015/16   

 
2. To improve the quality of patient care through the implementation of the 
Trust’s agreed Quality Strategy.  
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• We will achieve the identified pledges and measures as stated in the Trust 
Quality Strategy and meet key indicators as attributed to each Quality Priority. 

• Each speciality will have developed a suite of Quality metrics which will drive 
local quality improvement and measurement. 

• The Trusts mortality rates will have improved  in line with expected levels. 
• We will further develop our strategy for seven day services and working in 

partnership with other key organisations.  
• Through delivery of the Workforce and HR/OD Strategy we will ensure 

delivery our of Health and Wellbeing and organisational development 
intentions and improve outcomes against our Values and Behaviours. 

• We will review our position against appropriate NICE guidance and Quality 
standards ensuring these are monitored and prioritised  within service delivery  

• We will deliver Advancing Quality (AQ) improvement targets. 
 
3. To improve the patient experience through a personalised, responsive, 
compassionate and caring approach to the delivery of patient care. 
  

• There is evidence of an improvement in administration processes which 
support responsiveness to patients and other service users.  
This will include: 
• All urgent letters typed and sent within 2 working days. 
• All routine letters typed and sent within 5 working days 
• All areas will have agreed standard operating policies which will  
ensure that compliance is maintained with these standards 

• We will improve our Friends & Family Test and response rates by a further 
5% on the national trajectory for each required FFT speciality published. 

• We will improve our reported Positive patient experience metrics and intend to 
be in the top 50% of Trusts when benchmarked for each reported FFT 
speciality. 

• We will further reduce the number of KO41 complaints per 1000 patient 
contacts to below 1.15 complaints per 1,000 patient contacts. 

• We will increase in the number of recorded compliments and improve the 
Compliments to KO41 Complaints ratio by 20% from the Q4 2014/15 
baseline. 

• We will continue to undertake First Friday walkrounds to receive feedback on 
patient and staff experience and see on going improvement in the feedback 
provided and reported. 

• We will continue to implement our open and transparent culture around the 
performance of the organisation and our performance against our agreed 
quality and safety metrics and include examples of improvement and patient 
stories. We will publish these on the Trust Website in our “Open and honest” 
publications monthly  

• We will continue through feedback questionnaires and other systems to 
understand what our patients and key stakeholders are telling us about the 
Trust’s Quality of service provision and reputation. We will report on this 
through published performance in the “Open and Honest” publications and it 
visibility through the NHS choices star ratings. 
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These objectives build on those put in place following our Improvement Journey as 
part of the improvement programme. Progress against these objectives will be 
reported and monitored through the Trust Board and its subcommittees against 
agreed standards.  
These priorities have been chosen based upon national/local priorities and taking 
analysed patient and stakeholder feedback.  Where benchmarking information has 
been used in data provided in this report, unless otherwise stated, it has been taken 
from data available from the Health and Social Care Information Centre. 
 
Monitoring Priorities at Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
The Governance systems across the Trust have been considerably reviewed and 
revised since the publication of our 2013/14 Quality Account. The structures have 
been augmented to strengthen the governance processes in place across the 
organisation. These provide assurance structures to appropriately monitor challenge 
and seek assurance on workstreams, agreed action and priorities by the Executive 
Team and for concerns and risks to be appropriately managed and escalated and 
assurance on this provided to the Trust Board through these revised structures and 
processes. We have developed our divisional infrastructure and capacity with an 
emphasis on Clinical Leadership with overview and scrutiny from Non- Executive 
Directors, Governors and third party organisations 
 
Participation in Clinical Audits              
Clinical Audit involves improving the Quality of Patient Care by looking at current 
practice and modifying it where necessary. We take part in Regional and National 
Clinical Audits, and we carry out local clinical audits. Sometimes there are also 
National Confidential Enquiries which investigate an area of Health Care and 
recommend ways of improving it.  
National Clinical Audits  
The National Quality Account for 2014/15 contained 44 national clinical audits and 5 
national confidential enquiries  
During 2014/15 25 National clinical audits and 1 national confidential enquiries 
covered relevant health services that Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
provides. (See table 1). 
During 2014/15 Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust participated in 100% 
national clinical audits, and 100% national confidential enquiries which it was eligible 
to participate in. This is an improvement from the previous position.  
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Tameside 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2014/15 are as 
follows: 
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Table 1: National Quality Account 2014/15 participation in eligible audits and 
confidential enquiries 

Quality Account Category and Clinical Audit Title Trust Participation 

Adult community acquired pneumonia Yes 

Adult critical care (Case Mix Programme (CMP) - ICNARC) Yes 
Medical and surgical clinical outcome review programme: National confidential 
enquiry into patient outcome and death (NCEPOD): Yes 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA) Yes 

National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes 

Non-invasive ventilation - adults Yes 

BTS Pleural procedures Yes 

Severe trauma (Trauma Audit & Research Network, TARN) Yes 

Bowel cancer (NBOCAP)  Yes 

Head and neck oncology (DANHO)  Yes 

Lung cancer (NLCA) Yes 

Oesophago-gastric cancer (NAOGC) Yes 

Prostate Cancer Yes 

Acute coronary syndrome or Acute myocardial infarction (MINAP) Yes 

Cardiac arrhythmia  (HRM) Yes 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes 

National Heart Failure Audit NICOR, BSH, NCASP): Yes 

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NADIA)* Yes 

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)* Biologics Yes 

Rheumatoid and early inflammatory arthritis* Yes 

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme (FFFAP – Hip Fracture) Yes 

National Audit of Dementia (care in general hospitals) Yes 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)* Yes 

Epilepsy 12 audit (Childhood Epilepsy) Yes 
Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical Outcome Review Programme 
(MBRRACE-UK) Yes 

NCEPOD   

Neonatal intensive and special care (NNAP) Yes 

 
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquires that Tameside Hospital 
NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed 
during 2014/15 are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to each 
audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of registered cases required by the 
terms of that audit or enquiry.  
  
 

Table 2: National Quality Account for 2014/15, incorporating Trust participation 
in eligible audits and confidential enquiries, with % submissions 
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NB Information marked with * indicates that the data submission period extends beyond the financial 
year and full submission cannot be reported at the time of completing the report. 

Quality Account Category and Clinical Audit Title 2014/15 
Participation 

Number 
submitted to 
date* 

% submitted 
to date* 

Adult	  community	  acquired	  pneumonia	   Yes	   87*	   37%*	  

Adult	  critical	  care	  (Case	  Mix	  Programme	  (CMP)	  -‐	  ICNARC)	   Yes	   362 100% 
Medical	  and	  surgical	  clinical	  outcome	  review	  programme:	  
National	  confidential	  enquiry	  into	  patient	  outcome	  and	  
death	  (NCEPOD):	  Sepsis	  

Yes	   5 100% 

National	  Emergency	  Laparotomy	  Audit	  (NELA)	  
Continuous	  Audit	  

Yes	   105 97% 

National	  Joint	  Registry	  (NJR)	  Continuous	  Audit	  	  	   Yes 438 100%	  

Non-‐invasive	  ventilation	  -‐	  adults	   Yes	   Audit not undertaken nationally 
BTS	  Pleural	  procedures	   Yes	   10	   100%	  

Severe	  trauma	  (Trauma	  Audit	  &	  Research	  Network,	  TARN)	   Yes	  

Q1 – 49	  
Q2 – 23 
Q3 – 40* 
Q4 – 3*	  

96%	  
98% 
67%* 
4%*	  

Bowel	  cancer	  (NBOCAP)	  Continuous	  Audit	   Yes	   0* 0% 

Head	  and	  neck	  oncology	  (DANHO)	  Continuous	  Audit	   Yes	   41 100% 

Lung	  cancer	  (NLCA)	  Continuous	  Audit	   Yes	   206 100% 

Oesophago-‐gastric	  cancer	  (NAOGC)	  Continuous	  Audit	   Yes	   0* 0%* 

Prostate	  Cancer	   Yes	   134 100% 
Acute	  coronary	  syndrome	  or	  Acute	  myocardial	  infarction	  
(MINAP)	  Continuous	  Audit	  

Yes	   124*	   39%*	  

Cardiac	  arrhythmia	  	  (HRM)	  Continuous	  Audit	  	   Yes	   1113	   100%	  

National	  Cardiac	  Arrest	  Audit	  (NCAA)	   Yes	   50 100% 

National	  Heart	  Failure	  Audit	  NICOR,	  BSH,	  NCASP):	  
Continuous	  Audit	  

Yes	  
 

215 
 

100% 

National	  Diabetes	  Inpatient	  Audit	  (NADIA)	   Yes	   Audit not undertaken nationally 

Inflammatory	  bowel	  disease	  (IBD)	  Biologics	  
Continuous	  Audit	   Yes	  

Ongoing data 
collection 

100% 

Rheumatoid	  and	  early	  inflammatory	  arthritis	  
	  

Yes	  
Ongoing data 

collection	  
100%	  

Falls	  and	  Fragility	  Fractures	  Audit	  Programme	  (FFFAP	  –	  Hip	  
Fracture)	  Continuous	  Audit	  	  

Yes	   245 100%	  

National	  Audit	  of	  Dementia	  (care	  in	  general	  hospitals)	   Yes	   Rescheduled to 2016/17  
Sentinel	  Stroke	  National	  Audit	  Programme	  (SSNAP)*	   Yes	   142 100% 
Epilepsy	  12	  audit	  (Childhood	  Epilepsy)	   Yes	   20* 40%* 
Maternal,	  Newborn	  and	  Infant	  Clinical	  Outcome	  Review	  
Programme	  (MBRRACE-‐UK)	  NCEPOD	  

Yes	   12 100% 

The reports of 17 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2014/15 
and Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions 
to improve the quality of healthcare provided: 

• Reports are scheduled for presentation and discussion at specialty/ multi-
specialty audit /Clinical Governance meetings. At these meetings 
recommendations and action plans are decided so that practice and care can 
be improved. The action plans form part of the Clinical Audit Annual Report, 
which is presented to Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group for assurance 
and monitoring purposes.  
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The reports of 41 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2014/15 and 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to 
improve the quality of healthcare provided  

• Reports are scheduled for presentation and discussion at specialty/ multi-
specialty audit /Clinical Governance meetings. At these meetings 
recommendations and action plans are decided so that practice and care can 
be improved. The action plans form part of the Clinical Audit Annual Report, 
which is presented to Clinical Audit and Effectiveness Group for assurance 
and monitoring purposes.  

Research and Development 
Research is vital to improve the knowledge needed to develop the current and future 
quality of care for patients. Carrying out high quality research gives the NHS the 
opportunity to minimise inadequacies in healthcare and improve the treatments 
patients receive.  The Trust is only involved with research studies that have received 
a favourable opinion from the Research Ethics Committee within the National 
Research Ethics Service (NRES), signifying the research projects are of high 
scientific quality and have been risk assessed.  
The Research Department is committed to providing patients with the opportunity to 
participate in research, if they wish. We aim to ask all eligible patients if they would 
like to participate in a clinical trial.  
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted 
by the Trust in 2014/15 that were recruited during that period to participate in 
research approved by a research ethics committee was approximately 400, which is 
a substantial increase on the recruitment figure in 2013/14 (240). 
Currently, there are 92 research studies either in the planned stage, are active or in 
follow up. All studies the Trust supports have received a favourable opinion from the 
National Research Ethics Service. Of these studies, 29 were given NHS Permission 
by the Director of Research or the Associate Director of Research and Innovation in 
2014/15. We have 75 studies which are adopted on to the National Institute for 
Health Research (NIHR) Clinical Research Network portfolio. These studies are high 
quality trials that benefit from the infrastructure and support of the Clinical Research 
Network (CRN) in England. We are currently hosting 5 actively recruiting clinical 
trials involving medicinal products, which demonstrate the Trusts enthusiasm to 
improve and offer the latest medical treatments. 
The Trust has 4 dedicated research nurses working on a variety of research studies. 
The Trust has strong research activity in Oncology, Orthodontics, Paediatrics and 
diabetes and we continue to get more and more departments involved. This year, we 
have seen the stroke department participate in research and the Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology department have increased the research activity. There are currently 
35 clinical staff acting as the Trust lead investigator on approved research studies.  
The Trust research nurses work closely with the investigators to identify suitable 
research studies that fit with the patient population and also to identify eligible 
patients to participate. It is envisaged that the continued dedication and flexibility of 
the research nurses, together with the enthusiasm and support of the clinicians will 
further raise the profile of Research and development in 2015/16.  
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The Oncology Research team have had yet another successful year in 2014/15 and 
continue to achieve high performance rates and meet their network targets. We are 
currently outperforming all our neighbouring hospitals in terms of our percentage of 
patients participating in research studies, in relation to our patient population. We 
achieve high recruitment numbers to both observational and interventional studies 
and regularly surpass our recruitment target. Our predicted recruitment figure 
percentage for 2014/15 is also expected to surpass all other hospitals in the region, 
in relation to our patient population. It was recognised that this is a ‘major 
achievement in a Trust without a substantial chemotherapy service’.  
One of the Trusts Oncology Research nurses won the Research Nurse of the year 
award at the Greater Manchester Clinical Research Awards 2014, held by the 
National Institute of Health Research. This is a massive achievement and a reflection 
of the dedication and hard work of research staff.  
The Trust continues to participate in research studies that are feasible in terms of the 
services we offer and our patient population and aspire to raise the profile of 
research further in 2015/16.  
Goals agreed with the Commissioners  

The Clinical Commissioning Group for Tameside and Glossop holds the NHS budget 
locally and they decide how it is spent within the hospital and other Community 
health services. This is known as commissioning. Tameside and Glossop CCG is the 
lead commissioner of services at Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and 
incentives based on Quality and Innovation. These payments support Quality as a 
driving principle.  
A proportion of Tameside NHS Foundation Trust’s income in 2014/15 was 
conditional on achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed between 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and any person or body they entered into 
a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the provision of NHS services, 
through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment framework. The 
monetary total for the amount of income in 2014/15 conditional upon achieving 
quality and improvement goals was £3.15 million and the monetary value to CQUIN 
in 2014/15 which was achieved was £3.13 million. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 2014/15 and for the following 12 month period 
are available electronically at  http://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/ .  
The summary detail of Tameside Hospitals NHS Foundation Trusts CQUIN goals are 
identified in the table below 
 
2014/15 CQUIN Goals 
 
Goal	  
Number	  

Indicator	  
Number	   Indicator	  Name	  

Indicator	  
Weighting	  	  

Expected	  
Financial	  Value	  	  

N1	   1a	   Friends	  and	  Family	  Test	  –	  Implementation	  of	  staff	  
FFT	  -‐	  NHS	  Trusts	  Only	   0.021	  

£66,165	  

N2	   1b	   Friends	  and	  Family	  Test	  -‐	  Early	  Implementation	  	   0.013	   £40,959	  

N3	   2	   Friends	  and	  Family	  Test	  -‐	  Increased	  or	  maintained	  
Response	  Rate	  in	  Acute	  Providers	  

0.013	   £40,959	  

N4	  
3a	  

Friends	  and	  Family	  Test	  -‐	  Reduction	  in	  Negative	  
Responses	  in	  Acute	  Providers	  	   0.013	  

£40,959	  
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Goal	  
Number	  

Indicator	  
Number	   Indicator	  Name	  

Indicator	  
Weighting	  	  

Expected	  
Financial	  Value	  	  

N5	   3b	   Staff	  Friends	  and	  Family	  Test	  -‐	  Reduction	  in	  Negative	  
Responses	  	  

0.013	   £40,959	  

N6	   4	   NHS	  Safety	  Thermometer	  -‐	  Improvement	  Goal	  
Specification	  	  

0.056	   £176,441	  

N7	   5a	   Dementia	  -‐	  Find,	  Assess,	  Investigate	  and	  Refer	   0.043	   £135,481	  

N8	   5b	   Dementia	  -‐	  Clinical	  Leadership	   0.007	   £22,055	  

N9	  
5c	  

Dementia	  -‐	  Supporting	  Carers	  of	  People	  with	  
Dementia	   0.021	  

£66,165	  

GM1.1	   6a	   GM	  	  Clinical	  Effectiveness	  -‐	  Adults	   0.087	   £274,114	  

GM1.2	   6b	   GM	  G	  Clinical	  Effectiveness	  -‐	  Children	   0.087	   £274,114	  

GM2	   7	   GM	  Patient	  Safety	   0.0581	   £183,057	  

GM3	   8	   GM	  Ambulatory	  Care	   0.0872	   £274,744	  

GM4	   9	   GM	  Learning	  Disability	   0.0872	   £274,744	  

L1	   10	   Local	  -‐	  THFT	  Improvement	  Plan	   0.306	   £964,123	  

L2	   11	   Local	  -‐	  Antibiotic	  Education	  and	  Prescribing	   0.0435	   £137,057	  

L3	   12	   Local	  -‐	  Medication	  Safety	  Thermometer	   0.03	   £94,522	  

L4	   13	   Local	  -‐	  Pregabalin	   0.014	   £44,110	  

	   	   Total	   100.00%	   £3,150,730	  

 
 
 

What others say about Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) regulates and inspects Health and Social Care 
organisations. If it is satisfied that the organisation provides care which meets the 
Essential Standards of Quality and Safety it registers the organisation to provide 
services “without conditions”.  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the Care 
Quality Commission. Following the Keogh review in July 2013 the Trust was put into 
Special Measures. In April 2014 the CQC undertook a Chief inspector of Hospitals 
inspection, and inspected all the cores services of the Trust. The report was issued 
in July 2014 and the matrix of outcomes reported is identified in the table below.   
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As the Trust was in special measures with Monitor the Care Quality Commission did 
not take further enforcement action. The CQC recognised that an improvement plan 
was already in place and being implemented and that much improvement had taken 
place since the Keogh review. However, there were still concerns that further 
improvement was required and overall rated the organisations as inadequate. A 
further follow up inspection is planned in April 2015 to further assess the progress 
against the improvement plan implemented and in place to address the concerns 
raised.  
 
Healthwatch Enter and View visits  
 
In February 2015 Healthwatch Tameside published their review of Enter and View 
visits undertaken in December 2014.  
Healthwatch made observations and asked questions based on things that local 
people have informed them are important. This involved speaking to nearly 100 
patients and their relatives as well as observing the delivery of care on 9 different 
wards/unit. 
The report recognized that the hospital has clearly made improvements in many of 
the issues that local people have raised with us as concerns in the past. 
communication between patients, families and ward staff has improved. More 
patients get help at meal times if they need it and the number of patients having 
repeated falls has reduced.  
They reported that as before many patients said how caring and hard working the 
nursing staff were. They also echoed past messages about nurses being very busy 
and they heard of instances of patients who didn’t ask for help because they didn’t 
want to bother the busy nurses who were obviously looking after someone else at 
the time. 
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The conclusions and recommendations of the report including our recognition that 
we have more to do have been accepted and our response is included in the 
published report.   
 
Other Reports 
In Autumn 2014 the Trust received a report from the Tameside Hospital Action 
Group (THAG) evaluating progress against their Charter for Change which they 
produced in autumn 2013.   The Trust on completing this Quality Account has 
considered the report and its findings and the Trust has made significant progess 
with respect to addressing the Keogh findings which preceded the publication of the 
Charter for Change. 
 
The comprehensive assurance programme in place across the Trust and the Health 
economy has demonstrated the progress against the Trust’s improvement plan and 
in doing so has considered the report from THAG 
 
Data Quality  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust recognises that good data quality and 
information underpins the effective delivery of patient care and is essential if 
improvements in quality of care are to be made. Improved Data quality will improve 
patient care and improve value for money.  
The Trust is currently undertaking significant work on data quality which is referred to 
in part 3 - Impact of Replacing the Trust Patient Administration System 
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NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during April 2014 to 
March 2015 to the Secondary Users Service (SUS) for inclusion in the Hospital 
Episode Statistics. These are included in the latest published data. The percentage 
of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid NHS number was:  
 
▲ 99.56% for admitted patient care; 
▲ 99.90% for outpatient care; and 
▲ 99.39% for accident and emergency care. 
 
The percentage of records in the published data which included the patient’s valid 
GP Practice code was: 
 
▲ 90.60% for admitted patient care; 
▲ 99.35% for outpatient care; and 
▲ 98.39% for accident and emergency care. 
 

Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels  

Information Governance is about how NHS and social care organisations and 
individuals handle information. This can be personal, patient, sensitive and/or 
corporate information. Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Information 
Governance report for 2014/15 was 70% and was graded green.  
 
Clinical Coding Error Rate  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the Payment by 
Results (PbR) Clinical Coding Audit during 2014/15 by the Audit Commission. The 
most recent PbR Audit (2012/13) identified Tameside Hospital was one of only four 
Trusts to have consistently been in the lower quartile, or best performing 25 per cent 
of trusts with error rates of between 0 and 4 per cent - the best performing category, 
each year since programme began.   
 
However the Impact of Replacing the Trust Patient Administration System has 
identified that the depth of clinical coding achieved has not accurately reflect the 
complexity of Patient condition and care provided which has led to further work being 
undertaken as identified in Part 3 of the Quality Account. 
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Reporting against Core indicators  
The prescribed requirement for reporting against Core indicators listed below has 
been undertaken and is provided in the next section of the Quality account - How we 
performed on Quality in 2014/15 alongside the reporting of the current performance 
for the indicator. 
 
Core indicator requirement Reported 

on Page 
12. (a) The value and banding of the summary hospital-level mortality 
indicator (“SHMI”) for the trust for the reporting period; and 
(b) The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either 
diagnosis or specialty level for the trust for the reporting period.  
 
In the table showing performance against this indicator, both the SHMI 
value and banding should be shown for each reporting period. 

Page 74 

18. The trust’s patient reported outcome measures scores for: 
(i) groin hernia surgery, 
(ii) varicose vein surgery, 
(iii) hip replacement surgery, and 
(iv) knee replacement surgery, during the reporting period. 

Page 66 

19. The percentage of patients aged - (i) 0 to 15; and (ii) 16 or over, 
readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the trust within 28 days of 
being discharged from a hospital which forms part of the trust during the 
reporting period. 

Page 69 

20. The trust’s responsiveness to the personal needs of its patients 
during the reporting period. 

Page 52 

21. The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust 
during the reporting period who would recommend the trust as a provider 
of care to their family or friends 

Page 60 

23. The percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who 
were risk assessed for venous thromboembolism during the reporting 
period. 

Page 37 

24. The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C.difficile infection 
reported within the trust amongst patients aged 2 or over during the 
reporting period. 

Page 40 

25. The number and, where available, rate of patient safety incidents 
reported within the trust during the reporting period, and the number and 
percentage of such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm 
or death 

Page 43 

Friends and Family Test results Page 46 
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Part Three 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How we performed on Quality in 
2014/15 
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This section of the Quality account provides an overview of the quality of care based 
on performance in 2014/15 against indicators selected by the board in consultation 
with stakeholders following the regulatory reviews and agreed as part of the Trust 
Improvement programme. Where appropriate and available historic information has 
been provided, and where mandated for Core indicators with national benchmarking 
data and commentary as required. 
The benchmarking data provided reflects the information currently available via the 
HSCIC indicator portal at the time of finalising the report for approval. 

Organisational Quality and Safety Initiatives progressed throughout 
2014/15  
Following the inspection from the Chief Inspector of Hospitals in May 2014 a Revised 
Integrated Action plan has been developed and implemented. The implementation of 
this has been monitored internally and assurance received through the Revised 
Trust Governance structures, and external assurance provided through the Quality 
Oversight Group including NHS England, Commissioners, Local Authority, 
Healthwatch, and Regulators. 
Through implementation of the Revised Integrated Centralised Action plan we have 
in 2014/15 progressed the following Quality initiatives. We have:- 
 
To improve patient safety  
• Recruited additional Medical staff particularly for out of hours and weekends 
• Recruited additional Nursing staff  
• Embedded our Patient Safety Programme to deliver the strategy and further 

develop this to include additional work streams. 
• Implemented the National Early Warning System (NEWS) to monitor patients and 

escalate concerns if they deteriorate.  
• Embedded a system of Rapid Assessment and Treatment in Emergency 

Department  
• Embedded the service transformation programme in the emergency and medical 

pathways to ensure patients with complex clinical needs are reviewed on arrival 
in A&E by a Senior clinical team 

• Commenced implementation of the medical staffing strategy to progress 
requirements for 7 day working in the emergency department.  

• Continues to embed and reinforce the electronic incident reporting system to 
provide immediate awareness and oversight of reported issues by the 
appropriate manager and specialist adviser, and ensure improved feedback 
arrangements are enabled for the reporter. 

• Continue to ensure that Every in hospital death is reviewed initially within  14 
days and then by a Multidisciplinary team to ensure that the Care provided was in 
accordance with Trust policy and identify and areas of concern for further review 
and investigation.    

• Continue to implement the Safety Thermometer to monitor levels of harm on 
weekly basis and systematically monitor the results across all wards. 

• Commenced implementation of the Maternity Safety Thermometer. 
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• Reviewed our administration systems and implemented standards for managing 
the size of case notes, and the requirement to distribute multiple volumes for 
patients. 

 
To Improve our effectiveness  
• Further strengthened the Nurse Management structure.  
• Following a third party review of our Cardiology services undertaken the 

recommendations identified to further enhance and improve the Quality and 
Safety of services provided. 

• Implemented organisational change and ward restructuring to enable us to make 
sure we get the right patient to the right bed  more effectively 

• Implemented revised Nursing leadership at night and use of Night Nurse 
practitioners in the emergency department 

• Reviewed effective use of beds and bed management and commissioned a 
Transitional Care unit with partners.  

• Implemented a Discharge commissioning group to oversee and transform the 
discharge process. 

• Undertaken 3 “Perfect week” initiatives with partner organisations to better 
understand and work together to streamline the discharge process. 

• Assertive outreach  into Primary Care by the Medical Director working with GP 
colleagues.  

• Continue to embed and implement the Trust Quality Improvement Strategy and 
enable continuous quality improvement in Patient Safety, Outcomes and 
Experience. 

• Further develop the reporting and provision of monthly dashboards of key metrics 
on quality and safety indicators for ward and departments 

• We have trained 75 staff in Root Cause Analysis methods including Learning 
from Experience. 

• Continued to develop the Aggregated learning reports and learning from 
experience, and share the learning from complaints, incidents, safeguarding and 
coronial processes. Available and shared widely with Directorates and Divisions. 
and available for all staff via the Intranet. 

• Continued to implement Care Bundles in key clinical pathways and continued to 
progress the development and implementation of additional Care Bundles in key 
Clinical areas across the Trust. We continue participation in the Advancing 
Quality Initiative and the implementation and reinforcement of the care bundles. 

 
 
To improve our caring 
• Implemented and monitored our Ward Accreditation programme which defines 

standards to measure the quality of Ward management and nursing care 
delivered and to drive improvement.  

• Implement and monitor Patient Experience through the Patient Experience Group 
to ensure that patient feedback is reported through Patient stories to the Trust 
Board and other groups and is used to inform service provision and change and 
the Trust strategies. 
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• Continue the implementation of Executive Directors including the Chief Executive 
going back to the floor, to work in uniform alongside clinical teams with the aim of 
observing care, gaining feedback and ensuring that the Team know their 
Executives are there to listen and make a difference. 

• Launched and implemented Trust Values and Behaviours as part of 
implementing the Organisational Development (OD) strategy to enable delivery of 
the framework for achieving the Trust’s Mission, of ‘delivering, with our partners, 
safe, effective and personal care, which you can trust’. 

 
To improve our responsiveness   
• Ensured that that the real time monitoring of capacity and review of staffing levels 

occurs at least 3 times a day, and assess and review these based on patient 
acuity. 

• Implemented additional methods of gathering and understanding patient 
experience to inform the way we provide services. 

• Established a Corporate team, to implement and oversee Service transformation,  
• Service transformation Teams are working with our front line clinicians and teams 

within our operating theatres, outpatients and ward areas to improve care 
delivering new and innovative approaches. 

• Implemented the “Open and Honest” process of publishing Quality and patient 
safety data including our improvement stories and videos on the Trust website 
monthly.  

• Implemented a structure to ensure Service transformation projects drive 
improvement to Quality and Safety in the Trust. These are implemented, 
monitored and progress reported through the Executive Team to Trust Board. 

• The Trust has embraced the “Enter and View” methodology visits undertaken by 
other stakeholders including Healthwatch and participated in these. 

• Further embed and improve the response rate for the use of Friends and Family 
test across Maternity Services and dental services in the Trust and plan for this to 
be used in Outpatients. These results are published monthly in all areas.   

• Further strengthened the Complaints/PALS process to ensure more effective 
management of concerns raised and linked with Quality and Safety and increase 
the use of face to face complaints handling to resolve concerns directly. 

• Taken assertive action to understand and address issues of patients waiting for 
Surgery and the Referral to Treatment time.  

• We have implemented improvement programmes to ensure more timely 
turnaround of clinical correspondence, and with more effective storage of records 
improved working environment for staff in our administration team  

 
To ensure we are well led  
• Undertaken a third party review of our Critical Care services and implemented the 

recommendations to further improve the Quality and Safety  of the service s we 
provide.  

• Implemented a programme of Quality Service reviews and continue to carry out 
unannounced walk rounds to review service provision with a specific emphasis 
on Quality and Safety.  
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• Developed a process for monitoring and reporting on available information to 
ensure that we are aware issues and take action to ensure these are managed 
with rapid improvement teams mobilised to address immediate issues of concern 
when identified. 

• Continue to implement and embed the programme of Leadership Development 
for Clinical Leaders/ Ward and Senior managers to develop leadership 
capabilities, abilities and build a more collaborative organisational culture. 

• Undertaken a review of the Discharge process and commenced implementation 
of the recommendations.  

• Continue Board development to ensure Board leadership on quality 
improvement, governance and leadership to enable scrutiny and ensure 
assurance is provided in relation to improvements in quality and safety . 

• Further refine the Governance structure for the Trust to provide clear lines of 
accountability for all Trust groups and Boards identified with a focus on Quality 
and Safety and to ensure that systems for monitoring and awareness are robust 
and ensure reporting from Ward to Board.  

• Continues to ensure improved Board reporting on Quality and Safety Metrics with 
exception reports detailing action taken where appropriate.  

• Recruited a Director of Performance and Informatics and Head of Data 
Assurance to address issues of data quality 

• Developed a divisional infrastructure and capability with an emphasis on Clinical 
Leadership to oversee and report to the Executive and Non-Executives the 
priorities and progress on Quality and Safety within the divisions.    
 
 

 
 

 
 

How we performed on Quality in 2014/15 

This section indicates how some of the Quality Initiatives were progressed during 
2014/15 and outlines the performance against the priorities and goals we set 
ourselves in 2013/14 Quality Account.   

 

The following symbols have been used to identify our performance and whether we 
achieved our goals.  

 
Achieving our aim/goals 

 
 

Improving Performance 
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No change in Performance  

 
 

Deteriorating Performance 

 
 

Significant Concerns about Performance 
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Patient Safety 

Patient Safety Programme 

 
The Trust has introduced a Patient Safety Programme following the Keogh Review 
with the following work streams. Each work stream has agreed performance 
monitoring metrics in place to identify improvement and how well we are protecting 
patients from avoidable harm. 

• Pressure Ulcer prevention, improved Tissue Viability and Continence.  
• Earlier recognition of the deteriorating patient and management of the acutely 

unwell (including improved communication/ handover).  
• Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury.  
• Improved nutritional care and hydration.  
• Reducing harm from Venous Thrombosis.  
• Reducing harm from high risk medicines and providing safe and effective 

medicines management.  
• Improving peri-operative outcomes through safer surgery.  
• Infection prevention. 

Indicators for each of these workstreams are captured in this part of the Quality 
account, and these will be developed further during 2015/16.  

 

The Safety Thermometer is a monitoring tool to identify the provision of harm free, 
safe care in relation to 4 Patient safety areas of Pressure ulcers, Falls, 
Catheter acquired urinary tract infections and Venous Thrombo Embolism (VTE).  

It is well documented that health care has high levels of system harm; the Safety 
Thermometer tool is unique in identifying the impact of collective harms within the 
ward areas and attempts to measure this as a composite score across 4 key areas 
to understand the impact and support improvements to deliver harm free care to our 
patients.  

The thermometer captures a snap shot sample of data from 100% of patients on 
sample day in order to attempt to suggest the prevalence of harm across those 
patient groups sampled. We publish monthly data in line with the CQUIN 
requirement and this is demonstrated below.  

We pledged to improve patient safety by increasing the percentage of harm free care 
from the baseline of 95% with the aim of harm free care for every patient. We 
achieved an average of 98.62% in 14/15  

Harm free care graph for all 4 harms  

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.   

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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As a quality indicator Safety Thermometer data is useful to identify safe care and as 
an “early warning system” with regard to poor quality of care and as such has been 
utilised and cross referenced with other sources of information. Internally we use the 
tool weekly and produce weekly monitoring reports to provide assurance that we are 
providing safe harm free care 

TGH Safety Thermometer New Harm Free Care Performance 

 Pressure Ulcer prevention 

We pledged to improve patient safety by reducing the number of avoidable hospital 
acquired pressure ulcers and we will reduce the incidence of pressure sores Grade 2 
and above. We will ensure less than 1% incidence with a 99% compliance rate. 

In 2014/15 we achieved this with an average 0.52% incidence of Hospital acquired 
grade 2 pressure ulcers and above  

 

Catheters & New UTI's Performance  

We pledged to improve patient safety by reduction in catheter associated urinary 
tract infection ensuring 99% of patients receive no avoidable UTI. 

In 2014/15 we achieved this with an average 0.24% incidence of Hospital acquired 
Catheter Acquired Urinary Tract infections  
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Reducing the number of falls and falls with injury.  

We pledged to improve patient safety by reduction in patient falls resulting in harm 
ensuring less than 1% incidence resulting in 99% of patients receiving harm free 
care.  

In 2014/15 we achieved this with an average 0.56% incidence of falls resulting in 
harm  

 

 

 

Venous Thrombo Embolism (VTE) Risk Assessment 
 

We pledged to improve patient safety by reduction in harm from VTE through 
appropriate risk assessment and thromboprophylaxis. 
 
In 2014/15 we achieved this with an average 0.10% incidence of No VTE risk 
assessment being completed using the Safety Thermometer data  

 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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The trust also records assessment of all patients requiring a VTE risk assessment on Lorenzo, and 
this data is produced by ward to ensure that  

 

	  	   Apr-‐14	  
May-‐
14	  

Jun-‐14	   Jul-‐14	   Aug-‐14	   Sep-‐14	   Oct-‐14	   Nov-‐14	   Dec-‐14	   Jan-‐15	   Feb-‐15	   Mar-‐15	  

Recorded	  Risk	  
assessment	  

on	  PAS	  system	  
93.5% 95.7% 97.5% 97.4% 97.2% 97.2% 98.2% 97.3% 97.6% 97.1% 96.6% 96.1% 

Target	   95%	   95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 95% 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for 
the following reasons. We have taken the assertive action to ensure compliance with 
the required standard.  
 

• Having a VTE Committee in place as part of our Patient Safety Programme 
to monitor and drive improved provision of the correct care to prevent  VTE 
for all patients and the avoidance of hospital acquired VTE.  

• Recruited a VTE nurse to provide leadership and focus on this patient safety 
indicator. 

• Reviewed the process for recording to ensure correct data collection 
guidance is followed for patient  

• Provided additional training of medical, nursing and administration staff in 
assessment and data collection.  

• Ward based system in place to ensure completion of VTE assessment and 
electronic CQUIN completion recording. 

• Daily compliance data provided at ward level with follow up visits by VTE 
nurse to drive compliance. 

 
 

VTE risk assessments 
Q1 

2013/ 
14 

Q2 
2013/ 

14 

Q3 
2013/ 

14 

Q4 
2013/ 

14 

Q1 
2014 
/15 

Q2  
2014/

15 

Q3 
2014/ 

15 

Rank in 
most 

recent 
reporting 

period 

THFT Risk assessment rate 96.02% 95.83% Nil 
return 81% 95.6% 97.3% 97% 47 

Lowest Nationally 78.78% 81.7% 77.7% 79% 87.2% 86.4% 81% 161 

Highest Nationally 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 1 
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National average 95.48% 95.83% 96% 96% 96.1% 96% 96% n/a 

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the action described above to 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a 
Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress 
monitored by the Trust board.  
Performance is expected to continue to improve with achievement of the target 
expected in 2015/16.
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Infection Prevention and Control – MRSA 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 

environment and protecting them from avoidable harm  
The Trust continues to systematically implement its agreed policies and procedures   
to minimise the occurrence of Hospital Acquired MRSA cases and has a zero 
tolerance approach to these. However we have not met this standard despite the 
efforts of clinicians across the hospital.    

All cases of MRSA infection undergo a detailed investigation to identify how and why 
it occurred, to ensure learning and further reduce harm. The Trust has robust 
systems and processes in place to reduce the likelihood of this, however, it is 
recognised that there is still more to do to ensure full compliance, and it should be 
noted that the Trust did not breach the regulators deminimus target.  
 

 
 

For 2015/16 the Trust will continue to adopt a zero tolerance towards hospital 
acquired MRSA cases. The Trust aims for zero cases of post 48 hour MRSA.  
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Infection Prevention and Control – C Difficile 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 

environment and protecting them from avoidable harm  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aimed to achieve or better the C Difficile 
target of 41 post 3 day cases for the year, creating the conditions for further 
reductions for subsequent years. We have achieved achieve this in 2014/15.  

 
 
The national benchmarking identifies how the Trust compares nationally:  

 Rate of C Difficile per 100,000 bed days for patient aged 2 years and over 
 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 
Rank  
13/14 

National rate 35.3 29.7 22.8 17.3 14.7 N/A 

Tameside  
(Trust apportioned) 85.2 71.8 51.6 21.6 32.5 159 

Best performing  
nationally 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1 

Worst performing  
nationally 92 71.2 58.2 30.8 37.1 160 

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because of the assertive infection control programme in place to minimise the 
potential for harm from Hospital Acquired infections. The challenges regarding 
reducing HCAI have been recognised and assertively addressed.  This is 
demonstrable through the reduction this year compared to the initial baseline 
period.  

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by implementation of a Trust 
wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and with progress 
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monitored by the Trust board.  The Trust will continue to assertively progress the 
reduction in Hospital acquired infections and continue with its current approach of 
zero tolerance to Hospital acquired infections and will aim to reduce further the rate 
of Hospital acquired C Difficile by taking the following action for any case : 

• A full root cause analysis of each case  
• “Finger printing” of the infections to better understand the source 
• Review the antibiotic prescribing following independent reviews  
• Undertake a further reaudit of the mattress audit and replacement programme  

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aims to continue to achieve a year on year 
reduction in the rate of numbers of C Difficile cases. 
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Infection Prevention and Control – MSSA and E -Coli 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a 

safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm 
E Coli  
 

MSSA  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust aimed to comply with the requirement to 
monitor MSSA and E Coli Bacteraemia and to meet any agreed trajectory proposed 
in year.  The trajectory for E Coli was identified at being 29 cases and the trajectory 
for MSSA was 13 cases.   

 

 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

E Coli: 25 23 23 

MSSA: 15 13 6 

 
In 2014/15 the Trust has reduced the number of infections for both MSSA and E Coli 
from those reported in 2012/13 and for 2014/15. Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust aims to continue to achieve a year on year reduction in the rate of numbers of 
MSSA and E Coli cases. The Trust will continue to assertively progress the reduction 
in Hospital acquired infections and continue with its current approach of zero 
tolerance to Hospital acquired infections and will aim to reduce further the rate of 
Hospital acquired E Coli and MSSA. 
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Incident Reporting 

 
We aim to increase the number of reported incidents whilst reducing harm associated 
with these.  

 
 
The NRLS identifies that organisations who report high levels of incidents are likely to 
be safer organisations, since the certainty that incidents will be reported is higher. We 
therefore pledged to improve patient safety by ensuring incident reporting will increase 
resulting in the Trust being in the upper quartile of comparable similar sized 
Trusts(small acute) using NRLS data, and the number of incidents causing harm will 
reduce resulting in a reduction in harm per 1000 patient incidents when compared to 
similar sized Trusts using NRLS data. We believe that we would of achieved this.  
 
However the National benchmarking data and organisational grouping have changed. 
We are now included in a group with all acute non specialist Trusts and the activity is 
benchmarked per 1000 bed days therefore the benchmarking table below has been 
amended to reflect this 
 
We have increased the incidents reported by a further 37% in the last year as part of 
an assertive programme of ensuring incidents are reported. This is also reflected in the 
information published from the NRLS which demonstrates that the percentage of 
incidents reported with moderate, severe harm or death is decreasing. 
 
Reporting rate  incidents per 1000 bed days published by 

the NRLS 
October 2013 – 

March 2014 
April to 

September 2014 
Rank in most recent 

reporting period 

Tameside Hospital Foundation NHS Trust  41.1 36.97 56 
Highest value for Acute Non specialist Trusts 74.9 74.96 1 
Lowest rate for Acute Non specialist Trusts 5.8 0.24 140 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

% of incidents with Moderate, Severe and death 
reported 

Oct 2013 to March 
2014 

April to 
September 2014 

Rank in most recent 
reporting period 

Tameside Hospital Foundation NHS Trust  Not available 0.7% 2 

NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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Highest % for Acute Non specialist Trusts Not available  0.0% 1 

Lowest % for Acute Non specialist Trusts Not available  91.4% 140 

National Average  Not available  5.6% N/A 

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because of the assertive action taken to increase the number of incident reported 
and the move towards Electronic reporting and the use of incident trigger lists to 
ensure standardised and consistent reporting of issues across all areas of the 
organisation. 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a 
Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress 
monitored by the Trust board. The Trust has as part of this commenced Web 
based incident reporting, which will ensure feedback to incident reporters on action 
taken.  
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Other Important Patient Safety and Effectiveness Indicators 

NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury 

See individual 
indicators below 

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust made goals regarding other key patient 
safety indicators, progress of which is identified in the table below and monitored 
through the Dr Foster intelligence tools used by the Trust.  

Indicator 
Observed 
Rate per 

1000 

Expected 
Rate per 

1000 

 

Deaths in low-risk diagnosis groups  0.7 0.6  
Decubitus Ulcer  28.2 41.2  
Deaths after Surgery  119 84.6  
Infections associated with central line   0.3 0.1  
Postoperative hip fracture   0.1 0.1  
Postoperative Haemorrhage or Haematoma  0.3 0.5  
Postoperative Physiologic and Metabolic 
Derangement  0.1 0.2  

Postoperative respiratory failure  0.0 0.9  
Postoperative pulmonary embolism or deep 
vein thrombosis  0.7 1.7  

Postoperative sepsis  4.7 7.1  
Postoperative wound dehiscence  0.0 0.9  
Accidental puncture or laceration  0.9 1.1  
Obstetric trauma - vaginal delivery with 
instrument 123.8 87.9  

Obstetric trauma - vaginal delivery without 
instrument  40.9 40.4  

Obstetric trauma - caesarean delivery 1.7 3.9  
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Patient Experience  

Friends & Family Test 
NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
 
The Friends and Family test has been introduced to collect Patient feedback by 
asking “How likely are you to recommend our ward, department or service to your 
friends and family if they needed similar care or treatment?” The Trust performance 
is reported to the Trust board monthly.  
 
We pledged to ensure that we would improve the in Friends & Family Test and 
response rates by a further 5% on the national trajectory. We have achieved this for 
in the Inpatient and A&E scores but need to do more in Maternity services to improve 
this. 
 

 

 
 
 
We also pledged to see improvement in patient experience score and net promoter 
score. The net promoter score has been removed as a measure, and been replaced 
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by the percentage recommended. We have achieved this for in the Inpatient and 
A&E scores but need to do more in Maternity services to improve the response rate. 
 
National Benchmarking demonstrates 
Inpatient Friends and Family test 
Friends and Family Inpatient response rate Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15 
THFT response rate 46.06 54.85% 62.41% 60.56% 
Rank 26th  13th  8th  14th  
Worst performing trust  6.36% 18.87% 4.19% 20.83% 
Best performing Trust  100% 100% 100% 94.12% 
England average 33.9% 36.1% 40.1% 45.1% 
Friends and Family Inpatient percentage recommended     
THFT percentage recommended 95% 94% 93% 95% 
Rank 98th 125th 133rd 106th  
Worst performing trust  78% 51% 82% 78% 
Best performing Trust  100% 100% 100% 100% 
England average 95% 94% 95% 95% 
Accident and Emergency Friends and Family test 
Friends and Family A&E response rate Dec 14 Jan 15 Feb 15 Mar 15 
THFT response rate 16.8% 23.4% 37.7% 43.8% 
Rank 74th  41st 7th  5th 
Worst performing trust  2.2% 3.2% 1.6% 1.8% 
Best performing Trust  41.9% 53.9% 47.3% 53.8% 
England average 18.1% 20.1% 21.2% 22.9% 
Friends and Family A&E percentage recommended      
THFT percentage recommended 78% 88% 85% 84% 
Rank 124th  107th  75th 101st  
Worst performing trust  54% 55% 53% 58% 
Best performing Trust  100% 98% 98% 99% 
England average 86% 88% 88% 87% 
 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because of the assertive improvement programme implemented in place and the 
Care and Treatment provided by the Trust being provided to the standards expected 
more consistently.  
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services through the continued 
implementation of its integrated Action Plan and its constituent actions agreed with 
key stakeholders and progress monitored by the Trust Board.   
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Complaints and Concerns Monitoring 

 

The percentage of total cases closed within an agreed time or negotiated extension 
of time frame is 92%, at the end of March 2015.  
We have redesigned the complaints and PALS service and process. Two separate 
Complaints and PALS processes have been integrated to ensure a patient and 
service focus with transparent comprehensive investigation and timely response. 
The aim was to ensure that the leadership and infrastructure was strengthened to 
ensure divisional engagement, teaching and outreach into core services rather than 
a Trust centrally based service. 

• We have significantly reduced the historical ‘backlog’ of complaints.  
• We ensure real time response management of complaints and concerns when 

possible.  
• Candour is continually shown.   
• Some complaints do take longer because we get a thorough independent 

view. We use independent third party clinical experts to inform decisions.   
• All complaints are triaged for harm and aligned, if applicable to the SI and 

escalated investigation process.  
• We have significantly increased face to face resolution meetings and these 

are recorded and a CD issued as a record of the meeting for complainants to 
keep.  

• We offer redress for harm in line with the PHSO redress principles.  
• Learning is integrated into the Governance Process across the organisation. 

This has seen our responsiveness to concerns and complaints increase as 
demonstrated below 
 

 
And the backlog of ongoing cases reduce. 

NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
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We pledged to reduce the number of complaints per 1000 patient contacts to below 
1.15. We have achieved this whilst seeing an increased number of complaints in the 
year. We have achieved this in 2014/15.   

 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

Number of complaints received 403 450 532 

Complaints per 1000 patient contacts 
across the Trust 1.15 0.95 1.11 

 

Month  Apr 
14 

May 
14 

Jun 
14 

Jul 
14 

Aug 
14 

Sep 
14 

Oct 
14 

Nov 
14 

Dec 
15 

Jan 
15 

Feb 
15 

Mar 
15 

Complaints per 
1000 contacts 1.03 1.11 1.08 1.25 0.94 1.29 1.11 1.25 1.07 1.03 0.85 1.17 

 
Compliments  
We pledged to increase in the number of recorded compliments per 1000 patient 
contacts by 25% above current baseline.  The baseline position was very low as 
these were not consistently captured.    
 
We have in Quarter 4 developed a more robust method of capturing this data and 
the compliments recorded for the last quarter have demonstrated that we have 
achieved this pledge. 

 
Activity reported Jan 

2015 Feb 2015 Mar 2015 

Number of compliments received 324 353 372 

Compliments per 1000 patient contacts across 
the Trust 7.97 9.13 8.73 

Compliments to complaints ratio 7.71 10.70 7.44 
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In 2014/15 the Trust will aim to reduce further the rate of complaints received and 
improve the percentage of responses provided within an agreed timeframe whilst 
maintaining the low rate of comeback letters, and improving the Compliments to 
complaints ratio. 
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First Friday Walkrounds 

We pledged to see improvement in in results of the First Friday feedback. 

1st Friday is an initiative under the Trust’s strategy – Everyone Matters, Patients, 
Family and Carers at the heart of everything we do. 
The aim of the initiative is to seek, first-hand the experience of our patients; this in 
turn should enable staff to do their jobs better; and the Trust to: 
 

• Have a better understanding of the needs & priorities; 
• Make better decisions; 
• Design services that reflect the needs of users; 
• Provide services that are efficient, effective and more accessible; and 
• Experience less conflict and adverse media attention as there is an increase 

in user satisfaction.  
 
First Friday is one element of the assurance process around direct patient feedback 
and is triangulated with other information sources to ensure the improvements are 
monitored and captured, and any concerns identified and addressed.  
 
The feedback from these has seen a reduction in negative feedback over the year 
relating to the environment. Patients have provided positive feedback about the care 
provided and staff feedback has been positive. Both have supported the process,  
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Responsiveness to the patients personal needs 
NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
 
The results of the 2014 In-patient Survey are based on responses from patients 
discharged in July and August 2014. We believe this will act as a good baseline for 
monitoring improvement in future years and impact of the improvement programme 
commenced following the Keogh review and reviewed after the CQC Chief Inspector 
of hospitals review published in July 2014. 
 
The 2014 in patient survey results were disappointing as whilst they show areas of 
improvement from previous years scores they also demonstrate that other Trusts 
nationally have also improved and so there are three areas where the scores 
received identify that we have scored worse than other trusts nationally. These are 
shown in the table below. All other areas are identified as “about the same” when 
compared to other Trusts. 
 
Section  2013 Survey 2014 survey 

The A&E department About the same About the same 
Waiting list and Planned admissions About the same About the same 
Waiting to get a bed on a ward  About the same Worse 
The Hospital and Ward  About the same About the same 
Doctors  About the same Worse 
Nurses About the same About the same 
Care and Treatment About the same About the same 
Operations and procedures About the same About the same 
Leaving Hospital About the same About the same 
Overall view and experience About the same Worse 

 
The survey highlights that we have still a lot of work to do specifically in relation to 
our admission and discharge processes and our communication processes. These 
have all featured in the improvement work programmes undertaken in 2014/15, and 
are monitored through our internal inpatient survey monitoring process.  
 
Benchmarking scores  
NHS England provides benchmarking scores which are demonstrated below for the 
Trust.  
 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 
Tameside 69.3 73.7 75.2 72.2 
England Average score 75.6 76.5 76.9 76.6 
Greater Manchester Average score 75.8 77.0 77.5 77.0 
Ranking in Greater Manchester hospitals  10th 8th 7th 9th 
 
NHS England provide the following explanation of the scores  
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The scores are out of 100. A higher score indicates better performance: if patients 
reported all aspects of their care as "very good" we would expect a score of about 
80, a score around 60 indicates "good" patient experience. The overall score is the 
average of the domain scores.   
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards it aspires to. This was also identified in the CQC Chief 
inspector of Hospitals inspection published in July 2014.  
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the implementation of a 
Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress 
monitored by the Trust board.    
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Impact of Replacing the Trust Patient Administration System 
 
In October 2013 the Trust replaced its previous Patient Administration System with 
the nationally defined Lorenzo Patient Administration System as part of the ambition 
to move towards Electronic Patient Records. Preparatory planning, awareness, 
training and implementation programmes were undertaken to ensure the transition 
occurred. However, post ‘go live’ we identified operational and business processes 
where we experienced implementation challenges and difficulties. This has impacted 
on our reported performance for some requirements which, as a consequence, have 
not been met in 2013/14.  
 
Problems with the Lorenzo software meant that the Trust was unable to report its 
RTT position during the period March 2014 to November 2014. CSC acknowledged 
that the RTT modules of Lorenzo were not fit-for-purpose, had affected all trusts 
using the system, and have subsequently instigated remedial actions.  
 
The update to Lorenzo, which was required in order to better support RTT 
management through Lorenzo, was implemented towards the end of November 
2014.  
 
The Trust has managed to resolve problems with reporting, and has been submitting 
its RTT performance data since December 2014. The Trust is in the process of 
ensuring that patients’ waiting times are managed appropriately and in line with 
national requirements. 
 
It is clear that the change to Lorenzo caused other data quality problems for the 
Trust. A detailed investigation focused on the data supporting mortality performance 
found a number of quality issues, some of which are attributable to the change to 
Lorenzo. The impact of Lorenzo, in this arena, has been greatest in slowing the 
coding process so that data for the most recent periods is less useful for analysis. It 
is also apparent that the recording of patient comorbidities (critical to mortality 
performance) has reduced since the implementation of Lorenzo, though this does 
not appear to be due to any functional limitation of the system, but rather the result of 
a failure to successfully adapt processes to the new system.  
 
The Trust is developing a wide-ranging improvement plan, which will include the 
recommendations of the auditor, in order to rectify the identified data shortcomings.  
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NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury  

 
We pledged to achieve all access standards – we have not achieved this. 
 
Performance against the access standards is reported monthly in the Trust board 
papers. The reported position for March 2015 is shown below 
 

 
 

Referral-to-Treatment Performance Data 
 
The national standards for Referral to Treatment (RTT) waiting times are as follows: 

1. 52-week waits: no patients should wait longer than 52 weeks for treatment 
(measured on an unadjusted basis). 

2. Admitted pathways: 90% of patients (whose treatment required a stay in 
hospital, as an in-patient or day-case) to be treated within 18 weeks of 
referral.   

3. Non-admitted pathways: 95% of patients (whose treatment, or decision not to 
treat, was completed without a hospital stay) within 18 weeks of referral.   

4. Incomplete pathways: 92% of patients who have not yet started treatment 
should have been waiting no more than 18 weeks. 

 
RTT Performance, March 2015 

Specialty 

Non-Admitted 
Performance 
(Target=95%) 

Admitted 
Performance 
(Target=90%) 

Incomplete 
Performance 
(Target=92%) 

In Target 
(Current 
Waiting 
List) 

Breached 
(Current 
Waiting 
List) 

Total 
(Current 
Waiting List) 

General Surgery 91.7% 94.3% 85.58% 1845 311 2156 
Urology 76.9% N/A 89.34% 712 85 797 
Orthopaedics 76.4% 74.5% 74.69% 1774 601 2375 
ENT 90.8% 76.7% 83.93% 919 176 1095 
Ophthalmology 97.7% N/A 97.62% 533 13 546 
Oral Surgery 94.7% 98.3% 92.73% 485 38 523 
Plastic Surgery 100% 100% 96.34% 79 3 82 
CT Surgery 100% N/A 81.82% 18 4 22 
Adult Medicine 88.4% 100% 91.2% 1056 102 1158 
Gastroenterology 68.8% 96.6% 85.42% 756 129 885 
Cardiology 67.3% 90.9% 81.33% 1172 269 1441 
Dermatology 91.9% N/A 94.44% 900 53 953 
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Specialty 

Non-Admitted 
Performance 
(Target=95%) 

Admitted 
Performance 
(Target=90%) 

Incomplete 
Performance 
(Target=92%) 

In Target 
(Current 
Waiting 
List) 

Breached 
(Current 
Waiting 
List) 

Total 
(Current 
Waiting List) 

Rheumatology 78.6% 50% 81.27% 243 56 299 
Gynaecology 94.8% 97.6% 91.38% 763 72 835 
Other 97.1% 56.1% 93.8% 1249 82 1331 

Trust 88.1% 87.1% 86.25% 12504 1994 14498 
 
The Table above shows the Trust’s performance, against the RTT standards for 
March 2015. It illustrates, that the Trust failed all the standards for the month and 
that performance for most specialties did not meet the required standards. However, 
it should be noted that significant progress has been made since December 2014. 

• Performance against the ‘incomplete pathway’ standard has improved steadily 
since December (an average improvement of 2% each month). This standard 
can be viewed as a predictor of future performance (i.e. when this standard is 
met, the other RTT standards will also be achieved). This is a particularly 
important and positive change, and shows that improvements to booking 
processes and waiting-list management are beginning to take effect. 

• Since December 2014, the Trust’s backlog, of patients waiting more than 18 
weeks, has reduced from 3714 to 1994, an overall reduction of 46%.  

• The Trust’s total waiting list has reduced by approximately a quarter since the 
end of December (a reduction of 4311 patients).  

 
52-Week Waits 
The Trust reported 48 patients with waiting times greater than 52 weeks at the end of 
December, 34 at the end of January and 24 at the end of February. At the end of 
March, 9 patients had waiting times greater than 52 weeks. The Trust will ensure 
that all patients with excessive waits for treatment receive their treatment as soon as 
possible. The Trust is also determined to ensure that its patients do not experience 
unnecessarily long waits for treatment in the future. 
 
Tameside RTT Waiting Times Comparison, December 2014 to March 2015 

 
The above chart shows that the Trust has reduced significantly the number of 
patients in all ‘long-wait’ categories in the period since the December data 
submission. 
 
Improvement Plan 
The Trust continues to work to develop a plan to deliver compliance with all RTT 
standards by the end of Quarter 2 2015-16, but believes (given emergency 
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pressures and the challenges in securing sufficient private-sector capacity) that the 
following is more realistic/ probable: 
 
1. Zero 52-week waiters by the end of Quarter 1, 2015-16, but small numbers by April 

2015; 
2. Compliance with the non-admitted standard by the end of Quarter 2, 2015-16; and 
3. Compliance with the admitted and incomplete standards by the end of Quarter 3, 

2015-16. 
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Stroke performance 

The Trust Performance against the national best practice performance indicators for 
patients who have suffered a stroke have been identified in the Trust Board 
performance reports as a concern as we have not been achieving these. The graphs 
below demonstrate this for both Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attacks (TIA). 
 
Stroke Performance 2014/15 

 
 
TIA Performance 2014/15 

 
 
Across Greater Manchester approximately 4000 strokes occur every year. The risk 
of stroke increases with age and the population predictions of an increase in men 
aged 85+(58%), in men aged 75-84 (27%) and in women aged 85+ (21%) over the 
next 10 years would lead to an assumption that the number of patients requiring 
stroke care will increase. Stroke outcomes in the UK nationally compare poorly 
internationally with long lengths of stay and high levels of avoidable disability and 
mortality. Stroke patients presenting out of hours have been less likely to receive 
timely access to best practice care processes, despite improvements in recent years.  
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Based on this clinical evidence a Greater Manchester Integrated Stroke Service 
(GMISS) is being introduced to provide a streamlined pathway of care to allow early 
admittance into specialist services for patients with suspected stroke, followed by 
continuing specialist acute care and rehabilitation, with adequate intensity, for as 
long as the patient benefits, and provide all Greater Manchester residents with 
equitable access to specialist stroke services. 
 
Under these arrangements Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  will operate 
as a District Stroke Centre. We will have the capacity and resource to receive 
patients from our own catchment population to enable service provision 7 days a 
week, for acute and rehabilitation stroke care.  Specialist, seamlessly integrated 
stroke services will consist of an inpatient service and appropriate access to early 
timely supported discharge team and or a community stroke rehabilitation team.  Key 
performance indicators have been agreed with GMISS to assure the quality of the 
service provided. 
 
To implement this The Trust has established an Executive Lead Stroke Strategy 
Group which is focused on improving the performance metrics related to stroke care.  

 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because stroke causes a significant number of deaths across the population and the 
current configuration of services within Greater Manchester is not achieving the best 
clinical outcomes.  
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken or intends to take further the 
following actions to improve this reported performance and so the quality of its 
service by implementing the redesigned stroke pathway across Greater Manchester 
from March 2015. This has resulted in a revised service specification and key 
performance indicators which impact upon the Trust in its role under the new 
arrangement as a District Stroke Centre. A baseline assessment of performance 
against these metrics has been undertaken and the Stroke Strategy Group has been 
established to drive and sustain improvements against these indicators.  
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Cancer indicators - including 62 Day cancer performance  

 

NHS Outcome framework indicators:  
All domains   
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The monitoring of Cancer performance is undertaken by the Trust board through its 
routine reporting process. The performance indicators are set to identify best 
practice minimum standards to ensure that patients receive care and treatment in the 
most effective way. With respect to the Cancer performance criteria we believe that 
this has been achieved in 2014/15. 

 
 

 
 
The Trust aims to maintain compliance with all national and local performance 
standards as identified in the Trust Objectives for 2014/15. 
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Staff Survey Results (including Friends and Family Test) 
NHS Outcome framework 4: Ensuring that people have a positive 
experience of care  
86 questions were asked of participants; the findings of the questionnaire have been 
summarised and presented in the form of 29 Key Findings. We are pleased to report 
that overall, despite a challenging year it is pleasing to note no significant areas of 
deterioration.  
 
The Trust scores breakdown as follows for the 29 key findings:- 
Above Average	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  15  Including 3 in top 20%  (compared to   9 in 2013) 
Average  6     (compared to   5 in 2013) 
Below Average        8  including 2 in lowest 20%  (compared to 14 in 2013) 
 
52% of findings are above average, 21% average and 27% below average 
 
HIGHEST AND LOWEST RANKING SCORES 

HIGHEST RANKING SCORES 
Trust 
Score  
2014 

National 
Average 

Percentage of staff experiencing discrimination at work in 
last 12 months (Lower the better) 8% 11% 

Percentage of staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents 
witnessed in the last month (Higher the better) 93% 90% 

 Staff motivation at work (Higher the better) 3.93 3.86 
 Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or 
abuse from staff in last 12 months (Lower the better) 21% 23% 

 Percentage of staff witnessing potentially harmful errors, 
near misses or incidents in last month (Lower the better) 31% 34% 

 

LOWEST RANKING SCORES 
Trust 
Score  
2014 

National 
Average 

 Percentage of staff working extra hours (Lower the better) 74% 71% 
 Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from 
patients, relatives or the public in last 12 months (Lower the better) 

17% 14% 

Percentage of staff experiencing physical violence from staff 
in last 12 months(Lower the better) 3% 3% 

Percentage of staff having equality and diversity training in 
last 12 months (Higher the better) 54% 63% 

 Percentage of staff receiving health and safety training in 
last 12 months (Higher the better)  73% 77% 
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The Trust benchmarked performance with others demonstrates  
Staff survey Q12d  
The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust 
during the reporting period who would recommend the trust as a 
provider of care to their family or friends 

2013 2014 

Tameside 54% 60% 
Rank 137/160 111/138 
Worst performing trust  40% 38% 
Best performing Trust  94% 89% 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because of the assertive improvement programme implemented including staff 
engagement undertaken in the past year to ensure delivery of Services, Care and 
Treatment and staff support was enabled and was being consistently provided to the 
standards required. 
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the continuation of this a 
Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress 
monitored by the Trust board.   Specifically: 
 
The results of the 2014 survey have been disseminated through the organisation. 
 
Divisional-level engagement and ownership to ensure that the themes identified 
translate to corporate-level intentions into localised actions, with clear monitoring 
through the appropriate Governance groups. 
 
Continued implementation and embedding of the Organisational Development 
Strategy with specific focus on the following areas 
• Leadership Development  
• Embedding of the Trusts values into behaviours visibly demonstrated 

throughout the organisation and through the revise appraisal process  
• Implementation of the Mentoring and Coaching programme 
• Implementation of the Communication and Engagement Strategy 
• Implementation of the Health and Wellbeing Programme 
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Safe Staffing levels 

Staffing levels have been the focus of much attention nationally following the Hard 
Truths report. These have been systematically reported at Trust Board throughout 
the year. The Trust has invested significantly to increase the Nurse staffing levels. 
The graph and table below demonstrate the data that has been presented 
throughout the year and the improvements achieved in the fill rates for day and 
night shifts. 

 
 
 

Percentage	  	  
May-‐
14	  

Jun-‐
14	  

Jul-‐
14	  

Aug-‐
14	  

Sep-‐
14	  

Oct-‐
14	  

Nov-‐
14	  

Dec-‐
14	  

Jan-‐
15	  

Feb-‐
15	  

Mar-‐
15	  

Apr-‐
15	  

Registered	  Nurse	  
percentage	  of	  

shifts	  filled	  –	  DAY	  
89.3	   91.7	   93.5	   93.5	   96.5	   95.5	   95.1	   94.9	   94	   93.7	   97.3	   95	  

Registered	  Nurse	  
percentage	  of	  
shifts	  filled	  -‐	  

NIGHT	  

96.6	   96.4	   97.7	   98.1	   101.3	   97.8	   97.6	   94.4	   96.7	   96.2	   93.6	   97.4	  

Care	  Staff	  
percentage	  of	  
shifts	  filled	  DAY	  

108.8	   112.1	   113.9	   110.3	   116.1	   107.8	   110.2	   114.6	   111.9	   114	   124.4	   119.6	  

Care	  Staff	  
percentage	  of	  

shifts	  filled	  NIGHT	  
116	   119.9	   131.7	   128.2	   133.2	   125.7	   128.1	   130.1	   134	   153	   142.3	   137.7	  
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Patient Environment Action Team Assessments and Cleaning Standards. 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
 
April 2013 saw the introduction of PLACE, which is the new system for assessing the 
quality of the patient environment, replacing the old Patient Environment Action 
Team (PEAT) inspections. 
 
The results of this process are shown below for the four domains which were 
inspected during 2014. 
 

Cleanliness	   Food	   Privacy,	  Dignity	  &	  
Wellbeing	  

Condition,	  Appearance	  
&	  Maintenance	  

	   	   	   	  

91.90%	  

97.25%	  

88.87%	  

88.79%	  

82.78%	  

87.73%	  

86.96%	  

91.97%	  

 
Hospital results shown in BLUE 
National average shown in PURPLE 
 
Of the four domains demonstrated it was found that the Trust was above the national 
average for the quality of food served but that we remained below the national 
average in the three other domains. Work continues to improve the issues identified 
and an action plan has been generated in relation to each of these. 
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Patient Outcomes 

PROMS (Patient Reported Outcome Monitoring) 
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
 
The Trust continues to participate in the Patient Reported Outcome monitoring 
measures identified below. The information provided demonstrates the Trust 
Performance compared to other Trusts and within the expected range in all the 
graphs with The trust identified as the orange dot in the funnel plots.  
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The information provided below is the nationally published year on year comparison 
data of our involvement and benchmarked comparison of pre- and post-operative 
patient questionnaires (a combination of five key criteria concerning patients' self-
reported general health called EQ-5D Index' scores). The EQ5D scores are 
compared to the England average scores in the table below.  
 
A Positive number indicates a net health gain being identified and comparison to the 
England Average is also provided  
      

 Groin Hernia 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Apr – Dec14 
TGH  EQ5D Adjusted Average Health 
Gain 0.375	   0.058	   Sample size 

too small  
Sample size too 

small  
England average  EQ5D Adjusted 
Average Health Gain 0.087	   0.085	   0.085	   0.084	  

Hip Replacement 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Apr – Dec14 
TGH  EQ5D Adjusted Average Health 
Gain 0.074	   0.447	   0.372 0.548 

England average  EQ5D index 
Adjusted Average Health Gain 0.416	   0.437 0.436	   0.449	  

 Knee Replacement  2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Apr – Sept14 
TGH  EQ5D index Adjusted Average 
Health Gain 0.281	   0.295	   0.268 0.272 

England average  EQ5D index 
Adjusted Average Health Gain 0.302 0.318	   0.259	   0.319	  

Varicose Veins 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Apr – Dec14 
TGH  EQ5D index Adjusted Average 
Health Gain 0.095	   0.084	   0.082 Sample size too 

small  
England average  EQ5D index 
Adjusted Average Health Gain 0.095	   0.093	   0.093	   0.102	  

 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that these data are as 
described because of the improvement programme put in place and the 
implementation of care pathways being implemented. 
  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by the continued 
implementation of a Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key 
stakeholders and progress monitored by the Trust board.    
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Advancing Quality Care bundles 
We pledged to improve compliance with clinical care bundles and Advancing Quality 
markers. 
 

Cohort April 
2014 

May 
2014 

June 
2014 

July 
2014 

Aug 
2014 

Sept 
2014 

Oct 
2014 

Nov 
2014 

ACS 
Targe
t 

YTD 

AMI 
 (Acute 
Mycardial 
Infarction) 

91.67% 89.47% 80.0% 79.41% 93.10% 91.67% 63.33% 94.44% 85.9
% 83.87% 

HF (Heart 
Failure) 42.86% 44.0% 50.0% 50.0% 43.75% 38.89% 28.57% 53.85% 70% 48.51% 

CAP  
(Community 
Aquired 
Pneumonia) 

68.89% 80% 70% 67.65% 53.66% 38.46% 59.09% 58.33% 87% 61.96% 

H&K 
(Hip and 
Knee 
replaement) 

80% 84.21% 87% 83.78% 76.92% 69.05% 89.29% 78.57% 87% 81.02% 

Stroke 
 61.41% 71.43% 36.36% 42.42% 63.16% 37.5% 61.9% 29.17% 62.3

% 49.73% 

 
Each identified worsktream has a clinical lead and group that  is overseeing the 
indicator and metrics.  All the workstreams have not achieved the target threshold. 
The table below identifies the elements of the metrics that are currently not being 
achieved and active engagement with clinical teams is being undertaken to ensure 
that these indicators are consistently achieved for all patients  
 
Cohort Measures Failing 

AMI  (Acute Mycardial Infarction) 
• Provision Smoking Cessation Advice 
• Referral to Cardiac Rehabilitiation Team 
• Evaluation of heart function (ECHO) 

HF (Heart Failure) 
• Referral  cardiologist & HFNS 
• Provision of Discharge Instructions 
• Provision Smoking Cessation Advice 

CAP  (Community Aquired 
Pneumonia) 

• Provision Smoking Cessation Advice 
• CURB Score not completed 
• Antbiotics not administerd within 6 hours ED & MAU 

H&K (Hip and Knee replaement) 

• Extended VTE prophylaxis in accordance with Trust 
Policy 

• Timely VTE Prophylaxis 
• Antbiotics within 1 hour surgery  

Stroke • Admission to Stroke Unit within 4 hours of admission 
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Readmission Rates  

 
The Trust Board monitors readmission rates for patients recently discharged from 
hospital as a Quality indicator. The Board performance report monitors 30 day 
readmissions as this is the Quality measure within the contract. The graph below 
demonstrates the performance this year. We are aiming to reduce readmission rates 
from both elective and non-elective patients.  
 
We pledged to see a reduction in 30 day re-admission rates from the current 
baseline of 9.1% to 8.73% (75th percentile). 
 
Re-admission rates 2014/15 

 
 
The Quality Account requires us to benchmark 28 day readmissions, and these are 
set out in the table below 

 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Comparison 
v. National  

Improvement 
Banding  

Age 16+   
Tameside 11.84 12.47 Data not available  Data not available  W D 

Best 
nationally 7.14 0.00 Data not available  Data not available    

Worst 
nationally 12.70 15.11 Data not available  Data not available    

Age 0-15   
Tameside 11.24 11.6 Data not available  Data not available  A5 D 

Best 
nationally 6.26 0.00 Data not available  Data not available    

Worst 
nationally 12.75 14.87 Data not available  Data not available    

Key to The Health and Social Care Information Centre Comparison and improvement bandings 
W = National average lies within expected variation (95% confidence interval); 
D = Some deterioration (not significant) 
A5 = Significantly poorer than the national average at the 95% level but not at the 99.8% level; 
 
Notes: 

• The readmission rate figures are standardised to persons 2006/07 
• Indirectly age, sex, method of admission of discharge spell, diagnosis (ICD 10 chapter/selected sub-

chapters within medical specialties) and procedure (OPCS 4 chapter / selected sub-chapters within 
surgical specialties) standardised rates 

• Ages 16+ 

NHS Outcome framework 3: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  
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• Best and worse readmission rates selected from Trusts classed as “Small acute” or “Small acute or multi 
service categories”. 

• Source: The Health and Social Care Information Centre  
 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust whilst demonstrating 
improvement in year was still not being consistently provided to the standards 
required.  
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by continuing to implement 
and monitor care pathways and ensure they are systematically implemented.  
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Improving Hospital Mortality 

NHS Outcome framework  
1: Preventing People from dying prematurely  
2: Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions   
 
We pledged to see reduction in mortality rates and implementation of a systematic 
review process to levels that are not statistically significant and show a reduction in 
the raw death rate and the implementation of a systematic review process. 
 
The process of undertaking Mortality reviews for all Hospital Deaths was 
commenced in February 2014 under the leadership of the Medical Director to review 
the provision of care for patients who die in the hospital to ensure that if Quality and 
Safety issues were a concern, these were identified at the earliest opportunity and 
that appropriate investigations could be undertaken and lessons learned and shared 
aligned to organisations incident and Governance systems as necessary.   To 
support this process this requirement was included in 2014/15 Local CQUINS 
agreed with the commissioners.  
 
Mortality reviews continue to be systematically undertaken for every death occurring 
in hospital. This process is now embedded into the organisation and will be 
sustained going forward. 
 
The initial reviews within 14 days have systematically been achieved for each month 
for the year. The process of comprehensive MDT reviews and further investigation or 
external review has and is being systematically followed up for each case and results 
reported through the Mortality Steering Group, updates provided to Quality and 
Governance committee and through to Trust Board, and monitored externally by our 
commissioners in the Clinical Commissioning Group and Trust Quality interface 
meeting. 
  
Hospital Risk adjusted mortality indices such as HSMR (Hospital Standardised 
Morality Ratio)  and SHMI (Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator) are routinely 
reported in the Trust Board papers available on the Trust website. The indicators are 
higher than expected. The Trust has taken the following actions to improve these 
indicators, and taken the following steps to reduce mortality: We have  
 

• Maintained an Executive clinically led mortality steering group to review 
intelligence available.  

• Continued to routinely monitor and investigate and understand the areas that 
alert on the mortality indices. 

• Recruited staff with skills to better understand the data and develop the 
capabilities of the clinical divisions to review and analyse the mortality data at 
specialty level in the clinical divisions  

• Commission specific reviews/audits of areas of concern. 
• Develop more care pathways and care bundles to improve standardisation 

and reliability of care delivery. 
• Engaged in a National Audit relating to the evaluation of SHMI and mortality  
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The analysis undertaken and shown in the graph below indicates that that we have a 
reducing raw mortality rate, but an increasing HSMR. We believe this indicates that 
the recorded data used to produce the HSMR and SHMI is not as comprehensive as 
it should be. A detailed work programme has been developed and identified below to 
understand and investigate the identified anomaly. 

 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described 
because the Care and Treatment provided by the Trust was not being consistently 
provided to the standards required or that we are not capturing all the data that 
informs the risk adjusted mortality indices.  
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is taking the following action to further 
improve this indicator and so the quality of its services by implementation of the 
Trust wide improvement programme agreed with key stakeholders and progress 
monitored by the Trust board, and in addition a work programme including: 
Data Quality and Assurance Service  

The Trust is implementing a new Data Quality and Assurance Strategy to help 
support its performance outcomes in clinical measures such as mortality, (namely 
HSMR and SHMI), lengths-of stay and readmission rates etc. As such, key posts 
have been recruited to in recent months to help strengthen the quality data 
collection, translation and reporting. 
 
The detail of the strategy will include processes that have been adopted in other 
organisations to support and improve data quality. The areas that will see new 
support processes detailed below 
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Data Analysis Processes 

The Trust uses Dr Foster as its Clinical Outcomes Information Provider, this suite of 
tools will be used to help monitor and improve performance. The tools are web-
based, contain performance dashboards and allow for easy progress-control 
monitoring at divisional, speciality and individual clinical level. The plan is to 
implement two new monitoring processes a Clinical Outcomes Alert Process and  
Routine Outcomes Analysis Process 
 

Service Review Process 

The Trust’s clinical-coding service provides the key data components used in most 
outcomes-based measures; a review of this service is taking place to assess three 
core coding principles of; is the data timely, of good quality and accurate? This will 
determine whether the current service is ‘fit –for-purpose’. 
 

Clinical Engagement Programme 

The performance and informatics service is planning to deliver a new data and 
clinical engagement programme. This programme is expected to be delivered in 
three stages demonstrated below. 
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The Palliative Care Coding rate compared to the national rate is displayed in the 
table below 
Indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

Tameside Palliative Care coding rate  3.2% 4.8% 3.3% 3.5% 

National Palliative Care coding rate  2.3% 2.6% 3.3% 3.1% 

The Table below demonstrates the current SHMI 
 2012 2013 2014 2014/15 
Tameside 118 112.3 118 BAND 1 
Best Nationally 71 63 60 n/a 
Worst nationally 125 116 120 n/a 

The percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded are:- 
 Jan 12 – Dec 12 April 12 – Mar 13 July 12 – June 13 2014/15 
Tameside 25.0% 24.7% 23.0% 18.5% 
Highest Nationally 42.7% 44.0% 44.1% 49.2% 
Lowest  nationally 0.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
National average 19.4% 20.4% 20.6% 20.6% 
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Improved nutritional care and hydration.  
NHS Outcome framework 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe 
environment and protecting them from avoidable harm.  

We pledged to provide improved care in relation to nutrition and hydration 

The Trust routinely undertakes a nutritional risk assessment for inpatients and this is 
reported to the Trust board. We have achieved and exceeded the standard set 
throughout the year.  

Nutritional Risk Assessments 
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•  
 
Other Important Patient Safety and Effectiveness Indicators 
NHS Outcome framework 3: Helping people to recover from 
episodes of ill health or following injury 

See individual 
indicators below 

 
Patient Safety 

Indicator 
2013/14 

Performance 
2014/15 

Performance 
RAG 

status Commentary 

Failure of the safer-
surgery process 0 0  

 

StEIS Serious 
Incidents reported 48 36  

The number of StEIS reported 
incidents has increased based on the 

agreed threshold with the CCG. 
Therefore this is seen as a positive 

development on 2013/14 
Duty of Candour 
breeches 0 0  

 

Never events 
reported  1 2  

A full root cause analysis 
investigations have been carried out 
into these Never events in line with 

Trust policy and reported through the 
Governance processes to Board. 

Coroners Section 28 
letters 6 8  

The revised Coronial process 
provides the Coroner with the 

opportunity to alert the Trust to issues 
he believes require remedial action to 
address potential concerns that may 

impact on Patient safety. We 
identified in last year report that 

increased numbers of these letters 
were likely to be received 

5.  
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6. Trust Corporate Objectives 2015/16 
 

Objective 
 

 
Key Outcomes 

 
 

1. All patients receive harm 
free care through the 
delivery of the Trust’s 
Patient Safety Programme 

 

• We will continue to build upon and embed the reduction in harm achieved 
in 2014/15 and we will maintain or exceed the end of year position against 
key performance metrics. 

• We will participate in the Haelo Patient Safety Programme and ensure 
external engagement is secured to meet its expressed objectives  

• We will implement and deliver the Trust Safety plan for 2015/16 measuring 
and monitoring safety objectives across the Trust as submitted to Haelo 
and the NHSLA. 

• A speciality level range of safety metrics are developed which will drive 
local quality improvement and measurement.  

• We will develop in partnership with our commissioners and other providers 
and the local authority a system wide metrics for at least two agreed areas 
of harm and collate baseline data for these.  

• We will develop a system for anticipating and predicting potential future 
harm and implement this for at least two of the Patient Safety Patient work 
streams for 2015/16   

 
2. To improve the quality of 

patient care through the 
implementation of the Trust’s 
agreed Quality Strategy. 

 
• We will achieve the identified pledges and measures as stated in the Trust 

Quality Strategy and meet key indicators as attributed to each Quality 
Priority. 

• Each speciality will have developed a suite of Quality metrics which will 
drive local quality improvement and measurement. 

• The Trusts mortality rates will have improved  in line with expected levels. 

• We will further develop our strategy for seven day services and working in 
partnership with other key organisations.  

• Through delivery of the Workforce and HR/OD Strategy we will ensure 
delivery our of Health and Wellbeing and organisational development 
intentions and improve outcomes against our Values and Behaviours. 

• We will review our position against appropriate NICE guidance and Quality 
standards ensuring these are monitored and prioritised  within service 
delivery  

• We will deliver Advancing Quality (AQ) improvement targets. 

 
3. To improve the patient 

experience through a 
personalised, responsive, 
compassionate and caring 
approach to the delivery of 
patient care. 

 

 
There is evidence of an improvement in administration processes which 
support responsiveness to patients and other service users.  
 
This will include: 

• All urgent letters typed and sent within 2 working days. 
• All routine letters typed and sent within 5 working days 
• All areas will have agreed standard operating policies which will  

ensure that compliance is maintained with these standards 
 
We will improve our Friends & Family Test and response rates by a further 5% 
on the national trajectory for each required FFT speciality published. 

We will improve our reported Positive patient experience metrics and intend to 
be in the top 50% of Trusts when benchmarked for each reported FFT 
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Objective 

 

 
Key Outcomes 

 
speciality. 

• We will further reduce the number of KO41 complaints per 1000 patient 
contacts to below 1.15 complaints per 1,000 patient contacts. 

• We will increase in the number of recorded compliments and improve 
the Compliments to KO41 Complaints ratio by 20% from the Q4 
2014/15 baseline. 

• We will continue to undertake First Friday walkrounds to receive 
feedback on patient and staff experience and see on going 
improvement in the feedback provided and reported. 

• We will continue to implement our open and transparent culture around 
the performance of the organisation and our performance against our 
agreed quality and safety metrics and include examples of 
improvement and patient stories. We will publish these on the Trust 
Website in our “Open and honest” publications monthly  

• We will continue through feedback questionnaires and other systems 
to understand what our patients and key stakeholders are telling us 
about the Trust’s Quality of service provision and reputation. We will 
report on this through published performance in the “Open and Honest” 
publications and it visibility through the NHS choices star ratings. 

 
 

4. To foster a continuous 
quality improvement culture 
which promotes patient 
quality, safety, 
personalised and effective 
care. 

 

 
There is evidence of a service Transformation Strategy which will focus on 
improving responsiveness to patients and support the more effective use of 
resources.  
 
The Strategy will support the delivery of: 

• A reduction in DNA rates in Outpatients from 11% to 7.5%. 
• Appointment dates will be agreed in advance with 90% of patients 

before an appointment is provided.  
• The utilisation of slots in clinics will improve from 73% to 90%  
• All day case and inpatients being offered a choice of date for their 

treatment.  
• A reduction of cancellations of surgery on the day from 1.1% to 0.8%  

 
Redesign across the Heart Disease Pathway in collaboration with health, social 
care and third sector partners will continue.  The outcome being a pathway 
which delivers safe and effective care.  
 
Develop an internal engagement and service improvement programme 
delivered at Departmental level, which listens to staff and empowers staff to act 
and along with an implementation plan ensure: 
 

- There is evidence of employee engagement with the Trust’s 
Transformation agenda – evidenced through NHS Staff Survey results 
– aim to be best 20% for staff engagement scores 

 
- There is continued improvement with staff engagement evidenced 

through NHS Staff survey results at Trust and Divisional Levels 
 
Through the new Appraisal process Board to ward objectives are realised and 
evidenced – evidenced within the Staff Survey results – aim for above 
average/best 20% compared with national average. 
 
Continuation of the Leadership Development and coaching programmes to 
develop a distributed leadership model – evidenced through NHS Staff Survey 
scores – best 20% 
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Objective 

 

 
Key Outcomes 

 
Development of a Learning & Development Strategy for Health Care Support 
workers in bands 1-4.  
 
Achievement and maintenance of Mandatory Training Compliance 95% 
 
Embedding of Trust Values and Behaviours through new  Appraisal process. 
Completion of Appraisals within new Appraisal window and compliance with the 
95% target 
 
Launch Trust Workforce Health & Wellbeing Policy -  Improvement in 
Attendance levels – achievement of Trust target 3.5%  
 
Evidence of improvement in the quality and safety of the Trust’s service 
provision through the implementation of the Trust’s Quality Strategy, evidenced 
through improved safety and quality metrics  
 

 
5. To develop a Strategic Plan 

which will secure clinical and 
financial sustainability for the 
trust in collaboration with its 
strategic partners, and key 
stakeholders. 

 
There will be evidence of further development of the 7 day services Strategy.  
 
To develop a workforce strategy which ensures our workforce requirements 
support new ways of working, builds skills and capabilities so staff are 
equipped to deliver community and hospital service delivery  
 
To support and encourage team working across boundaries to enable better 
integration and enhance the working experience of staff so they are able to 
provide truly integrated services  
 
In pursuing our strategy of integrated care, we will collaborate with 
commissioners, social care, GPs and other healthcare providers to expand 
patient access to health care, improve care coordination, and achieve the triple 
aims of improved health outcomes (quality), lower total healthcare costs and 
increased patient satisfaction. 
 
An agreed clinical model for the delivery of an Integrated Care Service, is 
endorsed by system stakeholders i.e. CCG, LA and the Trust, which is deemed 
financially and clinically sustainable. 
 
An organisational vehicle, for the delivery of an Integrated Care Model, is 
agreed. 
 
Engagement/consultation process is agreed with the Trust’s commissioners. 
 
There is evidence of a clear acute network plan which secures sustainability for 
the Trust’s future service strategy. 
 
There is evidence of an agreed implementation plan for the delivery of 
Integrated Care and acute service strategy for year 1. 
 
An engagement strategy is agreed, for the development of secure partnership 
relationships, which includes the third sector. 
 
 

 
6. To work with our partners, 

stakeholders and the 
community to deliver more 
effective safe, high quality, 
effective care. 

 
To further develop the Governors bi-monthly training programme ensuring 
alignment with current regulatory requirements and regional and Local Health 
Economy issues. 
 
Enhance membership engagement by implementing a fit for purpose electronic 
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Objective 

 

 
Key Outcomes 

 
membership engagement platform.  
 
Enhance membership engagement by establishing a quarterly programme of 
health related seminars beginning with “living with diabetes” scheduled for 9 
May 2015. 
 
Plan and deliver 2015 Open Day in September 2015 – the theme is “Tameside 
Hospital at the Heart of the Community”.  Work with CVAT and voluntary 
groups in the planning and delivery of the open day. 
 
Develop links and build relationships with third sector partners. 
 
Deliver the Health and Wellbeing programme - Making Every Contact Counts 
(MECC) in partnership with TMBC 
 
Continue to develop an open and transparent culture around the performance 
of the organisation with respect to the Trust’s performance against its agreed 
quality and safety metrics – for example If in Doubt Campaigns, Executive walk 
rounds, First Friday. 
 
To develop an engagement strategy to further enhance relationships within 
Primary Care; this will be evidenced through increased joint education events, 
wider use of social media and specific specialty/topic engagement 
activities/events.  
 
 

 
7. To deliver against the 

required local and national 
frameworks, and to put in 
place arrangements to secure 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in it use of 
resources, in order to meet all 
the requirements of the 
Trust’s operating licence and 
the commissioners’ 
requirements. 

 
Compliance with all national and local performance standards is achieved: 
 

• Delivery of all CQUIN targets 
• Delivery of commissioners agreed contract and quality plans 
• All NICE guidelines are considered and implemented into the Trust 

Quality Plan 
• Financial and CIP plans are delivered against agreed improvement 

trajectories 
• Key performance metrics/standards are delivered in accordance with 

national requirements 
• The Trust’s improvement trajectories, for the following standards, are 

met: 
o Referral-to-Treatment A&E Stroke Services 

• The Trust’s information Quality Assurance Improvement plan is 
delivered and improvements are secured in performance data in the 
following areas: 

! Mortality  
! Length-of-stay 
! Readmissions  
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7. Comments from Other 
Agencies on the 2014/15 Quality 
Account 
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8.  

Statement from Tameside and Glossop CCG  
 

Statement of opinion of the quality of services provided at Tameside Hospital 
Foundation Trust for draft Quality account 14/15 

 
Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) welcome the opportunity 
to comment on the quality of services provided by Tameside Hospital Foundation 
Trust. Over the past year, together with other strategic partners, we have worked 
with the executive team to support the delivery of quality and patient safety 
improvements within the trusts services and to progress the improvement journey 
the trust have been on since the publication of the Keogh review in July 13. 
Following CQC inspection in 2014, improvement plans for the trust focussed on care 
risks associated with the emergency and medical pathway, effective leadership, 
quality and performance management, organisational culture, staff engagement and 
patient and public involvement. Through quality meetings, the quality oversight group 
and CCG Governing body meetings, the CCG have maintained oversight of the 
improvement journey of the Trust to ensure safe, effective services that listen to 
patients and their families. 
 
Patient safety 
 
Within the quality account, the trust outlines how they have worked towards 
improvements in patient safety, implementing harm free care initiatives, such as 
reduction in acquired pressure ulcers, and implementation of a new early warning of 
the deteriorating patient scoring system, to alert when further support from staff may 
be needed for individuals. 
In  the latter part of the year the trust have seen a marked decrease in the number of 
healthcare acquired infections through rigorous root cause analysis and embedding 
the learning in practice, this coupled with a new antibiotic policy being implemented 
and investment in the hospital environment have contributed to the improvement. 
The Trust is signed up to the national Sign Up to safety and Haelo Making safety 
Visible campaigns in collaboration with The CCG , both initiatives support quality 
improvement and patient safety by supporting quality improvement methodology and 
embedding research evidence. 
 
The Trust have also worked towards embedding a culture of transparency and 
encouraged staff to report safety incidents, there has been a considerable rise in the 
number of incidents reported by the Trust which is welcomed by The CCG. 
 
Patient experience 
 
The Trust has worked hard to increase both response rates and promoter scores for 
the national Friends and Family Test and have seen a considerable increase in both 
in all areas. 
Maternity Friends and Family remains a challenge, but there are clear plans in place 
to ensure improvements in this area. The Trust has also invested in resource and 
infrastructure to improve timeliness of response to complaints and the quality of 
those responses. The Trust has also brought independent complaints managers in to 
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deal with the most complex complaints which demonstrates commitment to learning 
lessons and resolving issues in a robust manner. All learning from incidents and 
complaints is presented to both the Trust Board and CCG in the form of an 
aggregated learning report to ensure that themes and trends are addressed. 
 
The Trust has also recorded many patient stories that they use in training staff and in 
informing their governance groups. 
 
Improved Quality of Patient Care 
 
The Trust has increased their participation in both national and local clinical audits, 
learning from which is shared with the CCG. 
 
Throughout the year, the Trust has concentrated on improving clinical 
communications. There are still difficulties with the timeliness and quality of 
information in transfer of care summaries, but a multi-agency working group has 
been established, including GPs and CCG representation to drive improvements. 
Progress is being made in this area, but will need to continue to be a focus of 
improvement in 2015/16. 
 
Though mortality rates at the trust have remained above average in the past year, a 
robust mechanism of reviewing all deaths to examine unavoidability has continued 
and will continue to be implemented. The Trust is now looking to improve their 
clinical coding in relation to mortality to ensure that robust data supports 
improvement in this area. 
 
Safeguarding 
 
The Trust has robust safeguarding processes in place for both children and adults 
and has made major improvements in adult safeguarding training and competence 
with their staff. The Trust have also implemented PREVENT training and are one of 
the best performing provider trusts in Greater Manchester in this area. 
 
CQUIN Performance 
 
Tameside & Glossop CCG were particularly pleased with how the Trust engaged in 
CQUINs during 14/15. Many of the CQUINs were integrated with other providers and 
required the Trust to be outward facing and innovative across patient journeys. The 
Trust gained to be inserted when finalised % of the CQUIN payment for the year. 
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Staffing and Culture 
 
The Trust has heavily invested in staff at a senior level and has strengthened both 
clinical and managerial leadership. The Trust has also invested in medical and 
nursing staffing to meet safe care requirements. 
In addition the trust have supported clinical and non-clinical leaders in a 
development programme to enhance their skills, the Trust have implemented a ward 
accreditation scheme and support for health care assistants. 
 
Areas for improvement 15/16 
 
Tameside & Glossop CCG will be working with the Trust to continue to support all 
aspects of their improvement journey. Some specific areas that the CCG will focus 
on are: 
Stroke performance and the quality of the patient experience in this area, mortality, 
clinical communication, referral to treatment times and delayed transfer of care. 
 
In conclusion Tameside & Glossop CCG feel the Trust has demonstrated their 
commitment to embedding an honest and open culture within the organisation. We 
recognise the significant journey the Trust is on to improve the care and treatment 
they provide. The Trust has taken meaningful steps to put patient safety and patient 
experience at the heart of the organisation. The CCG will continue to support the 
Trust and assure that the improvement journey continues and that the trust provides 
safe, effective compassionate care to our population. 
 

Statement from the Healthwatch  
 
Healthwatch Tameside response to Tameside Hospital draft Quality Account 2014/15 

Healthwatch Tameside welcomes this opportunity to respond to the draft quality account 
produced by Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. It should be noted that this 
response is to the draft account which was still missing data in some key areas. 

During 2014/15 we have had a significant involvement in considering quality and patient 
experience at Tameside Hospital. This includes: 

• Regular meetings between the hospital’s Chief Executive and our Chair, Chief 
Officer and Manager. 

• Membership of the NHS England/Monitor Quality Oversight Group which has sought 
assurances about the implementation and impact of the hospital’s improvement 
plans. 

• Direct liaison with senior hospital executives when concerns have been raised with 
us by members of the public. 

• Membership of the hospital’s Patient Experience Group. 
• Undertaking and reporting on Enter and View visits to the hospital. 
• Encouraging the public to post stories (positive and negative experiences of care in 

the hospital) on the Patient Opinion online platform and monitoring the responses 
to these stories. 
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• Membership of Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group’s Quality 
Committee – where the quality of delivery for local NHS contracts is discussed. 

Part One of the Draft Quality Account 

We are pleased that the Chief Executive’s Overview to the quality account includes the 
need to ‘grasp the opportunities afforded by integrated working’. NHS, social care and 
other services are increasingly working together and the recent Devolution Manchester 
agreement looks set to continue and increase the pace of joint working initiatives. We 
know that the local population values the fact that we have a hospital in Tameside. We 
feel that the hospital has a strong role to play as local services change and develop – and 
that the hospital must also change and develop (with a continued eye on quality) to 
ensure that it has a valuable and valued role to play in the new landscape of care and 
support. 

We recognise much in the Chief Executive’s Overview. She describes activities that we 
have been involved in or informed about during the year.  We feel that, under its new 
leadership, the hospital has genuinely wanted to be open, honest and held to account for 
its work around improving quality. 

Part Two of the Draft Quality Account 

We are pleased to see the delivery of a patient safety programme as the first priority 
listed for 2014/15. We believe that every patient expects and deserves safe (and 
effective) care. Whilst every care provider and every care worker will have safety in mind 
at all times, throwing a deliberate spotlight on safety affords an opportunity for everyone 
to reflect on what they can do better. 

We are also pleased to see the improvement of administration processes (especially 
communications with patients) as a priority. We know that implementation of the patient 
administration IT system has led to a number of significant challenges. We expressed 
concerns in our response to last year’s draft Quality Account because we felt that it was 
too soon at that point to be assured that the problems had been resolved. Our concern 
turned out to be justified as further work has been needed this year. Our current main 
concerns from the patients’ perspective relate to communications about appointments and 
also the challenges the system has created in terms of managing waiting times. We 
understand from our work with primary care clinicians that they have also experienced 
some other communication difficulties which have caused them significant concern. We 
would hope that improvements to administration processes will also address this. We 
expect that work in this area will continue in the spirit of partnership and collaboration 
which we have witnessed through 2014/15. 

We are concerned that the data table referring to the hospital’s participation in eligible 
audits and confidential enquiries was ‘being finalised’ in the copy of the Draft Quality 
Account we received. We are therefore unable to comment on it. 

We undertook a series of ‘Enter and View’ visits in the hospital in 2014/15. We were 
pleased that the staff on the wards we visited made us feel much more welcomed and 
valued our independent insight, compared with when our predecessor (the LINk) last 
visited. We produced a comprehensive report which found that many of the areas the LINk 
had previously looked at (based on concerns raised by local people) had been addressed 
and improvements made. We did have some areas where we felt further improvements 
were needed. The hospital responded positively to our report and outlined the actions 
they intended to take to address the issues raised. We have seen evidence that some 
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actions have been completed and we are working with the hospital to monitor progress on 
the remaining actions. 

Part Three of the Draft Quality Account 

We are pleased that the hospital has reviewed and changed its incident reporting systems 
and processes. Back in 2010 the LINk held a public meeting asking people to tell of their 
experiences of care at the hospital. At that meeting a number of experiences were 
collected which were serious incidents but appeared not to have been reported by the 
hospital through appropriate NHS channels. Through our seat on the CCG Quality 
Committee we now have assurance that similar instances would be reported, investigated 
and learnt from. We feel this is a positive step forwards for care of the local population. 

We are also pleased that the hospital has taken the step to investigate every in-hospital 
death. The statistical indicators of mortality at the hospital have been high ever since the 
LINk started looking at them in 2009. Although statistical indicators can provide some 
insight, we feel that mortality reviews like the ones the hospital undertakes are very 
important in terms of improving the care of patients. Understanding the causes of every 
death in the hospital enables the care each patient received to be examined and changes 
to be made to future patients’ care if appropriate. 

We welcome the hospital’s development of aggregated learning reports which bring 
together learning from complaints, incidents, safeguarding and coroner’s processes. We 
would welcome an opportunity to discuss how the data that Healthwatch collects can be 
added to these. 

We understand that infection prevention and control is a complex but highly important 
topic. We share the hospital’s frustration that they have not been able to meet the ‘zero 
tolerance’ target for MRSA despite their efforts. We know, through our role on the CCG’s 
Quality Committee, that effective infection control requires partnership working across 
hospital, community health and primary care services. We encourage the hospital to play 
an active role in this partnership working. 

We note that the hospital reports that 92% of complaints are closed within an agreed 
timescale (or within an agreed extension to it). The chart showing ‘time to manage 
complaints and concerns’ doesn’t appear to include complaints that have taken more than 
26 days to close. Through our ‘Help with NHS Complaints’ service, we know that for some 
people complaints do take longer than 26 days to resolve (often with good reason). We 
would welcome publication of this data in next year’s Quality Account – perhaps with a 
summary of reasons for the complaints taking longer to close. We would also welcome 
data to help us to understand the proportion of complainants who were satisfied with the 
resolution when their complaint case is closed by the hospital. 

We feel that the hospital’s commitment to getting an independent view as part of some 
complaints is a positive sign of their commitment to openness. We have met the 
responsible Director for complaints within the Trust and we feel assured that he is 
committed to an open and fair complaints process that leads to improvements and 
learning in the hospital as well as any specific resolution a complainant might seek. 

The draft quality account we received did not include data from the National Inpatient 
Survey as it had not been published. The data became available to the public during the 
time we had to make comments. This suggests that performance has deteriorated 
(compared with other hospitals) in the following three areas: 
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• Waiting to get a bed on a ward 
• Doctors 
• Overall experience 

Although this is based on a relatively small number of responses (320 patients) we think it 
highlights areas for further investigation. We would be happy to share any data we may 
have with the hospital to help them to understand why patients may have given these 
responses in the survey. 

We mentioned the hospital’s IT system (Patient Administration System) in our response to 
last year’s quality account and also in our response to Part Two of this year’s account (see 
above). We know that much has been and is being done by the hospital to resolve 
problems and that they are not the only hospital to be experiencing problems relating to 
this IT system. We understand that the system had been approved by the Department of 
Health/NHS England before the hospital made the decision to start using it – we wonder 
whether sufficient tests were made and assurances received by the national bodies before 
approval was given. We also wonder whether the project management process within the 
hospital was sufficiently robust at the time the system was installed and implemented. 
Some of the assurances we have received as part of the improvement work around the IT 
system suggest that staff training and compliance with protocols and procedures at the 
time of implementation were somewhat lacking. We are concerned that this IT system and 
the way that is being used are still not providing the best they can and should for our local 
population. This is why we welcome further action around it in the 2015/16 priorities 
stated in this draft quality account. 

The draft quality account indicates that referral to treatment times (waiting times) were 
not being effectively tracked by the new IT system. We have seen data indicating that the 
hospital has taken significant steps to rectify this recently and to reduce the backlog of 
patients waiting a long time for treatment. We are informed that all patients with longer 
waits than planned have had their care reviewed, that progress is being made to ensure 
that they get their treatment swiftly and have had communication from the hospital. 

We recognise that the hospital exceeds the national 90% target for nutritional risk 
assessments for patients but we are concerned that there seems to be significant monthly 
variation in this (between c. 91.5% and 100%). We would like to understand more about 
why there is this variation and what the potential impact on patient safety and wellbeing 
might be. 

Our overall view 

We feel that the hospital leaders have a genuine desire to be open, honest and held to 
account for the quality of care in their hospital. We feel that this culture is cascading 
through the organisation, helped by a revised and shared set of values. We know from our 
work that the hospital faces significant challenges (including continual pressure on A&E) 
but that it has a workforce who are widely recognised as caring and hard working. 

We feel that the past 18 months have seen some significant progress in quality, safety and 
patient experience but that there is room for further improvements. We are reassured 
that the hospital’s leadership share the view that more needs to be done. We are 
committed to being the local ‘consumer champion’ in this processes – ensuring that 
patient experiences are heard and learnt from and also providing the local population with 
some assurance that they are represented independently in key conversations where the 
hospital is challenged and held to account where appropriate. 
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Next Steps 

At the time of writing this response, we are awaiting the outcome from a recent Care 
Quality Commission inspection at the hospital. Until this is known (and the impact it will 
have on Monitor’s imposition of Special Measures) it is difficult to understand what truly 
lies ahead for the hospital. Like other local partners we believe that there is a place for 
an effective local hospital in Tameside and we support the spirit of collaboration and 
partnership working to achieve the best health outcomes for our local population. 

We find our role on the NHS England/Monitor Quality Oversight Group is a valuable way 
not only to receive evidence of change and robust assurance about quality in the hospital 
but also to use the insight Healthwatch collects to check that patient feedback correlates 
with this other data. It is possible that this group will be disbanded if the hospital is 
removed from Special Measures by Monitor. In these circumstances we would welcome its 
replacement by a process that allows for similar open dialogue between key partners 
(including Healthwatch). 

Although routine activities like surveys and the Friends and Family Test are good ways to 
gather patient feedback there are other valuable ways of listening to patients and their 
families. We would welcome an opportunity to discuss with the hospital how they could 
build on the Tameside Listens initiative which ended during 2014 – so they can engage 
more widely with and listen to the local population. 

Tameside Healthwatch  

19th May 2015 
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Statement from the Council of Governors  
The Governors acknowledge the significant improvements and changes that have 
been made in the Trust during the year that have built on those which were started 
after the Keogh review. We like the Trust recognise that there are still further 
improvements to be made, and are confident that under the current leadership these 
will be achieved.  
The Council of Governors receive regular Quality Report updates and debate quality 
issues with Trust Board members at the Council of Governors meetings. 
Against the prescribed criterion I am happy that the Quality Account is representative, is 
a comprehensive coverage of services and to the best of my knowledge provides a 
balanced account of the activities the Trust has undertaken in 2014/15.  

Statement from Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
It is encouraging to note that the dedication and hard work by Members of Staff at all 
levels, the Senior Management Team and the Board at Tameside Hospital is 
continuing to improve the care of, and service to, patients at the hospital.  
Whilst it is clear that there are still areas to be further addressed, it is accepted that 
considerable efforts are ongoing to ensure sustainable ongoing improvement. 
The improvements are a testament to the determination to change the historic 
perceptions of Tameside Hospital and I support the initiatives being taken to 
encourage patient confidence in the services provided. 
Executive Member - Adult Social Care & Wellbeing 
Tameside MBC 

Auditor Assurance Report 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF TAMESIDE 
HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ON THE QUALITY REPORT  

We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust to 
perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2015 (the ‘Quality Report’) and certain 
performance indicators contained therein.  

Scope and subject matter 

The indicator for the year ended 31 March 2015 subject to limited assurance is the following national 
priority indicator:  

! Maximum waiting time of 62 days from urgent GP referral to first treatment for all cancers. 

The scope of our review covered a second indicator ‘percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 
weeks for patients on incomplete pathways at the end of the reporting period.’   The Trust have not 
been able to report data for the period from April 2014 to November 2014 relating to this indicator 
due to issues with the Trust’s electronic patient administration system.   In addition, our testing of the 
data provided for the period from December 2014 to March 2015 in support of the indicator found 
that incorrect start or stop dates had been recorded by the Trust.  As a consequence we are unable 
to conclude on the completeness and accuracy of this indicator included in the published Quality 
Report and have excluded this indicator from the scope of our limited assurance review. 

We refer to the remaining national priority indicator ‘Maximum waiting time of 62 days from urgent 
GP referral to first treatment for all cancers’ as ‘the indicator’.  
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Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors  

The directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance 
with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor.  

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether 
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:  

! the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;  

! the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the 
Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on Quality Reports 2014/15 (‘the Guidance’); and  

! the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited assurance in 
the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the 
Guidance.  

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any material omissions.  

We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is materially 
inconsistent with:  

! board minutes for the period April 2014 to March 2015;  

! papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2014 to March 2015; 

! feedback from Commissioners, dated May 2015 

! feedback from governors, dated May 2015 

! the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 21 May 2015;  

! the national patient survey 2014; 

! the national staff survey 2014; 

! the latest Care Quality Commission Intelligent Monitoring Report, dated December 2014; and 

! the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment, dated 14 April 
2015. 

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the ‘documents’). Our responsibilities do 
not extend to any other information.  

We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team comprised 
assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts. 

This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in reporting 
the NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We permit the disclosure of 
this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015, to enable the Council of 
Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning 
an independent assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a 
body and Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report, except where terms 
are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.  

Assurance work performed  

We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of 
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Historical Financial Information’, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 
(‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance procedures included:  

! evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing and 
reporting the indicator  

! making enquiries of management  

! testing key management controls   

! limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to supporting 
documentation  

! comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual to 
the categories reported in the Quality Report.  

! reading the documents.  

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The 
nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately 
limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement. 

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial 
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining 
such information. 

The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of 
different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different 
measurements and can affect comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may 
also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the 
measurement criteria and the precision of these criteria, may change over time. It is important to 
read the quality report in the context of the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual.  

The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-mandated 
indicators, which have been determined locally by Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. 

Conclusion  

Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe 
that, for the year ended 31 March 2015:  

! the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;  

! the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the 
Guidance; and  

! the indicator in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance has not been reasonably stated in 
all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and 
the six dimensions of data quality set out in the Guidance.  

 

KPMG LLP  

Chartered Accountants 

Manchester  

28 May 2015 
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Financial Statements 

  

Overview 
 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is in its seventh full year of operating as an NHS 
Foundation Trust. The Trust submitted a two year Financial Recovery Plan to Monitor, its 
independent regulator, reporting a normalized deficit in 2010/11 of £1.19m. The financial 
year 2012/13 was the second year of the recovery plan and the Foundation Trust delivered 
a surplus against this plan, and delivered a surplus, however the Financial Risk Rating (FRR) 
remained at a level 2, which meant that the Trust remained in breach of its terms of 
authorization. In 2013/14 the Trust had planned to achieve a surplus, and recover its FRR to 
a level 3, which would have resolved the remaining financial issues. The Trust remained on 
its planned trajectory for recovery, however as a result of External Reviews, additional 
medical and nursing staff were recruited in line with the findings of theses reviews. As a 
consequence the Trust invested money but with no additional income to cover off these 
investments and the Trust posted a deficit in 2013/14. The Trust remains in deficit in 
2014/15 and anticipates remaining in deficit in the near future, pending the external review 
by the Monitor appointed Contingency Planning Team who are reviewing the options 
available to the Trust to achieve long term clinical and financial sustainability. 
 

After making enquiries the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS Foundation 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future.  For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 
accounts. 
The Directors considered the following factors in concluding that the organisation is a going 
concern; 

• The level and basis of expected income for 2015/16 and fully signed off contracts and 
agreed activity levels, 

• Robust and full impact assessment of the  impact of Payment by Results tariffs 
specifically in 2015/16 but going forward, 

• An agreed Board resolution to apply for a loan and working capital facility. An 
expectation that the loan will be agreed by the end of Quarter one. 

• An agreed capital expenditure programme for 2015/16 risk assessed reflecting the 
requirements of the foundation trust in delivering its mandatory goods and service 
schedule,  

• Contractual agreement with its main commissioner  Tameside & Glossop CCG to the 
Trust’s overall service strategy including full recognition of future commissioner 
intentions and ; 

• Full identification of  potential downsides and upsides, incorporated into the financial 
plan for 2015/16 including the potential impact of planned demand management 
initiatives. 
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Financial Position 
The Trust’s accounts are included in the annual accounts section of this report and show a 
deficit of £18.44m for the year prior to exceptional income of £2.82m for the reversal of 
previous impairments and £0.09m for costs associated with restructuring, resulting in a 
deficit of £15.7m.  The original financial plan agreed with Monitor had been a planned  
deficit of £17.5m for the year prior to exceptional costs.  
 

The table below summarises the income and expenditure position for the year. 

 

The Trust’s cash balances as at the 31st March 2015 were £0.99m against a planned target 
of £0.5m. The increase above plan was in line with approved changes with the introduction 
of new loans. 
Financial Performance 
Key headline financial indicators are as follows; 

• The Trust closed the year with a deficit of £18.44m, excluding exceptional income 
and costs. 

• The year end cash balances were £0.99m, but this included the receipt of £14.65m 
interim revenue support loan from the Department of Health (DH). 
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• Capital investment of £2.89m 
• Achievement of £6.76m CIP in year, against a planned delivery of £6.1m 
• Private Patient Income totalled £16k or 0.01 % of total patient income i.e. well 

within the Monitor private patient cap set of 0.1% 
Financial Risks 
Key financial risks during 2013/14 included: 

• Delivery of the required CIPs Programme  
• Impact of External Reviews 
• Implementation of a new patient administration system 
• Non-payment for re-admissions to a hospital within thirty days of discharge 
• Loss of income re CQUINs, Quality Bonus Payment income, and/or contract penalties 
• Excess inflation and pay award costs above funding received through tariff uplift. 
• Increased use of locum medical and nursing staff due to increased staffing required 

by the External Reviews. 
 
Income / Contract Activity 
In 2013/14 the Commissioning element of the NHS was reconfigured such that Primary Care 
Trusts (PCT’s) were replaced by Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) which are groups of 
General Practioner’s and their associated management structures, and Specialist 
Commissioners. This means that some of the previous years’ comparative data is no longer 
comparable and it is not possible to re-base previous years information into the new 
structures. The previous years’ data has however continued to be shown for information. 
 
Income 
Income in 2014/15 totalled approximately £156.59 million.  The majority of the Trust’s 
income (£143.4 Million; 91.6%) comes from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) for 
health care services provided to patients during the year.  Services provided to Tameside 
and Glossop CCG account for 84.9% of all income received from CCGs.  
 
Other operating income relates to services provided to other Trusts; training and education;  
charitable contributions, and miscellaneous fees and charges. 
A breakdown of income is provided in tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 below. 
 
Table 1 – Analysis of Income by Source 
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Table 2 Analysis of Income by CCG 

 

The activity associated with this clinical income is detailed in table 3 below:- 

 

 

92% 

2% 

3% 2% 

1% 

Analysis of Sources of Income 2014/15 

CCG and NHS England Income 

Other Patient Care Income 

Education, Training and Research 

Non-Patient Care Services to Other Bodies 

Other Income 

$122.15 
85% 

$6.91 
5% 

$5.27 
3% 

$1.06 
1% 

$6.74 
5% 

$1.26 
1% 

Analysis of Activity 
 Income by CCG and NHS England 

  (£m) 

Tameside and Glossop Oldham Manchester Stockport Specialist Commissioning Other CCGs 
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Table 3 - Analysis of Contract Activity 
      

Analysis of Activity 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 Increase  
Percentage 

Increase 
          (Decrease) (Decrease) 

          
2013/14 to 

14/15 
2013/14 to 

14/15 
Day Case Spells 19,285 16,624 16,974 15,494 2,661 16.01% 
Elective Inpatient Spells 3,581 4,116 3,209 3,363 -535 -13.00% 
Ambulatory Care 3,562 475 0 0 3,087 649.89% 
Non-Elective (Emergency) 
Spells 24,545 26,856 29,007 28,811 -2,311 -8.61% 

Total Inpatients 50,973 48,071 49,190 47,668 2,902 5.90% 
              
First Outpatient 
Attendances 

       
73,216  

      
83,096  

     
86,947  

     
82,892  -9,880 -11.89% 

Follow up Outpatient 
Attendances 

     
143,708  

    
132,822  

   
130,172  

   
126,164  

 
10,886 

 
8.20% 

Outpatient Procedures 
       

20,041  
      

17,580  
     

21,011  
     

14,077  2,461 14.00% 

Total Outpatients 
     

236,965  
    

233,498  
   

238,130  
   

223,133  3,467 1.48% 
              
A & E Attendances 81,916 77,599 78,116 75,710 4,317 5.56% 
              

 

It should be noted that in October 2013 the Trust changed its Patient Administration System 
(PAS) from Medway to Lorenzo. As with all new system implementations there were some 
implementation issues. As such the 2013/14 data is not necessarily comparable with 
previous years. In addition to the impact of Lorenzo on activity counting and classification, 
the introduction of tariff changes has also meant that non-elective activity appears to have 
fallen as obstetric activity is no longer recorded in the same manner, as the tariff has moved 
to a pathway basis which covers the whole maternity pathway. There has also been a 
reduction in non-elective activity due to the introduction of new ambulatory care pathways. 
 
Table four analyses the income from activities. The Trust’s main source of income arises 
from Commissioner Requested Services in treating emergency admissions, with outpatient 
visits being the second largest source of activity related income. Income from Non-
Commissioner Requested Services mainly relates to income derived from the Compensation 
Recovery Unit in relation to road traffic accidents. 
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Table 4: Analysis of Income from Activities 

Analysis of Income from Activities:- 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 
Commissioner Requested Services:- £m £m £m £m 
Elective / Planned Same Day Income 22.96 22.43 22.38 20.80 
Ambulatory Care 3.20 0.50 0.00 0.00 
Non-Elective (Emergency) Spells 44.90 47.64 49.54 48.66 
Total Inpatients 71.05 70.57 71.92 69.46 
          
Total Outpatients 25.94 26.54 30.62 27.98 
          
A & E Attendances 8.71 8.39 8.39 7.60 
          
Other 38.02 38.92 35.69 26.63 
          
Total Income From Commissioner 
Requested Services 

143.73 144.43 146.62 131.66 

          
Non-Commissioner Requested 
Services:-         

Compensation Recovery Unit                   0.75  
              
0.99  

              
0.95  

              
1.13  

Other                   1.55  
              
0.05  

              
0.14  

              
0.14  

Total Non-Commissioner Requested 
Services 

                  2.30                
1.04  

              
1.09  

              
1.27  

          
Total Income From Activities 146.02 145.47 147.71 132.94 

 

Other Operating Income 

Other operating income totalled £10.58m for the year or 6.8% of the total income compared 
with 9.82% in 2013/14.  A breakdown of the income is shown below. 
 

Table 5 :- Analysis of Other Operating Income (Excluding Impairments and other technical 
items) 
 
 2014/15 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13 2011/12 
 % £m £m £m £m 
Research and Development 4% 0.39 0.26 0.18 0.18 
Education and Training 40% 4.21 3.82 3.78 3.91 
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 1% 0.08 0.12 0.14 0.17 
Transfer to donated asset reserve 0% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Non-patient care service to other bodies 35% 3.69 6.51 5.32 3.62 
Other 21% 2.21 5.04 2.11 2.75 
Total Other Operating Income 100% 10.58 15.74 11.52 10.62 

 

In total other operating income has decreased in 2014/15 by £5.16m. In 2013/14 other 
income included £2.04m of HIT transitional income to support the decommissioning of 
buildings upon completion of the new PFI hospital. No funding was received in 2014/15. 
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Income from non-patient care to other bodies also fell by £2.82m in 2014/15 back to normal 
levels, as 2013/14 income (and 2012/13 part year) included £2.84m non-recurrent funding 
for the implementation of the new patient administration system (Lorenzo). 
 

 

 

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging 
requirements set out in HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector Information Guidance in 
relation to the levying of charges for the provision of information. 
 
Private patient Income 
The Trust generated £16k from Private Patient activity during the period (£15k in 2013/14), 
which accounts for 0.01% of total patient income.  To comply with the Trust’s Terms of 
Authorisation as a Foundation Trust the Trust must ensure that the income received from 
treating private patients does not exceed a cap of 0.1% of total income.  The Trust is 
compliant with its obligation in this respect. 
 
Expenditure 
An analysis of the Trust’s operating expenditure is detailed in tabular and graphical format 
below. 

Research and 
Development 

2% 

Education and 
Training 

24% 

Charitable and 
other 

contributions to 
expenditure 

1% 

Transfer to 
donated asset 

reserve 
0% 

Non-patient 
care service to 
other bodies 

41% 

Other 
32% 

Analysis of Other Operating Income 
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Pay costs have increased in year by £6.5m, in 2014/15 compared with the previous year. 
These increases reflect a 1% pay award to staff, changes in pay relating to pay increments   
plus  further  investment in pay to support quality pressures and increased activity levels.  
These increases in expenditure occurred despite delivering £1.64m of savings on pay to 
support the requirement to achieve efficiency savings. 
 

   

 

 

Staff costs 
68% 

Drug Costs 
5% 

Supplies and 
Services - 

Clinical 
8% 

Supplies and 
services - Non-

clinical 
4% 

Services from 
other 

Organisations 
2% 

Other Costs  
13% 

Analysis of Operating Expenses 2014/15 
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The Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 	   	  
	   	   	   	   	  
There were no payments made under this legislation. 
 	   	   	   	  

The Trust aims to pay all creditors within 50 days. 
 
 
Value for Money 
The Trust delivered a Cost Improvement Programme (CIP) of £ 6.76m in 2014/15, against a 
planned target of £6.1m.  Of the £6.76m CIP delivered some savings were on a non-
recurrent basis in order to maximise savings and bridge slippage in recurrent schemes. The 
forecast full year effect CIP is £5.3m against the required £6.1m savings target, thereby 
adversely impacting on the Trust’s financial position going forward into 2015/16. The 
financial plan has assumed a target full year effect of £5.5m therefore minimising the 
financial impact in 2015/16. An element of undelivered CIP was due to the inability to close 
beds, and reduce staffing due to there being no reduction in the average length of stay of 
patients in the hospital, and remaining high levels of activity. 
 
Prudential Borrowing Limit 
The Trust did not continue to have a working capital facility in 2014/15, but did require cash 
support from the Department of Health. Cash support was originally received in the form of 
temporary Public Dividend Capital (PDC) to the value of £9.007m, but this was required to 
be re-paid in March 2015, and was replaced with an interim revenue support loan of 
£14.65m. 
 
Cash Investments 
As a Foundation Trust, Tameside has the opportunity to invest cash balances in order to 
generate increased interest.  This interest contributes to the Trust’s overall financial position 
and therefore to investment in patient care. However, in 2014/15, the Trust has had to seek 
cash support from the DH in order to pay staff and creditors. As such the amount the Trust 
has had to invest has been limited to short term (weekly) investments. 
The Trust has an investment policy and the Finance and Performance Committee oversee 
investment activity and monitors the returns on investments generated.  
 
 
Performance against the Risk Assessment Framework 
 
Since 1 April 2013 all NHS foundation trusts need a licence from Monitor stipulating specific 
conditions that they must meet to operate. Key among these are financial sustainability and 
governance requirements. The aim of the risk assessment framework is to show when there 
is a significant risk to the financial sustainability of a provider, which could endanger the 
continuity of service provision. With effect from October 2013 Monitor introduced the 
“continuity of services risk rating” (CoSRR) to identify the financial risks facing a Trust. 
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There are four CoSRR rating categories ranging from 1, which represents the most serious 
risk, to 4, representing the least risk. A low rating does not necessarily represent a breach of 
the provider’s licence. Rather, it reflects the degree of financial concern that Monitor may 
have about a provider and consequently the frequency with which a Trust will be monitored. 
The CoSRR incorporates two measures of financial robustness:- 

1. liquidity: days of operating costs held in cash or cash-equivalent forms, including 
wholly committed lines of credit available for drawdown; and  

 
2. capital servicing capacity: the degree to which the organisation’s generated 

income covers its financing obligations  
 
Under both of these measures the Trust scores a COSRR of 1 for 2014/15. 
 
Financial Outlook for 2015/16 
 
The Trust is planning to deliver a deficit of £25.75m or 16.7% of turnover in 2015/16, after 
delivering a CIP of £6.1m and will have a CoSRR of 1. The planned deficit  is driven by 
existing and new pressures aimed at improving the quality of patient care and patient 
experience. The resulting planned deficit in 2015/16 means that the Trust will continue to 
require cash support going forward from the Department of Health. As a consequence of 
this the Trust  has applied for an interim revenue support loan of £24.23m, which will incur 
an interest charge of 1.5%. 
  
The Trust is planning to deliver CIP slightly in excess of the national efficiency requirement 
of 3.5% by delivering CIP of £6.1m or 4% in 2015/16. These savings will be delivered by a 
number of transformational and other schemes which cut across all divisions and 
departments improving productivity and the flow of patients through the hospital.  Savings 
plans will be carefully scrutinised by the Board and subject to the approval of both the 
Medical Director and the Director of Nursing prior to implementation to ensure that the 
quality of patient care is not compromised.    
 
The financial plan for 2015/16 is underpinned by contracted activity levels based on 2014/15 
forecast outturn and anticipated growth and reductions in activity associated with CCG 
Quality Improvement Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) schemes.  The Trust’s main 
commissioner, Tameside CCG, will develop a number of QIPP schemes during the year 
aimed at reducing emergency admissions and schemes to direct patients towards primary 
and community care services which will reduce outpatient activity. In addition Greater 
Manchester have introduced a new model of care for stroke patients which should allow the 
Trust to reduce its bed base. These schemes are expected to reduce the Trust’s income by 
around £1.5m in the year.  This reduction in income is also reflected in our 2014/15 financial 
plans. 
 
The main risks faced by the Trust include the need to deliver savings of £6.1m to achieve its 
financial objectives, financial penalties which will be imposed under the contract with 
Commissioners for failure to meet performance and quality requirements and the need to 
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achieve planned income of £3.1m from ‘Commissioning for Quality and Innovation’ (CQuIN) 
projects that further improve patient experience and care.   
 
In addition to this the Trust will need to ensure it has robust systems of financial control to 
ensure that all areas manage within their financial budgets whilst maintaining a safe high 
quality service. As in previous years there remains the risk that further external reviews 
could result in the necessity to increase expenditure without the financial resources to 
support it. Detailed cash management processes will also need to be in place to manage the 
limited cash balances the Trust will have available to it once it becomes reliant on cash 
support. The Board recognises the risks around its financial plans and has introduced a 
robust assurance process to ensure that all risks are well understood managed and 
mitigated. 
 
The Trust plans capital investments of £2.97m in 2015/16 of which £1.2m will relate to 
improving the direct patient environment, with a further £639k on medical equipment. A 
further £600k will be spent improving services to the patient areas. 
 
Capital Investment Activity 2014/15 
 
The Trust invested £2.89 million in the financial year 2014/15. The table below analyses the 
key capital investment by the Trust for the full financial year, with comparative data for 
previous years. The previous year’s capital expenditure is included to give a better overview 
of previous levels of investment and schemes.  
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Valuation of Land and Buildings 
 
The Trust has adopted a Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis for the valuation of the 
estate. The adoption of this approach was a requirement for all NHS and Foundation Trusts 
since 2009/10.   
The Trust has undertaken a whole site re-valuation in 2014/15, to ensure that the valuation 
on the Statement of Financial Position (SoFP) is as up-to-date as possible and fully reflects 
current valuations.  The valuation in 2014/15 reflected an increase in the valuation of the 
site which has had the effect of increasing the value of non-current assets and will increase 
charges to income and expenditure going forward.  
 
Future Investment Plans 
 
The Trust has undertaken a major hospital redevelopment project in conjunction with its 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) partner Consort Healthcare, as part of the Health Investment 
in Tameside (HIT) project.  This scheme has replaced old Victorian wards as well as 
providing new theatres and integrated support areas. 
 
The scheme involved a mixture of funding approaches.  The initial major enabling works in 
2007/08 were funded using public capital, and this work provided a multi-storey car park, a 
new pathology department, and a training and education centre.  These schemes allowed 
the centre of the site to be freed up to enable the main new hospital build to take place.  
The main hospital built was financed under the Government’s Private Finance Initiative 
which means that the private sector build the hospital using funds they have raised on the 
open market and once available for use the Trust pay an annual service charge.  The annual 
service charge in relation to the new clinical facilities became payable in October 2010, 
when the new clinical facilities became operational. The final completion of the works 
occurred in August 2011.  The contract with Consort Healthcare will expire in August 2041.   
The Trust’s capital programme for 2015/16 is expected to be in the region of £2.972 million. 
In addition the Trust will continue to invest in on-going general maintenance and 
improvement of the retained estate (i.e. the non-PFI buildings).  
 

Remuneration report 
 
The Remuneration Committee (see page 46 for details of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee) comprises of the Chairman and all of the Non-Executive Directors of the Trust.  
The quorum for a meeting of the Remuneration Committee is four members.  The role of 
the Remuneration Committee is to advise the Board on the appropriate remuneration and 
terms and conditions of employment of the Chief Executive and Executive Directors of the 
Trust only.  In discharging this responsibility the Remuneration Committee comply with the 
annual guidance received from the Department of Health concerning pay increases for “very 
senior managers” i.e. Chief Executive and Directors. 
 
The Chief Executive and Executive Directors are all employed on permanent contracts of 
employment and are entitled to give and receive six months notice of termination of 
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contract.  The Chairman and Non Executive Directors are appointed by the Council of 
Governors in line with the Trust’s Constitution, and the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  
Under this they are appointed for a maximum three year contract, renewable at the 
discretion of the Council of Governors for an absolute maximum tenure of nine years. The 
Chairman and Non Executive Directors are entitled to resign by giving notice to the Council 
of Governors. 
 
The following information shown in the tables (subject to audit) is in respect of the period 
1st April 2014 to the 31st March 2015. 
 
No performance related bonuses have been paid to any employees listed in the table below. 
The Trust does not operate a system of performance related bonus payments. 
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The median pay calculation is based on employees on the Trust payroll only, and represents 
the net salary costs of all individuals including basic pay, enhancements, acting up, 
additional duty payments, PA’s, banding supplements for doctors, CEA’s, maternity pay, 
arrears, overtime etc. The total pay has then been divided by the whole time equivalents 
paid in March to determine the full time equivalent salary cost, which has then been 
annulised. The median pay is based on the individual pay that was the median of all 
employees. In line with guidance the Chief Executive is excluded from the calculation. 
 

 

 

 

 

Chief Executive ………………………………………    Date    28th May 2015 

 
 
(above table represents audited information) 
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A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable 
from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.  The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a 
senior capacity to which the disclosures apply.  The CETV figures, and the other pension 
details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They also include any additional 
pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of 
pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  CETVs are calculated within guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
 
Real increase in CETV – This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the 
employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions 
paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension 
scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of 
the period. 
 
Senior Managers Remuneration  
 
The Trust has developed an Executive Director contract of employment which outlines the 
standard terms and conditions of employment for our Executive Directors. This includes 
details of salary, which is reviewed and agreed through the Trust’s Remuneration 
Committee. 

In terms of a comparison against other terms and conditions, a standard national Agenda 
for Change contract and a standard “spot salary” contract is utilised.  

Notice periods are standard throughout the Trust. Band 8A and above, up until Executive 
Director level are required to serve 12 weeks’ notice. All Executive Directors are required to 
serve a 6 months’ notice period, as stipulated in the agreed contract. 

When determining executive/senior manager salaries, a comparison exercise is done of 
comparable Trusts, in order to understand what an average reasonable salary would be for 
the role in question. This would also be discussed with the candidate for the role. A 
proposed spot salary is proposed, and then discussed/agreed at the Remuneration 
Committee. 

In terms of loss of office, the trust does not have a separate policy for Executives. An 
executive who lose their role for whatever reason is covered by the same policies and 
contractual requirements as other staff e.g. conduct & disciplinary policy, organisational 
change policy or the Improving Performance Policy. 
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Reporting related to the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees 
 
The tables below detail information relating to staff working at the Trust who are not 
engaged on the Trust’s payroll but are self employed, and as such are obliged to conform to 
National tax requirements. 
 

	  Table 1 -  For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 Mar 2015, for more than £220 per day and 
that last for longer than six months 	  
  	  

	    	  

	  

2014/15              
Number of 

engagements  
No. of existing engagements as of 31 Mar 2015 3  

Of which:    
Number that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting 2  
Number that have existed for between one and two years at the time of 

reporting 1  
Number that have existed for between two and three years at the time of 

reporting 0  
Number that have existed for between three and four years at the time of 

reporting 0  
Number that have existed for four or more years at the time of reporting 0  

Confirmation:    

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a risk 
based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right 

amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 
 

	   	    
	   	    
	   	    

 Table 2 - For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, 
between 01 Apr 2014 and 31 Mar 2015, for more than £220 per day and that last for longer 
than six months  

	  

2014/15              
Number of 

engagements  

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration 
between 01 Apr 2014 and 31 Mar 2015 1 

 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the trust the right 
to request assurance in relation to income tax and national insurance obligations 1 

 
Number for whom assurance has been requested 1  
Of which:    

Number for whom assurance has been received 1  
Number for whom assurance has not been received * 0  
Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being 

received 0  
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Table 3 - Where an individual leaves after assurance is requested but before assurance is 
received and instances where trusts are still waiting for information from the individual at 
the time of reporting this should be included within “No. for whom assurance has not been 
received”. 	  

	   	   	  
In any cases where, exceptionally: 	  

- the trust has engaged without including contractual clauses allowing the 
trust to seek assurance as to their tax obligations; or 
- where assurance has been requested and not received, without a contract 
termination 	  

please specify the reasons for this. 

Not 
Applicable, no 

cases. 

	  

	   	   	  
	   	   	  

Table 4 - For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility, between 01 Apr 2014 and 31 Mar 2015 	  
 	   	  

	   	   	  

	  

2014/15              
Number of 

engagements 	  

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year. 4 (voting) 

	  

Number of individuals that have been deemed "board members and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility".  This figure should include both 
off-payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

5 (voting)  

	   	   	  
Three of the off payroll Board engagements related to staff employed by the University Hospital of 
South Manchester (UHSM) NHS Foundation Trust who were appointed on secondment to Tameside 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Board posts, whilst remaining on UHSM's payroll. The secondments 
have now ended and all three employees' have been appointed substantively to the Board positions 
and are paid by the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Payroll Department. The remaining 
Board Member off payroll engagement relates to a temporary interim Director of Finance 
appointment which replaced the substantive Director of Finance who left the organisation on the 31st 
October 2014. The Interim Director of Finance is self employed and paid through a personal limited 
company. Tax compliance assurance has been obtained for this arrangement. 
   

The first engagement commenced on the 17th June 2013 and ended on the 31st August 2014. The 
second engagement commenced on the 4th July 2013 and ended on the 30th September 2014. The 
third engagement commenced on the 1st October 2013 and ended on the 30th September 2014. The 
fourth engagement commenced on the 3rd November 2014. 
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Statement of the chief executive's responsibilities as the accounting officer of 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the 
NHS foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, 
including their responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for 
which they are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the 
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.  

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed Tameside Hospital NHS foundation 
trust to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on 
the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  

The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and of its income 
and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial 
year.  

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in 
particular to:  

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis; 

 • make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;  

• state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial statements;  

• ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated 
authorities and guidance; and  

• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The accounting officer 
is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to enable 
him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act.  

The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS 
foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum.  

 

 

 

Signed   ………………..             Chief Executive     Date  28th May 2015 

 

 

Annual Governance Statement 
 
Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation Trusts policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am 
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also 
responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge 
my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum. 
 
The purpose of the system of internal control 
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than 
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation 
Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of 
internal control has been in place in Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the year 
ended 31 March 2015 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts. 
 
Capacity to handle risk 
 
The Board of Directors provides leadership on the overall governance agenda. The Board 
has three Committees which have a key role in risk management. The Quality and 
Governance Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Finance and Performance Committee 
which together oversee all risk management activity and ensure the correct strategy is 
adopted for the management of risk, ensuring controls are present and effective and that 
there are robust action plans in place for those risks which remain. The committees are 
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chaired by a non-executive director with Executive Director attendance and senior officers of 
the Trust with risk management responsibilities provide input and reports to the committees.  
The Trust has kept under review and revised and updated the Governance framework 
across the organisation and has revised the Risk Management Strategy and Policy which 
describes the Trust’s approach and processes for managing risk and the roles and 
responsibilities of its staff. Whilst the Quality and Governance committee and Finance and 
Performance Committees report directly to the Board, they have also worked closely with 
the Audit Committee. These three committees through their annually reviewed Terms of 
reference triangulate and validate their work to enable full and robust scrutiny and 
management of significant risk. 
 
The specific role of executive directors is detailed below; 
 

• The Director of Nursing is responsible for defined areas of clinical risk and patient 
safety.  The Director of Nursing is responsible as the Director of Infection Prevention and 
Control and is responsible for ensuring that clinical risk is identified and managed, and 
that clinical governance structures within his sphere of responsibility in the organisation 
are effective. The Director of Nursing is the Caldicott Guardian. 

 
• The Medical Director is responsible for defined areas of clinical risk and patient safety  
and is responsible for ensuring that clinical risk within his sphere of responsibility in the 
organisation are effective. The Medical Director is also responsible for the clinical 
effectiveness of services, managing medical staff performance and clinical standards. 

 
• The Director of Finance is responsible for the financial aspects of business risk, for 
implementing systems to prevent fraud and corruption and for ensuring security of 
financial systems within the organisation. They were also responsible for minimising risk 
in relation to failure of information systems, and providing assurance in respect of 
information governance until the Director of Performance and Informatics joined the 
Trust in November 2014 and took over this role. The Director of Performance and 
Informatics is the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) 

 
Risk Management Training is provided  to all relevant staff as part of the Trust’s Mandatory 
Core Training, and covers Clinical Risk , Health & Safety, Risk Assessment, Risk Action 
Planning, Incident reporting  and Incident investigation.  Training provided during 2014/15 
continues to cover wider Clinical and Corporate Governance aspects in addition for example 
Data Protection Act and Freedom of Information requirements. Risk is systematically and 
routinely monitored from Ward to Board. 
 
The overarching risk management and governance system across the Organisation, which 
was re- designed during 2013/14, has been subjected to continual review during 2014/15 to 
ensure wider learning from best practice and external reviews. This is cascaded to and 
managed at an operational level with corporate oversight and assurance. Best practice from 
National, Patient Safety risk management initiatives, and corporate risk management and 
governance practice has been systematically considered and in doing so we have used 
support and learning from organisations such as, AQuA, Dr Foster, Deloittes, and other 
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independent organisations.   The Trust has worked with commissioning bodies to ensure 
that the learning from best practice and external reviews is considered in clinical contracts 
and the Trust’s risk management programme has been progressed in partnership with 
commissioning bodies. 
 
 
The Risk and Control Framework 
 
 
The Trust has a “Risk Management Strategy, Policy and Guidance” document which has 
been subject to extensive review during 20104/15. Following the Keogh Review, an 
independent review of Board and Quality Governance processes and assurance submitted 
through to Board was undertaken by Deloittes. As a result of this review a remedial action 
plan was developed and an intensive board development plan delivered during 2014/15. 
 
The risk management strategy was also independently reviewed and processes put in place 
to strengthen the Trust’s arrangements. 
 
Under condition FT4 of Monitor’s provider licence the trust is required to apply those 
principles and standards of good corporate governance which reasonably would be regarded 
as appropriate for a supplier of health care services to the NHS.  
 
After the external review of corporate and clinical governance referred to above, a number 
of actions were taken to address the recommendations in the review and a strategy was 
developed to ensure compliance with the licence conditions. 
 
The main elements of this strategy, which ensures full coverage of risk identification, 
assessment, response, reporting and review, are as follows: 

• The adoption of clear management structures and responsibilities throughout the 
organisation reporting to the Board of Directors 

• Effective systems for risk assessment, risk analysis and for determining the Trust’s 
risk appetite – which includes the adoption of a standard risk scoring system. Staff 
managing risks regularly review risks and output from the risk register to ensure it 
remains valid, reflects change and helps the Trust in its decision making 

• The use of an up to date central register for the prioritisation of risk and development 
of action plans covering both clinical and non clinical risks 

• An assurance framework that maps Trust objectives to risks, controls and assurances 
• The provision of relevant training for staff. 

 
The Trust Board is also required to submit an annual corporate governance statement to 
Monitor. The Comp-any Secretary undertakes an audit of the trust’s compliance against the 
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance and the board uses this as evidence to support 
the validity of its Corporate Governance Statement.    
 

Risk management within the Trust utilises a number of approaches including the following: 
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Risk  identification and assessments involving the analysis of individual risks which includes 
an assessment of likelihood and impact on achieving corporate objectives; serious incident 
investigations; incident reporting; complaints management including review and analysis of 
trends; compliance with legislation/national guidance; external reviews and accreditation 
processes and audit reports; reviews of claims against the Trust; Dr Foster data, particularly 
“red bells”;  national staff and patient surveys; sickness absence information and staffing 
levels. 
 
Risk appetite can be defined as “The amount of risk that an organisation is prepared to 
accept, tolerate, or be exposed to at any point in time”.  The Trust has an established risk 
assessment process and uses a well-recognised framework to rate or score a risk. A risk is 
rated using a matrix of consequence (the impact) versus likelihood (frequency) of the risk 
occurring.  The Risk Management Strategy, Policy and Guidance sets out the Trust’s 
approach and expectations in relation to risk appetite. This recognises that the Trust's risk 
appetite is not necessarily static. The Trust Board may wish to vary the amount of risk that 
it is prepared to tolerate depending on the circumstances at a given time.  
 
The Trust's approach to risk appetite ensures that risks are considered in terms of both 
opportunities and threats and are not confined to the financial consequences of a risk 
materialising. Risks could also impact on the capability or capacity of the Trust, its 
performance and its reputation.  
 
The Trust’s risk strategy has been developed to ensure the systematic analysis, 
identification, monitoring and communication of risks associated with any activity, function 
or process performed within the Trust.  
 
This is being embedded into the Trust by: 
 

• clear structures and responsibilities with explicit links for reporting up to the Trust 
Board, 

• a system for risk assessment  involving the analysis of individual risks to identify and 
minimise risk where possible. The assessment evaluates the impact and likelihood of 
each risk and prioritises based on the overall level of exposure to risk. For each risk 
controls are developed, documented and understood, 

• a system for risk reporting whereby all significant risks are reported at each formal 
meeting of the Trust Board 

• systems to monitor, control and learn from untoward incidents, 

• maintaining an up to date central risk register, and 

• ensuring all employees are aware of the importance of managing risks and their 
responsibilities. 

The management of risk is using the revised methodology is being embedded throughout 
the Trust. All areas of the Trust have detailed risk registers which are regularly reviewed by 
managers upwards to divisional leads. The Risk Management Group and the Service Quality 
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and Operational Governance committee regularly review divisional risks as part of its rolling 
programme of work. 

The Board of Directors seeks to continuously improve the quality of the services the Trust 
provides to its local population .To this extent it actively seeks feedback from patients, 
members and governors and other stakeholders. Directors regularly participate in walk-
rounds in clinical areas to secure feedback from patients and visitors, engage with frontline 
clinical teams and provide feedback to evaluate the overall patient experience in respect of 
safety and quality of services provided.  
 

The Trust is a member of the NHSLA Scheme.  

 

Our NHSLA membership assists in our mitigation of the risk associated with clinical and non-
clinical liabilities associated with alleged negligence. As our contributions relate to our claims 
profile; we aim to address historic liabilities and reduce future claims by implementing our 
improvement plan. We are implementing the Signed up to Safety initiative and have a plan 
in place to reduce claims.   

 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring compliance with all relevant clinical 
registration regulations. Compliance is reviewed and overseen by; 
 

• Regular review and reporting to the Quality and Governance Committee and to the 
Board of Directors matters highlighted under the Care Quality Commission’s ( CQC) 
CQC Intelligence Monitoring Framework 

• Analysis and trend identification of incident reports, complaints, patient and staff 
surveys.  

• Challenge and scrutiny via membership of and participation in meetings of the 
Executive Team, Trust Board and Board committees 
 

The Trust was one of fourteen NHS trusts which fell within the scope of the Keogh Review 
and the review was carried out in May and June 2013 and publicly reported its findings in 
July 2013. As a result of this the Trust was placed in Special Measures.  
 
The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission. The CQC carried out an Inspection in May 2014 and gave an overall rating of 
Inadequate, whilst recognising the significant improvements the Trust had made post Keogh 
further improvements were necessary.  
 
The Chief Inspector of Hospital’s review made 18 non-urgent recommendations drawn from 
the “MUST DO’s “within the CQC report to enhance the Safety, Effectiveness and 
Responsiveness of care provided by the Trust. 
 
The key themes of these recommendations were related to: 

• Develop critical care services 
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• Ensure adherence to governance systems 
• Improve patient flow 
• Enhance elective patient access 
• Ensure systems are embedded  for the management of the deteriorating 

patient 
• Improve systems within the outpatient department 
• Ensure consistent medicine management 

 
Oversight and improvement arrangements have been put in place to support  the 
changes required. An external assurance group with Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG), NHS England, Local Authority (LA), Local Area Team (LAT) Healthwatch, 
Monitor and Trust membership is in place to oversee delivery of the action plan. 
 
Extensive work has been progressed to remedy the identified areas for improvement and a 
coordinated transformational plan has been implemented with extensive oversight and 
scrutiny from Monitor, NHS England and the CCG. The Trust was reinspected in April 2015 
and it is anticipated that the Trust will receive the report in July 2015. 
 
From November 2014 overall responsibility for data security rests with the Director of 
Performance and Informatics, who performs the role of Senior Information Risk Officer 
(SIRO) within the Trust. The Trust has a formal Information Governance Committee which 
is chaired by the Director of Quality and Governance and has the SIRO as a member. The 
committee’s terms of reference include ensuring the review of evidence to ensure the 
maintenance of effective information governance processes and procedures with risk based 
and proportionate safeguards.  
 
As part of the committees work to address data security risks, an Information Asset 
Register has been established, and Information Asset Owners and Information Asset 
Administrators have been identified.  They advise the SIRO of the security of the 
information assets they control, and provide an annual assurance report on the key 
issues.   
 
 
Significant Risk 
 
The Trust has identified a range of significant risks, which are currently being mitigated, 
whose impact could have a bearing on the achievement of corporate objectives should the 
mitigation plans be ineffective.  Currently, the risks relate to the following areas: 

 
• Compliance (Monitors Provider Licence and CQC Registration ) 
The trust is currently under special measures and this relates to the Keogh Review 
inspection taken during 2013. An integrated Improvement Action Plan was developed 
in order to move the trust from its current inadequate CQC rating to one which 
removes it out of special measures and the section 111 attached to its Provider 
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Licence. The CQC has currently re-inspected the trust and a report on its findings will 
be published in July 2015. 
Compliance issues are routinely discussed at the Quality and Governance 
Committee and the Finance and Performance Committee prior to discussion at the 
Trust Board. 

 
• Finance (Cost control, CIP delivery and liquidity)  
There is a requirement from the trust’s regulators Monitor and the Care Quality 
Commission that the trust provides best value for tax payers’ money and the most 
effective fair and sustainable use of finite resources. To this end a number of controls 
have been put in place, ranging from regular reporting to Executives and Board 
through to the establishment of a PMO process and supporting governance to ensure 
rigour and control of CIP delivery. 
 
The Finance and Performance Committee reviews and reports on financial and risk 
matters to the board. 

 
• Lorenzo ( Lorenzo related implementation issues, IM&T infrastructure) 
The implementation of Lorenzo has impacted on data quality, accuracy and 
completion effecting RTT reporting and discharge processes. An improvement 
programme has been developed and there is an increased use of benchmarking and 
metrics used to measure the improvements made. 
 
 A Director of Information and Performance post has been created and appointed to 
and a review of IM&T infrastructure initiated.  
The outcomes of the improvement programme are routinely reported to board  
 
• Recruitment and Training  
There is a national shortage of staff especially in difficult to recruit disciplines. In this 
respect the trust has developed strategic plans and alternative staffing options where 
clinical care is not compromised. Advanced Practitioner and Assistant Practitioner 
schemes have been developed and recruited to. Recruitment and training issues are 
routinely discussed at the Trust Board.   
 
• Emergency Department Pressures 
 
The trust has not achieved the A&E waiting time standard for the last 3 quarters of 
the 2014/15 financial year. In order to improve performance an improvement plan 
has been developed which includes daily performance reporting, frequent bed 
meetings held throughout the day and evening and regular meetings with CCG and 
social care colleagues to improve the flow through the hospital.  
The improvement plan is monitored by the Operational Board, the Quality and 
Governance Committee and discussed routinely at the Trust Board. 
 

 
The main controls and action plans for each significant risk in each area have been 
reviewed and collated in the Trust’s Risk Register. The programme has incorporated the 
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Corporate Risks and aligned them to the Board Assurance Framework to ensure controls 
and assurances are in place and monitored and outcomes assessed via a responsible 
designated committee. 
 
 
During 2014/15 there were no serious incidents (including incidents classified as level 2 in 
the Information Governance Incident Reporting Tool) relating to information governance 
including data loss or confidentiality breach 
 
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme 
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in  
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations. Control measures are in place 
to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human rights 
legislation are complied with. 
 
The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery 
Plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s 
obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with. 
 
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources 
The Trust has an agreed process to ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place 
to ensure resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively to fully secure 
value for money. This involves: 
 

• agreeing a rolling annual financial strategy and plan, 
• a rigorous process of annual budget setting and delivering cost improvements, 
• review of Standing Financial Instructions and Schemes of Delegation 
• robust performance management arrangements; and 
• commissioning external advice where the Trust believes economy and efficiency 

can be improved. 

The Board plays an active role by: 

• Agreeing annually a set of corporate objectives ensuring that the Trust continues its 
drive for high quality, cost-effective services as reflected in its  financial and service 
strategy submitted to Monitor through the Annual plan 

• reviewing and holding the Executive Directors to account for the delivery of the 
corporate objectives, including financial performance, financial risk and delivery 
against the cost improvement plan  
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• approving the annual Capital Programme and reviewing business cases and 
overseeing procurement for all major capital investments. 

The Trust’s Audit Committee plays a key role on behalf of the Board in securing assurance 
on matters relating to economy, efficiency and effectiveness. Internal and External Audit 
recommendations and their implementation are overseen by the Audit Committee.  The 
other two Board Committees, Quality & Governance and Finance and Performance also hold 
key roles in providing assurance to the Board. 

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010(as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and 
content of the annual Quality Reports which incorporates the above legal requirements in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual  
 
Tameside Hospital has used the findings and improvement actions from the extensive 
external reviews undertaken during 2013/14 and 2014/15 on Quality and Safety in the 
development of the Quality Account. 
 
Annual Quality Report 
 
Making due reference to the Board, Council of Governors and colleague organisations, 
namely NHS Tameside & Glossop, Healthwatch , Tameside Hospital  Action Group (THAG) 
and Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council (Overview and Scrutiny Committee), 
performance and outcomes identified within the Quality Report are monitored by the Trust 
Board, Trust Executive, the Quality and Governance Committee and Council of Governors.  
The Nursing and Medical Directors (the Trust Executives with responsibility for clinical 
governance standards) are full members of the two former groups, whilst the Director of 
Nursing attends Council of Governors meetings, with the Medical Director present when 
clinical commitments enable attendance.   
 

During 2013/14 the Trust invited Deloittes to undertake a review of its quality and clinical 
governance arrangements with a view to developing further ward to board accountability.  
This gave rise to an improvement plan, approved by the Board, which has been 
implemented.  

The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) contract has provided the Trust with 
a process for the external scrutiny of a number of elements of its quality activities.  
Information generated from the Trust’s CQUIN activities have been reviewed by the Trust’s 
main commissioner, NHS Tameside & Glossop. 

The Trust has a contract with Dr Foster Intelligence to provide high quality, fully 
benchmarked data, including mortality, length of stay, day case rate and readmissions.  This 
forms the basis for a number of reports submitted to the Board and to other bodies within 
the organisation. 
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Following the implementation of the Electronic Patient Record (EPR) system (Lorenzo) at 
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, problems with the Referral to Treatment Time 
(RTT) modules of the software were raised both with CSC, the system provider, and with 
the Department of Health. The problems resulted in THFT being unable to report against the 
national RTT standards. Modifications to the system were implemented by CSC in 
November, which has resolved the issues but resulted in a legacy of patients whose waiting 
times were impacted upon by the software problem.  External audit were unable to issue a 
limited assurance opinion as a result of these data quality problems on elective waiting time 
data. 

The Trust has developed its capability for RTT monitoring and reporting tools using its data 
warehouse and has produced three bespoke PTLs (waiting lists), and a reporting tool, based 
on national RTT guidance. The data used to generate these reports is now subject to a 
rigorous, and routine, validation and tracking process. The development of the PTLs, and 
the institution of the validation process, has allowed the Trust to report its RTT performance 
since December 2014. 

 
Information Governance 
 
The Quality and Governance Committee is the specific Board committee for Clinical Quality 
and Governance and there is an infrastructure of committees and work streams reporting 
through this committee to the Trust Board with clearly defined lines of responsibility and 
accountability. These are supported by policies and plans. This includes the monitoring and 
provision of assurances in relation to the Quality Improvement Strategy. During 2013/14 the 
Trust established a defined Quality and Governance Unit and has enhanced the people and 
skills across the Trust to deliver the Quality Improvement Strategy.  
 
The Quality & Governance Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive director and includes 
Non-Executive and Executive Membership.   

A Patient Safety Programme has been developed and implemented by the Medical and 
Nursing Directors and endorsed by the Board.  During 2014/15, the metrics used are 
incorporated into the Quality Account metrics, giving coherence and integration.  
 
During 2014/15 there were no serious incidents (including incidents classified as level 
2 in the Information Governance Incident Reporting Tool) relating to information 
governance including data loss or confidentiality breach 
 
Review of effectiveness 
 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality 
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report included in this Annual report and other performance information available to me. My 
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review 
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the board, the audit committee, 
finance and performance committee and the quality and governance committee, and a plan 
to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.   
 

The Director of Internal Audit provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for 
gaining assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls reviewed as part 
of the internal audit work.  The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that 
the effectiveness of controls which manage the risks to the organisation achieving its 
principal objectives has been reviewed. 

The internal audit reviews undertaken has resulted in the Director of Internal Audit being 
able to give an overall opinion of significant assurance on the system of internal control in 
the Trust designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that controls are generally 
being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design or inconsistent 
application of controls put the achievement of a particular objective at risk. 

 

During the year there were ten reports that had significant assurance, two reports with 
limited assurance and no reports with no assurance. Management action plans have been 
designed and implemented to address the weaknesses identified and the Trust Executive 
and the Audit Committee review progress against the implementation of agreed action 
plans.  

 

My review is also informed by reports and assessments including those by: 

 
• Care Quality Commission, 
• Monitor 
• Internal audit, 
• External Audit 
• Independently commissioned work programmes, 
• Patient Led Assessment of the Care Environment  
• NHSLA Clinical Negligence Scheme for Trusts 
• Local Commissioners 
• The Local Healthwatch 
• Keogh review Team 
• Advancing Quality Alliance (AQuA) 
• Royal College / Health Education North west inspections/accreditations 
• Information Governance risk assessments against the Information Governance 

Toolkit 
 

The following groups and committees have been involved in maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control: 
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• The Trust Board of Directors  

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of the organisation and 
monitoring the progress of the Trust against targets. The Board has established 
governance arrangements including a revised improved committee structure. The Board 
has an Audit Committee, Quality and Governance Committee and Finance and 
Performance Committee. The Chairs (non-executive directors) report to the Board at the 
first available meeting following each respective committee meeting. 

 

• The Audit Committee  

The Audit Committee’s key role is to review the integrity of the Trust’s financial 
statements and to ensure appropriate scrutiny and review of the trust’s financial and 
non-financial controls and management systems. The committee investigates the 
activities of the Trust and provides assurance to the Board of Directors on the adequacy 
of the structures and process for risk management, audit and financial reporting. 

 
• The Finance and Performance Committee 

The role of the Committee is to provide assurance to the Trust Board in relation to 
financial and non-financial performance issues. In particular the Committee reviews and 
advises the Board on in year performance against previously agreed board 
objectives/targets (monitoring) and in addition scrutinises in detail and recommends for 
approval the Trust’s longer term business plans (policy setting).  

 

• The Quality and Governance Committee 

The Quality and Clinical Governance Committee’s key role is to ensure that an 
appropriate and effective system of quality governance is embedded throughout the 
Trust via its divisional structures. The committee reports directly to the Board as the 
main means of providing assurance about the systems and processes for monitoring 
and continually improving the quality of care provided to patients. The committee also 
ensures that the Trust responds appropriately and effectively to serious clinical incidents 
complaints and concerns and other risk and incident data it receives which have 
potentially significant implications for the Trust’s clinical services. 

 

An extensive improvement programme has been progressed across the Trust during 
2014/15. These actions have been taken to address the identified internal control issues and 
gaps in control previously identified and have been informed by an aggregated review of 
compliance inspections, complaints, Incidents which has informed this statement.   

Conclusion 
 
The Trust’s Risk Management Strategy and Plan and Guidance outlines the role that controls 
play in managing the risk associated with the Trust’s business. Controls are the elements of 
the Tameside Hospital Foundation Trust (including our resources, systems, processes, 
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culture, structure, and tasks) that, taken together, support our staff in the achievement of 
the Trust’s objectives.  

It is essential to identify existing controls in the risk management process so that they can 
be assured for their continuing efficacy thus proactively preventing risks occurring by 
highlighting problems with these elements. We record these controls as part of the risk 
assessment process and their effectiveness in the light of the governance and risk 
management framework and this is used to assess gaps in control leading to appropriate 
action to manage the risk. This forms the action plan on the risk register and Board 
Assurance Framework. One control may relate to more than one risk.  

The recorded controls are subject to scrutiny by independent reviewers where feasible. 
Internal assurance by management is used if external assurance is not available. This 
assurance is necessary because the controls are essential to the achievement of the Trust’s 
objectives and the management of the identified risks.  

Effective management of risks is required to meet stated objectives and enable the Board to 
make the Annual Governance Statement, and that there is systematic assurance activity 
relating to the organisation’s principal risks.  

Working in this way, the THFT Board can identify gaps in assurance and allocate resources 
for meeting them. Independent sources of assurance have included Internal Audit, 
Commissioners, Monitor, NHS England, Care Quality Commission (CQC) and other regulators 
amongst others and are often mandatory; whilst management assurance has been obtained 
from THFT internal quality and governance assurance, clinical audit, Service Improvement 
Programme (SIP) monitoring, and management information.  

When determining whether an issue constitutes a significant risk in relation to control the 
following questions are systematically considered to ensure we have a consistent definition:  

We have therefore considered a significant control issue to be any issue which  

• Significantly prejudices achievement of priorities, undermines the integrity or 
reputation of the NHS and significantly compromises the delivery of the 
standards expected of the Accountable Officer.  

In determining this, the following would be considered:  

What view does the Audit Committee take on this point?  

• What advice has the internal or external audit given?  

• Has the issue made it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources?  

• Did the issue divert resources from another significant aspect of the business?  

• Might national or data security or integrity be put at risk? “ 

The Board will be advised of any issue or risk deemed to be a significant control risk and this 
definition will be consistently applied from year to year 
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In line with the Trust’s definition of a significant control risk there have been no significant 
control issues in the Trust in 2014/15.  
 
My review confirms that Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has a generally sound 
system of internal control that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives. 
 
The Trust recognises that the control environment can always be strengthened and that this 
will continue in 2015/16. 
 
 
 
 
Accountable officer :     Karen James 
 
Organisation : Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
 
 
Signature :	   
              
 
 
Date : 28th May 2015  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS OF 
TAMESIDE HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST ONLY 

 

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit 

 

1 Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified  

We have audited the financial statements of Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for 
the year ended 31 March 2015.  In our opinion:   

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as at 
31 March 2015 and of the Trust’s income and expenditure for the year then ended;  and 

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15. 

 

2 Our assessment of risks of material misstatement 

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements the risks of material 
misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit were as follows: 

 

Valuation of land and buildings - £106.3 million  

Refer to the ‘Audit Committee – Report of the Chair’ within the Directors Report section of 
the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15, section 1.8 of the Trust’s accounting 
policies (Note 1 to the Accounts) and the financial disclosures at Note 10 to the Accounts. 

The risk: Land and building valuation is an estimate, arrived using various assumptions and 
judgements.  Land and buildings are required to be maintained at up to date estimates of 
year-end market value in existing use (EUV) for non-specialised property assets in 
operational use, and, for specialised assets where no market value is readily ascertainable, 
the depreciated replacement cost of a modern equivalent asset  that has the same service 
potential as the existing property(MEAV). There is significant judgement involved in 
determining the appropriate basis (EUV or MEAV) for each asset according to the degree of 
specialisation, as well as over the assumptions made in arriving at the valuation and the 
condition of the asset.  In particular the MEAV basis requires an assumption as to whether 
the replacement asset would be situated on the existing site or, if more appropriate, on an 
alternative site, with a potentially significant effect on the valuation.   

For 2014/15 an interim “desk-top” revaluation of all of the land and buildings, which did not 
involve the physical inspection of the assets, was undertaken by an external valuer from Her 
Majesty’s Valuation Office Agency. There is therefore a risk that the valuation may not 
reflect the current use or condition of the assets. 

Our response: In this area our audit procedures included: 

Assessing the competence, capability, objectivity and independence of the Trust’s external 
valuer; 
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Reviewing the valuation report, terms of engagement of, and the instructions issued to, the 
valuer to confirm consistency with the requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual (FT ARM);  

Critically assessing the reasonableness of the valuation indices applied by the valuer by 
benchmarking them against those used across the healthcare sector; 

Reconciling the valuer’s report to the financial statements to ensure that valuation 
movements had been applied correctly both in total and at an individual asset level;  

Critically assessing whether the impairments and revaluations have been correctly accounted 
for in line with applicable accounting standards and FT ARM; and 

Assessing  the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgments and degree of 
estimation involved in arriving at the valuation and the related sensitivities.   

 

NHS Income Recognition - £143.7 million  

Refer to the ‘Audit Committee – Report of the Chair’ within the Directors Report section of 
the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15, section 1.4 of the Trust’s accounting 
policies (Note 1 to the Accounts) and the financial disclosures at Note 3 to the Accounts. 

 

The risk: The main source of income for the Trust is the provision of healthcare services to 
the public under contracts with NHS commissioners, which make up 98% of income from 
activities. The Trust participates in the national Agreement of Balances (AoB) exercise for 
the purpose of ensuring that intra-NHS balances are eliminated on the consolidation of the 
Department of Health’s resource accounts. The AoB exercise identifies mismatches between 
receivable and payable balances recognised by the Trust and its commissioners, which will 
be resolved after the date of approval of these financial statements.  Mis-matches can occur 
for a number of reasons such as: 

! the Trust  and commissioners record different accruals for completed periods of 
healthcare which have not yet been invoiced;  

! income relating to partially completed period of healthcare is apportioned across the 
financial years and the commissioners and the Trust  make different apportionment 
assumptions;  

! accruals for out-of-area treatments not covered by direct contracts with commissioners, 
but authorised by, for example, GPs on behalf of commissioners, are not recognised by 
commissioners; or 

! there is a lack of agreement over proposed contract penalties for sub-standard 
performance.  

We do not consider NHS income to be at high risk of significant misstatement, or to be 
subject to a significant level of judgement. However, due to its materiality in the context of 
the financial statements as a whole NHS income is considered to be one of the areas which 
had the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy and allocation of resources in planning 
and completing our audit. 

Our response: In this area, our audit procedures included: 

! Using the results of the AoB exercise to match the Trusts’ NHS income with counterparty 
expenditure. We investigated differences by reconciling the initial contract value with the 
counterparty  to the final income reported in the financial statements, determining the  
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reasons for any differences and critically assessing the validity of recognising reconciling 
income items in the Trust’s financial statements.  

! for estimated accruals relating to completed periods of healthcare, comparing a sample 
of accruals to the invoice raised in the new financial year and checking evidence of 
payment;   

! Checking  the validity of accruals for partially completed spells by reconciling to  
counterparty  balances and for a sample of balances checking evidence of  payment or 
acceptance after the year end; 

! For a sample of  invoices raised immediately before and after the balance sheet date  
checking that income had been  recognised in the correct financial period.  

! Considering the adequacy of the disclosures about the key judgements and degree of 
estimation involved in arriving at the estimate of revenue receivable and the related 
sensitivities. 

 

3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 

The materiality for the financial statements was set at £2.5 million, determined with 
reference to a benchmark of income from operations (of which it represents 1.6%). We 
consider income from operations to be more stable than a surplus-related benchmark.  

We report to the Audit Committee any corrected and uncorrected identified misstatements 
exceeding £125,000, in addition to other identified misstatements that warrant reporting on 
qualitative grounds. 

Our audit of the Trust was undertaken to the materiality level specified above and was all 
performed at the Trust’s headquarters in Ashton-under-Lyne. 

 

4 Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts is unmodified  

In our opinion:   

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared 
in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15; and 

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements. 

 

5 We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters  on which 
we are required to report by exception   

Under ISAs (UK&I) we are required to report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired 
during our audit, we have identified other information in the annual report that contains a 
material inconsistency with either that knowledge or the financial statements, a material 
misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise misleading.  

In particular, we are required to report to you if:  

• we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during 
our audit and the directors’ statement that they consider that the annual report and 
accounts taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
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information necessary for patients, regulators and other stakeholders to assess the 
Trust’s performance, business model and strategy; or 

• the report titled ‘Audit Committee – Report of the Chair’ within the Directors Report  
does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the audit committee. 

Under the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts we are required to report to you if in our 
opinion: 

• the Annual Governance Statement does not reflect the disclosure requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2014/15, is misleading or is not 
consistent with our knowledge of the Trust and other information of which we are aware 
from our audit of the financial statements.  

We have nothing to report in respect of these responsibilities. 

 

6 Other matters on which we are required to report by exception – adequacy 
of arrangements for securing value for money  

Under Section 62(1) of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts, we have a duty to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

In March 2011, Monitor notified the Trust that it was in significant breach of its Terms of 
Authorisation and the Trust has been in breach of its provider licence with Monitor since 
April 2013.  

In August 2013, Monitor placed the Trust in special measures and invoked its powers under 
section 105 and 106 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  This was due to significant 
concerns about the poor quality of care provided to patients, underperformance against 
financial targets and weaknesses in board governance arrangements. The Trust has taken 
significant action to improve patient care and governance during the year as outlined in the 
Annual Report.  However, significant work is still required to address regulatory concerns 
over the long-term financial sustainability of  the Trust in its current form. As at 31 March 
2015, the Trust remained subject to enforcement action and remains in special measures.As 
a result of these matters, we are unable to satisfy ourselves that Tameside Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015. 

 

Certificate of audit completion 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Tameside Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor. 

This certificate has been issued subject to the qualifications that: 

we have been unable to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper arrangements 
forsecuring economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources; 

whilst we have issued a limited assurance opinion in relation to the content of the quality 
report,  we have not issued an opinion in relation to one of the Trust’s mandated indicators 
(“percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for patients on incomplete pathways 
at the end of the reporting period”) 
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Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor 

As described more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true 
and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the UK Ethical Standards for 
Auditors. 

 

Scope of an audit of financial statements performed in accordance with ISAs (UK 
and Ireland)   

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on our website at 
www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeother2014.  This report is made subject to important 
explanations regarding our responsibilities, as published on that website, which are 
incorporated into this report as if set out in full and should be read to provide an 
understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we have undertaken and the basis of 
our opinions. 

 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

This report is made solely to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance 
with Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Council of Governors of the Trust, as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

 

 

Trevor Rees   

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor   

Chartered Accountants   

1 St. Peter’s Square 

Manchester 

M2 3AE 

28 May 2015  



Page 1 Intro

Annual Accounts - Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2014/15

 

Trust name: Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
This year for the period 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015
This year ended 31st March 2015
This year beginning 1st April 2014

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

These accounts for the period ended 31st March 2015 have been prepared by the Tameside Hospital NHS

Foundation Trust in accordance with Schedule 7, sections 24 and 25 of the National Health Services Act

2006, in the form which Monitor, the independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, has directed.

Foreword to the accounts for the period 1st April 2014 to 31st March 2015
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2014/15 2013/14

NOTE £000 £000

Operating Income

Income from activities 3 146,020 145,472

Other income 4 13,462 20,993

Operating expenses 5 (171,096) (161,419)

Operating (Deficit)/surplus (11,614) 5,046

Finance costs:

Finance income 8 23 59

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 8 (3,221) (3,159)

Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions (19) (9)

PDC Dividends Payable (873) (810)

Net Finance Cost (4,090) (3,919)

(Deficit)/surplus for the year* (15,704) 1,127

Other comprehensive income and expenditure
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 0 (310)

In Year Revaluation Gain 7,179 3,280

Total comprehensive income and expense for the year (8,525) 4,097

The notes on pages 6 to 37 form part of these accounts.

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.

*The (Deficit)/Surplus for the year excluding exceptional items 2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year* (15,704) 1,127

Exceptional Items

Impairment Reversal 2,823 4,908

Impairment 0 (163)

Restructure Cost (91) 0

Total Exceptional Items 2,732 4,745

(Deficit) for the Year - excluding exceptional items (18,436) (3,618)

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2015
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31 March 2015 31 March 2014

NOTE £000 £000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 0 0
Property, plant and equipment 10 114,370 106,195
Trade and other receivables 13 3,312 2,647
Total non-current assets 117,682 108,842
Current assets
Inventories 12 1,421 1,299
Trade and other receivables 13 5,500 6,370
Non-current assets held for sale 14 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 15 991 4,586
Total current assets 7,912 12,255
Total assets 125,594 121,097
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (17,653) (19,461)
Borrowings 17 (1,227) (1,428)
Other liabilities 18 (2,464) (1,494)
Provisions 20 (625) (189)
Net current (liabilities)/assets (14,057) (10,317)
Total assets less current liabilities 103,625 98,525
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 0 0
Borrowings 17 (70,863) (57,440)
Other liabilities 18 (664) (698)
Provisions 20 (802) (638)
Total assets employed 31,296 39,749

Financed by taxpayers' equity:
Public dividend capital SOCITE 53,240 53,168
Retained earnings SOCITE (47,963) (32,765)
Revaluation reserve SOCITE 26,019 19,346
Total Taxpayers' Equity 31,296 39,749

      

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2015

The financial statements on pages 2 to 37 were approved by the Board on 28 May 2015
and signed on its behalf by:
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Public dividend 
capital (PDC)

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2013 53,168 (34,130) 16,614 35,652

Retained Surplus for the year 0 1,127 0 1,127

Impairment losses in the year on property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 (310) (310)

Revaluation in year gain on property, plant and equipment 0 0 3,280 3,280

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the income and expenditure 
reserve

0 238 (238) 0

Balance at 31 March 2014 53,168 (32,765) 19,346 39,749

Balance at 1 April 2014 53,168 (32,765) 19,346 39,749

Retained Surplus for the year 0 (15,704) 0 (15,704)

Revaluation in year gain on property, plant and 
equipment 0 0 7,179 7,179

Public dividend capital received 9,079 0 9,079

Public dividend capital repaid (9,007) 0 0 (9,007)

Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation 
over historical cost depreciation to the income and 
expenditure reserve

506 (506) 0

Balance at 31 March 2015 53,240 (47,963) 26,019 31,296

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY
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2014/15 2013/14

NOTE £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating (deficit)/surplus as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive Income SOCI (11,614) 5,046

Depreciation and amortisation 5 4,747 5,030

(Impairment reversals) and impairments 5 (2,823) (4,745)

Loss/(Gain) on disposal of equipment 5 31 (298)

Non-cash donations/grants credited to income 4 (65) (50)

(Increase) in inventories 12 (122) (45)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 13 396 (2,489)

(Decrease) in trade and other payables 16 (1,735) (821)

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities 18 936 (2,060)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 20 581 (137)

Net cash (outflow) used in operating activities (9,668) (569)

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received SOCI 23 59

(Payments) to acquire property, plant and equipment 10 (2,919) (3,416)

Proceeds from disposal of plant, property and equipment 0 950

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (2,896) (2,407)

Net cash (outflow) before financing (12,564) (2,976)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received SOCITE 9,079 0

Public dividend capital repaid SOCITE (9,007) 0

Interim Revenue Support Loan from the DOH 17 14,650 0

Interest element of finance leases and Private Finance Initiative Obligation SOCI (3,221) (3,159)

Capital element of  Private Finance Initiative Obligations 17 (1,428) (1,386)

PDC Dividend Paid as detailed on the Statement of Comprehensive Income SOCI (1,104) (448)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing 8,969 (4,993)

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,595) (7,969)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 4,586 12,555

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 15 991 4,586

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 March 2015
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES/INTRODUCTION

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the

following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2014/15 NHS Foundation Trust Annual

Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting

Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury's Annual Reporting Manual to the

extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. The accounting policies have been applied

consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.  

The NHS Foundation Trust for 2014/15 is reporting a deficit of £15.704m, which is a movement of £16.831m from the

surplus of £1.127m reported in 2013/14.  The main reason for the movement is due to a reduction of other income £7.5m, 

as detailed in note 4 and an increase of operating expenses of £9.677m, as detailed in note 5.

The net current liabilities for the NHS Foundation Trust are (£14.057m), an increase of £3.74m, from (£10.317m) in
2013/14. The main reason for the increase is due to the NHS Foundation Trust's cash balance of £991k, reducing from
£4.586m in 2013/14. The cash balance has reduced due to the additional costs incurred by the Trust during the financial
year. This has resulted in the NHS Foundation Trust obtaining an Interim Revenue Support Loan from the Department of
Health (DH) for £14.65m. The Interim Revenue Support Loan is detailed in note 17, as a non current liability. The
interest on the loan is charged at 1.5% and is repayable every 6 months, the principle of the loan is repayable in 2 years,
with a possibility of an extension to a repayment date of March 2020. However, it is expected the loan will be converted
into a further Interim Revenue Support Loan following approval by DH of a detailed business case for a sustainable
organisation and it is not expected to be repaid.

Monitor have appointed a Contingency Planning Team who have been working with the NHS Foundation Trust to identify 
a financially and clinically sustainable configuration, for the NHS Foundation Trust, going forward.  It is accepted this will 
take time to be implement.  It is expected this will support the business case which will be submitted to DH for any further 
Interim Revenue Support Loans.

The Total assets employed for the NHS Foundation Trust at the end of the financial year are £31.296m, a reduction of
£8.453m from £39.749m in 2013/14. This movement relates to the 2014/15 deficit of (£15.704m), offset by the increase
of the revaluation reserve for to the increased valuation of the Foundation Trusts' Land and Buildings of £7.179m, there
is also an increase on the Public dividend capital (PDC) of £72k relating to a grant received from the Integrated Digital
Care Fund.

1.1 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation of
Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets at their value to the business by reference to their current costs.
NHS Foundation Trusts, in compliance with HM Treasury's Accounting Reporting Manual, are not required to disclose
earnings per share or historical profits and losses.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
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1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations

Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' where they meet all of the following conditions:

a. the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities transferred to another public sector body) or termination is completed
either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the commencement of the subsequent period and the date on
which the financial statements are approved;

b. if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;

c. the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHS Foundation Trust's operations and
represents a material reduction in its operating facilities, resulting either from its withdrawal from a particular activity or from a
material reduction in income in the NHS Foundation Trust's continuing operations; and

d. the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and for financial
reporting purposes.

Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.

Activities are considered to be 'acquired' whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.

1.3 Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the NHS Foundation Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates

and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from those estimates, and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that

period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.3.1 Critical judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty in applying accounting policies

The following critical judgment and key sources of estimation uncertainty has been made in the process of applying the NHS

Foundation Trust's accounting polices.

∗ the NHS Foundation Trust closed the 2014/15 financial year with a deficit excluding exceptional items of (£15.704m) and with a

continuity of service risk rating (CoSRR) of 1. The Trust is planning a financial deficit excluding exceptional items of (£25.752m) in

2015/16. Delivery of this plan is dependent on the delivery of a £6.1m cost improvement programme (CIP). As at the 31st March

2015, the NHS Foundation Trust has assets of £31.298m and anticipates this will reduce to £5.545m by the 31st March 2016. This

is due to the planned deficit and the consequent requirement to borrow a further £24.23m from DH in 2015/16. The NHS

Foundation Trust has prepared the accounts to 31 March 2015 on the basis that it will remain a going concern.

∗ In 2014/15 DH changed the cash funding guidance. This change resulted in the NHS Foundation Trust repaying the PDC
capital funding of £9.007m, which had been received in the year and receiving an Interim Revenue Support Loan for £14.65m. To
support the planned deficit and ensure the NHS Foundation Trust has sufficient cash to support the 2015/16 financial position and
ensure the going concern status, the NHS Foundation Trust will be applying for a further Interim Revenue Support Loan for
£24.23m, which it will draw down from the Department of Health based on its financial plans submitted to Monitor. Ongoing
negotiations between the NHS Foundation Trust, Monitor and DH, ultimately rely on DH's agreement. Until the agreement has
been finalised, the NHS Foundation Trust has received confirmation of cash support from a Working Capital Facility, which is
expected to be utilised in June 2015. This will be repaid on receipt of the Interim Revenue Loan, the NHS Foundation Trust is
expecting this to be agreed by DH in July 2015.



Page 8

Annual Accounts - Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2014/15

1.4 Income

∗ The NHS Foundation Trust has submitted a cashflow forecast for 2015/16 to Monitor . The forecast is based on a monthly
profiled Income and Expenditure which includes the achievement of increased income or expenditure savings from the delivery
of CIP. The monthly profiling also includes the planned expenditure relating to capital expenditure. The draw down from the
Interim Revenue Support Loan has been based on the cash requirements of the phased monthly profiling. The NHS Foundation
Trust is assuming minimum movement relating to working capital and will continue to ensure the debtors remain at a minimum,
and the creditors will be paid based on the available cash. There is a risk to the NHS Foundation Trust if it is unable to achieve
the cashflow forecast. The NHS Foundation Trust, may be required to request a higher drawdown of the loan, than originally
planned in order to receive cash support earlier in the financial year, should the CIP not be delivered as the original monthly
profile. The NHS Foundation Trust, meets regularly to discuss the CIP targets and achievement of the targets. If cash was not
available it would be necessary to consider other options which may include delaying expenditure on capital schemes until
sufficient funds became available. The NHS Foundation Trust would also need to enter discussions with its commissioners as to
the identification of commissioner requested services and how these would be supported going forward.

∗ The Directors' of the NHS Foundation Trust are aware of the uncertainties of the financial support and the risks relating to the

CIP. The Directors have no reason to believe the DH will not provide the required loans in 2015/16. The Going Concern

Statement is included in the Annual Report on page 28 and 29. This confirms the NHS Foundation Trust has signed contracts

for the expected income for 2015/16, a resolution has been submitted by the Board of Directors' to Monitor for the working

capital facility and the loan, the capital programme has been reviewed and a risk assessment has been completed to reflect the

requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust. The financial plans for 2015/16 have had a full identification of potential downsides

and upsides and include the potential impact of planned demand management initiatives.

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is measured at the

fair value of the consideration receivable. For patients whose treatment straddles the year end, this means income is

apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay. The main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust

is contracts with commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under local agreements, NHS Contracts.  

The NHS Foundation Trust estimates the month 12 patient related income based on an average cost for the activity delivered in 
the month for each specialty, as fully coded Healthcare Resource Group (HRG) data is not available in time for the closure of
the annual accounts.

∗ Valuation of Plant, Property and Equipment and the lives selected have estimation uncertainty. The Land and Buildings are

based on the valuation provided by the HMRC District Valuer. The valuation is completed as detailed in note 1.8.2. When

equipment is recognised as a tangible fixed asset an estimate of the expected life is determined based on the type of equipment.

Consequently if the equipment is no longer able to be used, this could result in an additional charge to the NHS Foundation Trust

if the asset is disposed from the asset register before the end of the expected life.

Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in future financial years, that income is deferred.

Income from sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met, and is measured

as the sums due under the sale contract.

The NHS Foundation Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme (CRU), designed to reclaim the cost
of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The NHS
Foundation Trust recognises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension's
Compensation Recovery Unit (CRU) that the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is measured at the
agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation claims and
doubtful debts.
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1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits

1.6 Pension costs

1.7 Expenditure on other goods and Services

1.8

1.8.1

1.8.2

- it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;

- individually they have a cost of at least £5,000;  

- it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the NHS Foundation Trust;

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees.

The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial

statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under
these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary
of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their
share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution
scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for
the accounting period.  

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they have been received, and is measured at the

fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of

non-current assets such as property, plant and equipment.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Capitalisation

Property, Plant and Equipment are capitalised where:-

- collectively they have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are
under single managerial control;  or

- they form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, e.g. plant

and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own economic lives.

Valuation

All land and buildings are stated at their revalued amount. Plant and equipment assets are stated at their depreciated
replacement costs. Upon initial recognition, all tangible assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including any
costs such as installation directly attributable to bringing them into working condition. The carrying values of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable.  

All land and buildings are revalued using professional valuations in accordance with IAS16 at least every five years. A three

yearly interim valuation is also carried out, as a minimum. The NHS Foundation Trust may also consider additional valuations

due to significant changes in external environmental factors. Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in

accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisals and Valuation Manual.
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1.8.3 Subsequent Expenditure

1.8.4 Depreciation

Category

Number of 
Years 

Maximum 
Useful 

Economic Life

Category

Number of 
Years 

Maximum 
Useful 

Economic Life

BUILDING ELEMENTS 60 SHORT LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPUIPMENT 5
ENGINEERING INSTALLATIONS 25 MEDIUM LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPUIPMENT 10
DWELLINGS 60 LONG LIFE MEDICAL EQUIPMENT 15
OTHER ENGINEERING PLANT & EQUIPMENT 15 MAINFRAME IT 7
VEHICLES 7 CAPITALISED REVENUE 10
FURNITURE & FITTINGS 10 IT EQUIPMENT 5
OFFICE EQUIPMENT 5

The Useful Economic Life (UEL) of any asset will be a minimum of 5 years when it is added to the NHS Foundation Trust's Asset Register. The
maximum life that an asset is expected to have is detailed below, identified by the different categories. The NHS Foundation Trust, assesses
the asset individually to reflect the correct UEL when adding the asset to the NHS Foundation Trust's Asset Register, and reviews this and the
residual value at the year-end.

Valuations are normally carried out on the basis of depreciated replacement cost at the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) valuation for
specialised operational property, this is in accordance with the requirements of RICS Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The Modern Equivalent
Asset valuation is the cost of replacing an existing building at current cost, using modern building equipment, structures and technology. Non-
Specialised operational property is valued at existing use. This is in line with Department of Health guidance. The value of land for existing use
purposes is assessed at existing use value.  For non-operational properties including surplus land, the valuations are carried out at open market 
value.  

During 2014/15, the NHS Foundation Trust had a full site valuation as at 31st March 2015. The NHS Foundation Trust would have a valuation
for any new buildings when they are brought into use.

Properties in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five and three-yearly valuation
or, for new buildings, when they are brought into use.

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into operational use.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset,

when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such

item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the

replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other

expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the

Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives.  No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets held for sale.

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated remaining life of the asset as advised by the District
Valuer.  Leaseholds are depreciated over the primary lease term.
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1.8.5 Revaluation and impairments

Revaluations

Impairments 

1.8.6 De-recognition

    to it.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the ‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the

carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is
retained as an operational asset, the asset is impaired and the economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or
demolition occurs.

o    an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;

o    the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;

o    the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and

o    the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant changes made                                                           

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Non Current Assets Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met: 

*         the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and customary for such sales;

*        the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

o    management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;

In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service potential in the asset are charged to
operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount
equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that
asset before the impairment.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and
thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of “other
comprehensive income”.

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease
that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income.

An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances
that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the
carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation
reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure
reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
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1.8.7 Donated and other grant funded assets

1.8.8 Revenue government and other grants

1.8.9

1.8.10

Finance Leases

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The asset is recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are
recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding
liability.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the contract
from the operators' planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than
expected, a short-term finance lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively. 

An element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated to the finance lease. In accordance
with IAS 17 - Leases, this amount is not included in the minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as contingent rent and
is expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of the liability and the expense is presented as a
contingent finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are capitalised where they meet
the NHS Foundation Trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator
and are measured initially at their fair value.  

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant
is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in
the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities
and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the charges for
services. The finance cost is calculated using the implicit interest rate for the scheme.

PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 - Service Concessions Arrangements, definition of a service concession, as
interpreted in HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the NHS
Foundation Trust. The underlying assets are recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment at their fair value as determined in
the operators' model. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 17 - Leases.

Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for the provision
of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match
that expenditure.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and
equipment.
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1.9

1.9.1 Recognition

    ∗  it is probable that future economic benefit will flow to the NHS Foundation Trust;

    ∗  the cost of the asset can be measured reliably;

    ∗  the cost is at least £5,000; and

    

1.9.2 Software

1.9.3 Measurement

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of
property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised
as an intangible asset.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce and prepare
the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in
the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating
expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating income. Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to
operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income as an item of ‘Other Comprehensive Income’.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’.

The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost. The annual finance cost is
calculated by applying the implicit interest to the outstanding liability and is charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Operating Leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives
are added to the lease rentals and charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.

∗  the NHS Foundation Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during development.

Contingent Rentals

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leases for Land and Buildings

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated. Leased land is treated as an operating
lease.  Leased buildings are assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 

The Trust as Lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
NHS Foundation Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights.  They are recognised only when:- 
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1.9.4 Amortisation

1.9.5

1.10

1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

1.12 Provisions

Clinical negligence costs

Non-clinical risk pooling

The NHS Foundation Trust provides for legal and constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the Statement
of Financial Position date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Provisions are
recognised where is it probable that there will be a future outflow of costs or other resource and reliable estimate can be made of
the amount. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted
using the HM Treasury's discount rate of 1.8% in real terms. 

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the NHS Foundation Trust, however all clinical
negligence claims are recognised in the accounts of the NHSLA. Consequently, the NHS Foundation Trust has no provision for
the clinical negligence claims. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS
Foundation Trust is disclosed at note 20. The provision represents the NHS Foundation Trust's liability in relation to excesses
payable for claims incurred at the year end.

The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are

risk pooling schemes under which the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in

return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable in

respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of
economic or service delivery benefits.

Pharmacy Stock -  Weighted Average Cost.

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without any penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
Interest earned on bank accounts is recorded as interest receivable in the periods to which they relate. The balances exclude
monies held in the bank accounts belonging to patients (see "third party assets - note 1.17").

Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 95 days or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. Interest earned on the investments is recorded as interest
receivable. The NHS Foundation Trust has a Treasury Management Policy. Due to the changes in the calculation for the PDC.
The NHS Foundation Trust is only depositing with HM Treasury in the National Loans Fund.  

Other stock - Lower of cost and net realisable value on a first in first out basis.

Management review the inventories and make appropriate provision for old and obsolete items on a regular basis.

Valuation

All Intangible Assets are stated at their valuation amount, which is reviewed by management on an annual basis.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at:-.  
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1.13

1.14 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend

1.15 Value Added Tax

1.16 Corporation Tax

1.17 Third Party Assets

1.18 Losses and Special Payments

Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase
cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

The NHS Foundation Trust is a Health Service Body with the meaning of s519A ICTA 1988 and accordingly is exempt from taxation in
respect of income and capital gains with categories covered by this.  There is power for the Treasury to dis-apply the exemption in relation to 
specified activities of a Foundation Trust (s519A (3) to (8) ICTA 1988). Accordingly, the NHS Foundation Trust is potentially within scope of
corporation tax in respect of activities which are not related to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare, and where the profits exceed
£50,000 per annum.

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the NHS Foundation
Trust has no beneficial interest in them.  Details of third party assets are given in note 23 to the accounts.

Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an accruals
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had NHS Foundation Trusts not been bearing their own
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).  

Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed

legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared

with the generality of payments.  They are divided into different categories, which govern the way each individual case is handled.

Contingencies

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the NHS Foundation Trust, or a present obligation that is not recognised
because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
sufficiently reliably.  

Contingent Liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 20, unless the probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote.

Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities at the time of
establishment of the original NHS Trust.  HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the NHS Foundation Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend. The charge is
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the NHS Foundation Trust during the
financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets
(including lottery funded assets), (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and National Loans
Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that relate to a short-term working capital facility, (iii) for 2013/14 only,
net assets and liabilities transferred from bodies which ceased to exist on 1 April 2013, and (iv) any PDC dividend balance receivable or
payable. In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is
calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus
calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts.
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1.19 Financial Instruments

Recognition 

De-recognition

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and Measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as 'Fair value through Income and Expenditure' or as 'Other financial liabilities'.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 'Fair Value through Income and Expenditure'

Loans and receivables

Available-for-sale financial assets

The NHS Foundation Trust recognises assets as Available for Sale when the NHS Foundation Trust has made a strategic

decision to sell a Financial Assets.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 'fair value through income and expenditure' are financial assets or financial liabilities
held for trading. The NHS Foundation Trust does not hold any of this particular class.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets.

The NHS Foundation Trust's loans and receivables comprise: Cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income

and 'other receivables'.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods
or services), which are entered into in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust's normal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or
services is made. Trade receivables are recognised as Financial Assets, after making any provision for impairment that is
deemed appropriate after reviewing the specific nature and circumstances relating to each receivable balance. Trade
Receivables are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis with particular focus on Trade Receivables which are greater than
three months old.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are recognised and
measured in accordance with the accounting policy as described in note 1.8.10.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the NHS Foundation Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the NHS Foundation
Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through Income and Expenditure’, 'Loans and receivables' or 'Available for Sale'
financial assets. 
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Other financial liabilities

Determination of fair value

Impairment of financial assets

1.20

The NHS Foundation Trust does not currently have any subsidiaries.

1.21   Accounting Standards which have been issued but which have not yet been adopted

The Treasury Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards to be applied in 2014/15:

IAS 1  Presentation of financial statements (Other Comprehensive Income) - subject to consultation

IAS 12  Income Taxes (amendment) – effective 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU

IAS 27  Separate Financial Statements  - subject to consultation

IAS 28  Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - subject to consultation

IFRS 9  Financial Instruments - subject to consultation

IFRS 10  Consolidated Financial Statements  - subject to consultation

IFRS 11  Joint Arrangements  - subject to consultation

IFRS 12  Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities  - subject to consultation

IFRS 13  Fair Value Measurement - subject to consultation

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date, which
are classified as long-term liabilities.

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to Finance Costs.

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts of the NHS Foundation Trust for 2014/15, were they

applied in that year.

For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are determined by reference to quoted market prices,
independent appraisals or discounted cash flow analysis.

At the Statement of Financial Position date, the NHS Foundation Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at 'fair
value through income and expenditure' are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying

amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised

in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

Subsidiaries

For 2014/15, the NHS Foundation Trust has not consolidated it's Charitable Funds,as these were not material.

IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures (annual improvements)  - effective 2013/14 but not yet adopted by the EU
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2 Operating segments

Elective Services
Emergency Services
Women & Children's Services
Other Services

Detailed below is the split for the various segments:-

Elective 
Services 
Segment

Emergency 
Services 
Segment

Women and 
Children's 
Services 
Segment

Other 
Services 
Segment

Total 
2014/15

Elective 
Services 
Segment

Emergency 
Services 
Segment

Women and 
Children's 
Services 
Segment

Other 
Services 
Segment

Total 
2013/14

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Clinical Income 44,809 58,383 23,299 19,529 146,020 40,334 61,550 22,693 20,895 145,472

Non-Clinical Income 1,192 1,579 912 9,779 13,462 1,156 1,476 849 17,512 20,993

Total Income 46,001 59,962 24,211 29,308 159,482 41,490 63,026 23,542 38,407 166,465

Pay Expenditure (29,990) (37,506) (16,028) (29,585) (113,109) (25,215) (37,404) (15,959) (27,935) (106,513)

Non Pay Expenditure (7,380) (5,095) (1,283) (44,229) (57,987) (7,130) (4,787) (1,191) (41,798) (54,906)

Total Expenditure (37,370) (42,601) (17,311) (73,814) (171,096) (32,345) (42,191) (17,150) (69,733) (161,419)

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 8,631 17,361 6,900 (44,506) (11,614) 9,145 20,835 6,392 (31,326) 5,046

Finance Cost:-

Finance Income 0 0 0 23 23 0 0 0 59 59

Finance Expenses - financial liabilities 0 0 0 (3,221) (3,221) 0 0 0 (3,159) (3,159)

Finance Expenses - Unwinding of 
discount on provisions 0 0 0 (19) (19) 0 0 0 (9) (9)

PDC Dividends Payable 0 0 0 (873) (873) 0 0 0 (810) (810)

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 8,631 17,361 6,900 (48,596) (15,704) 9,145 20,835 6,392 (35,245) 1,127

The NHS Foundation Trust considers the Board to be the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) because it regularly reviews operating results, makes decisions about where

resources are allocated as a result and assesses performance.

Income and Expenditure arises from the following segments, the NHS Foundation Trust reports monthly to the Board on a distinct and separate basis and therefore they have been
disclosed separately in the financial statements:-

Current Period 2014/15 Prior Period 2013/14

Note: Other Services Segment includes all the overhead cost of running the NHS Foundation Trust, such as estate costs, PFI charges, support services such as Pathology, Xray etc
and other services such as Catering, Laundry and Pharmacy. These are just examples for information, but all these services are required to support the segments which directly
generate the income from direct patient care.

The NHS Foundation Trust provides the service of NHS Healthcare to the general public the majority of whom are based in England and the above detailed segments are the key
operational segments that the NHS Foundation Trust uses to make management decisions.

Each month the NHS Foundation Trust reports to the Trust Board, Operating Income and Expenditure split between Clinical Income and Non Clinical Income, Pay Expenditure and

Non Pay Expenditure.  The NHS Foundation Trust also reports Non Operating Income and Expenditure including Exceptional items.

The majority of the Clinical Income is received from Tameside & Glossop CCG, which generated income amounting to 84% of the NHS Foundation Trust's total income. This
customer generated clinical income of £122.145m which is included in the segments detailed below.  
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3  Income From Activities

3.1 Income by Classification
2014/15 2013/14

£000 £000
Commissioner Requested Services
Elective income 22,963 22,432
Non elective income 44,895 47,641
Outpatient income 25,942 26,542
A & E income 8,710 8,392
Other NHS clinical income 41,219 39,424
Non-Commissioner Requested Services
Private patient income 16 15
Other Non-Commissioner Requested Services:-
Overseas Visitors Non-Reciprocal 20 16
Compensation Recovery Unit 745 988
Prescription Income 23 22
Other 1,487 0

TOTAL 146,020 145,472

3.2 Income by Source 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

NHS:
Foundation Trusts 135 52
NHS Trusts 133 0
CCG and NHS England 143,424 144,328
NHS other 0 15
Non-NHS: 
>Local Authority 70 36
>Private patients 16 15
>Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 20 16
>Compensation Recovery Unit 745 988
>Other 1,477 22

146,020 145,472
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4.  Other Income 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Research and development 393 258
Education, training and research 4,213 3,823
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 79 115
Grant Income received from NHS Charitable Funds (receipt of donated assets) 65 50
Non-patient care services to other bodies* 3,687 6,506
Income generation (see note 4.1 for breakdown) 2,155 2,930
Private Finance Initiative Transitional Income ** 0 2,035
Profit on Disposal of Non Current Assets Held for Sale 0 298
Rental Revenue from Operating Leases - minimum lease receipts 47 70
Reversal of Impairments of property, plant and equipment 2,823 4,908

13,462 20,993

4.1.  Revenue - Income Generation 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Car Parking 1,086 1,084
Staff Accommodation rentals 66 64
Catering 337 342
Property Rentals 23 21
Clinical Excellence Awards 91 91
Other 552 1,328

2,155 2,930

5.  Operating Expenses 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Services from Foundation Trusts 3,089 2,748
Services from other NHS Trusts 45 11
Services from other NHS bodies 198 207
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 623 717
Executive Directors' costs 819 833
Non Executive Directors' costs 103 103
Staff costs 112,187 105,577
Drug Costs 8,155 7,303
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs) 12,969 12,664
Supplies and services - general 5,803 5,372
Establishment 1,210 1,073
Research and Development 10 0
Transport 695 625
Premises 11,491 10,861
Increase/(decrease) Bad debt provision 184 (128)
Change in provisions discount rate 0 32
Rentals under Operating Leases - minimum lease payments 118 113
Depreciation 4,747 5,030
Impairments of property, plant and equipment 0 163
Audit Services - Statutory Audit fees* 87 74
Other auditor's remuneration:-
- Internal audit services 93 88
- Other Assurance Services 5 0
Clinical negligence ** 5,765 5,012
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 31 0
Legal Fees 747 351
Consultancy 607 1,728
Redundancy 42 (351)
Patient travel 7 6
Training 545 295
Losses 65 84
Hospitality 7 2
Insurance 208 247
Other 441 579

171,096 161,419

* The External Auditors Liability is limited to £1m. The scope of work for the External Auditors is to provide a Statutory Audit to the NHS Foundation Trust. This will

be conducted in accordance with the Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts (the Audit Code) issued by Monitor in accordance with paragraph 24 of schedule 7 of

the Act. The scope of the work is for the External Auditors to be satisfied that the NHS Foundation Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy,

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The External Auditors are to provide their opinion on the financial statements.

* In 2013/14, Non-patient care services to other bodies, includes income of £2.84m to support the implementation cost of the patients record system - Lorenzo. In
2014/15 the system had been implemented and the NHS Foundation Trust, did not receive any further income to support these costs.

** The NHS Foundation Trust has received income for transitional costs. The transitional costs relates to the extra costs incurred by the NHS Foundation Trust to
manage the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) contract during construction and commissioning,  to enable it to move to the new PFI hospital which opened in October
2010 and the decommissioning of the vacated buildings in preparation for demolition. During 2014/15, no income was released to support any of these cost,
compared to £2.035m which was released in 2013/14.

** The clinical negligence cost has had a substantial increase of cost from 2012/13. A transitional pathway was agreed with the NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA)
spreading the cost evenly over a three year period, with 2014/15 being the last year.  £0.5m of the increase in 2014/15 relates to transitional cost and the remainder 
relates to the inflation increase. In 2015/16 the cost is expected to increase to £8.936m, resulting in an additional expenditure to the Trust of £3.171m from the
2014/15 expenditure.
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6. Operating leases

6.1 As lessee

The NHS Foundation Trust has 11 operating leases as detailed below:-

Company
Lease 

Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date Lease Description

Bank of Scotland 01/03/2008 28/02/2023 Bed Hire
Automotive leasing 21/11/2011 20/11/2014 Renault 3.5T tail lift BX61 GFU
Automotive leasing 01/02/2012 30/01/2015 Kia Sportage MW61 XWO
Honda 05/03/2013 04/03/2017 Honda Jazz Hatchback - MK62 LVU
Honda 05/03/2013 04/03/2017 Honda Jazz Hatchback -  MK62 NHB
Honda 05/03/2013 04/03/2017 Honda Jazz Hatchback - MK62 MZD
Siemens Financial Services 01/08/2013 31/07/2016 Bolero XL423 Coffee Machine
Automotive leasing 01/03/2014 23/03/2017 Ford Connect - MK14 VCA
Automotive leasing 17/02/2015 17/02/2016 Renault Master C/CAB LL35d FWD - BX64 GKZ
Automotive leasing 09/03/2015 08/03/2015 Citroen B/Ingo Ms 14.75 1.6HD 190 VTR - BX15 HWF
Olympus Keymed 01/04/2015 31/03/2020 Managed Equipment Service for Flexible Scopes

Payments recognised as an expense 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Lease payments 118 113
118 113

Total future minimum lease payments 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Payable:
Not later than one year 159 104
Between one and five years 1,876 437
After 5 years 236 236
Total 2,271 777

6.2  As lessor

The NHS Foundation Trust has five lessors as detailed below:-

Company
Lease 

Commence 
Date

Lease Expiry 
Date Lease Description

T Mobile 20/07/1995 20/07/2015 Roof Space for Radio Mast

BT plc 29/05/2001 29/05/2016 Roof Space for Radio Mast

Gentian 01/06/1998 31/05/2023 Hartshead Shopping Mall

Gentian 09/07/2011 29/08/2041 Café and Retail Units Hartshead South

O2 01/11/2012 31/10/2015 Roof Space for Radio Mast

Total future minimum lessor payments 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Receivable:
Not later than one year 48 70
Between one and five years 141 163
After 5 years 498 530
Total 687 763

The NHS Foundation does not receive any contingent rents from any of the above lessors.  Detailed below are the future minimum payments expected from the 
lessors
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7.  Employee costs and numbers

7.1 Employee costs

Permanently 
Employed Other Total Permanently 

Employed Other Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 79,526 19,048 98,574 75,452 16,529 91,981
Social Security Costs 5,790 0 5,790 6,087 0 6,087
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 8,642 0 8,642 8,342 0 8,342
Total Gross Staff Cost 93,958 19,048 113,006 89,881 16,529 106,410

* Redundancy cost/Exit Packages see note 7.2 107 0 107 122 0 122

The above note excludes the employee cost of the non executive directors.

Other Cost includes 
Included in the above table is the Executive Directors' cost as detailed below:-

2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Executive Directors' Remuneration 697 714
Executive Directors' Social Security Costs 56 57
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme in 
respect of Executive Directors

66 62

Total Executive Directors' Cost as per note 5 819 833
The highest paid Executive Directors' remuneration 214 156
Number of Directors to whom benefits are accruing under 
Defined benefit scheme 7 8

7.2 Exit Packages - other departures analysis

Analysis of Exit Packages

Cost Range
Number of Other 

Departures 
Number

Other 
Departures 

Number     £000

Number of Other 
Departures 

Number

Other Departures 
Number     £000

Less than £10k 0 0 14 34
£10,000 to £50,000 3 107 1 14
£50,00 to £100,000 0 0 1 74
£100,00 to £150,000 0 0 0 0

3 107 16 122

Details of Exit Packages Number of 
Agreements

Total Value of 
Agreements

Number of 
Agreements

Total Value of 
Agreements

£'000 £'000
Voluntary redundancies including early retirement 

contractual costs 0 0 0 0

Mutally agreed resignations (MARS) 2 91 0 0
Contractual payments in lieu of notice 1 16 16 122

Total 3 107 16 122

2014/15

2014/15 2013/14

Full details of Directors' remuneration and other benefits are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust's Remuneration Report on page 157 of the Annual Report.

2014/15 2013/14

2013/14
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7.3 Average number of people employed

Permanently 
Employed Other Total Permanently 

Employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Medical and dental 276 69 346 271 53 324
Administration and estates 544 41 585 499 60 559
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 104 3 106 103 1 104
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,062 207 1,268 990 189 1,179
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 289 12 301 285 6 291
Total 2,275 332 2,607 2,148 309 2,457

7.4 Employee  and Retirement Benefits

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

2014/15 2013/14

The NHS Foundation Trust offers Retirement Benefits to its employees from the NHS Pension Scheme.  The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme.

The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS Bodies to identify their share of the underlying assets and liabilities.

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by
the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:

Up to 31st March 2015, the Scheme was a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years
pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme
Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

c) Scheme provisions 

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years. The latest valuation identified that the scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3bn against the
notional assets at 31 March 2004. The NHS Foundation Trust pays contributions to the scheme at 14% of the employees' pensionable pay. In 2015/16 this contribution
increases to 14.3% of the employees' pensionable pay.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these
follows:

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial date for the current reporting period and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2014, updated to 31 March 2015 with summary global
member ad accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed is IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed
by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales)

Pension Accounts, published annually.  These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to
recommend the contribution rates. 

a) Accounting valuation

The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.  

The scheme regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the
advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
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7.5 Retirements due to ill-health

2014/15 2013/14
Finance Cost £000 £000
Interest on obligations for the Interim Revenue Support Loan * 6 0
Interest on obligations for Private Finance Initiative 2,437 2,495
PFI Contingent Rent 778 664

3,221 3,159

9.  Intangible assets

2014/15 Computer Software Computer 
Software

£000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2014 4,209 Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2013 4,209
At 31 March 2015 4,209 At 31 March 2014 4,209

Depreciation at 1 April 2014 4,209 Depreciation at 1 April 2013 4,209
Charged during the year 0 Charged during the year 0
Depreciation at 31 March 2015 4,209 Depreciation at 31 March 2014 4,209

Net book value Net book value 
Finance Leased 0 Finance Leased 0

Total at 31 March 2015 0 Total at 31 March 2014 0

Prior Year 2013/14

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC
rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending
30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or
infirmity.  A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to the employer.

Members can purchase an additional pension in the NHS Scheme or an Early Retirement Reduction Buy Out (ERRBO) is available to the 2015 scheme members only.

During the financial year 2014/15, there were 3 (2013/14, 1) early retirements from the NHS Foundation Trust on the grounds of ill-health. The estimated additional pension
liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £413,838 (2013/14, £8,792). The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority -
Pensions Division.

The NHS Foundation Trust received £23,000 (2013/14, £59,000) from cash deposited with HM Treasury, and the Government Banking Service provided by Citi Bank. The NHS
Foundation Trust incurred finance costs, as detailed below:-

8.  Investment Revenue and Finance Cost 

With effect from the 1st April 2015 there has been changes to the NHS Pension scheme. The 2015 scheme is a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme. This is a
form of defined pension scheme which means a guaranteed level of benefit at retirement. The 2015 scheme has a build up rate of 1/54, so a pension is earned each year of
1/54 of the pensionable pay. The pension earned each year is revalued by a set rate to account for inflation. The revaluation is currently the consumer price index plus 1.5%.
The build up on the pension benefits in the scheme can be continued until the age of 75, with no limit to the amount of years of membership. The normal pension age (NPA) is
the age at which you can retire without a reduction in the your state pension age (SPA) or 65 if that is later. Benefits cannot be claimed before this age without a reduction for
early payment in the 2015 scheme until the NPA is reach, unless an Early Retirement Reduction Buy Out (ERRBO) has been purchased to enable the member to take their
pension up to 3 years early without reduction (minimum age of 65, must be reached).

Full details relating to the new 2015 NHS Pension scheme can be obtained from the NHS pensions website www.nhsba.nhs.uk/Pensions

* The £6k charged in 2014/15 relates to interest for the period 23rd to 31st March 2015, for 1.5% interest charge on the £14.65m Interim Revenue Support Loan which the Trust
received in March 2015. The interest charge on this loan in 2015/16 will be £217k. The NHS Foundation Trust is expecting to receive an additional Interim Revenue Support
Loan for £24.23m in 2015/16, which will also incur interest of 1.5%. In total the NHS Foundation Trust has set the budget for 2015/16 for an estimate interest payable charge of
£502k.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

2014/15 Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture & 
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014 15,168 83,122 391 186 18,080 168 8,321 128 125,564
Additions purchased 0 0 0 1,958 429 0 499 0 2,886
Additions donated 0 29 0 0 36 0 0 0 65
Reclassifications 0 308 0 (1,183) 851 0 24 0 0
Reversal of impairments credited to operating income 0 1,689 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,689
Revaluation 0 5,642 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,642
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (829) (20) (3,186) 0 (4,035)
At 31 March 2015 15,168 90,790 391 961 18,567 148 5,658 128 131,811

Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 13,273 126 5,893 77 19,369
Charged during the year 0 2,638 33 0 1,259 11 795 11 4,747
Reversal of Impairments credited to operating income 0 (1,134) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,134)
Revaluation 0 (1,504) (33) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,537)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (817) (20) (3,167) (4,004)
Depreciation at 31 March 2015 0 0 0 0 13,715 117 3,521 88 17,441

Net book value 
Purchased 15,168 50,369 391 961 4,223 31 2,135 40 73,318
Donated 0 256 0 0 629 0 2 0 887
Finance Leased - Please see note 10.1 for full analysis 0 40,165 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,165
Total at 31 March 2015 15,168 90,790 391 961 4,852 31 2,137 40 114,370

Minimum Remaining Life Years 0 3 47 0 0 0 0 0
Maximum Remaining Life Years 0 75 48 0 14 3 5 6

10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease

Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have been purchased via 
a Finance Lease as detailed in this note

Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014 0 36,798 0 0 266 9 0 0 37,073
Less Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2014 0 0 0 0 266 9 0 0 275
Less Depreciation Charged in the Period 0 849 0 0 0 0 0 0 849
Plus Revaluation 0 1,759 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,759
Plus Reversal impairment credited to I&E 0 2,457 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,457
Net Book value as at 31 March 2015 0 40,165 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,165
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Prior Period 2013/14: Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Dwellings Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
machinery 

Transport 
equipment 

Information 
technology 

Furniture & 
fittings Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 - as previously stated 15,318 116,209 392 1,562 18,000 178 8,079 128 159,866
Prior Period Adjust to clear Historic Accumulated Depreciation following 
Revaluation (40,165) (40,165)

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 - restated 15,318 76,044 392 1,562 18,000 178 8,079 128 119,701

Additions purchased 0 0 0 1,821 629 0 56 0 2,506
Additions donated 0 0 0 0 140 0 0 0 140
Reclassifications 0 1,770 0 (3,197) 620 0 795 12 0
Impairments charged to the Revaluation Reserve (150) (154) (6) 0 0 0 0 0 (310)
Revaluation 0 5,462 5 0 0 0 0 0 5,467
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,309) (10) (609) (12) (1,940)
At 31 March 2014 15,168 83,122 391 186 18,080 168 8,321 128 125,564

Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2013 - as previously stated 0 40,165 0 0 13,271 116 5,370 78 59,000
Prior Period Adjust to clear Historic Accumulated Depreciation following 
Revaluation (40,165) (40,165)

Accumated Depreciation at 1 April 2013 - restated 0 0 0 0 13,271 116 5,370 78 18,835

Charged during the year 0 2,516 42 0 1,309 20 1,132 11 5,030
Impairments charged to operating expenses 0 163 0 0 0 0 0 0 163
Reversal of Impairments credited to operating income 0 (4,908) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (4,908)
Revaluation 2,229 (42) 2,187
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (1,307) (10) (609) (12) (1,938)
Depreciation at 31 March 2014 0 0 0 0 13,273 126 5,893 77 19,369

Net book value 
Purchased 15,168 46,113 391 186 4,048 42 2,424 51 68,423
Donated 0 211 0 0 759 0 4 0 974
Finance Leased - Please see note 10.1 for full analysis 0 36,798 0 0 0 0 0 0 36,798
Total at 31 March 2014 15,168 83,122 391 186 4,807 42 2,428 51 106,195

Minimum Remaining Life Years 0 9 48 0 0 0 0 1
Maximum Remaining Life Years 0 75 49 0 15 4 5 7

10.1 Analysis of Property, plant and equipment - Finance Lease

Note 10 includes Tangible Fixed Assets which have been purchased via 
a Finance Lease as detailed in this note

Land 
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings Assets under 
Construction 

Plant & 
Machinery

Transport 
Equipment

Information 
Technology

Furniture & 
Fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013 0 33,992 0 0 266 9 0 0 34,267
Less Accumulated Depreciation at 1 April 2013 0 0 0 0 266 8 0 0 274
Less Depreciation Charged in the Period 0 787 0 0 0 1 0 0 788
Plus Reversal impairment credited to I&E 0 3,593 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,593
Net Book value as at 31 March 2014 0 36,798 0 0 0 0 0 0 36,798
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10. Property, plant and equipment

11. COMMITMENTS

11.1. Capital Commitments

11.2 Financial Commitments   

01.4.15 - 
31.3.16

1.4.16 - 
31.3.20

 1.4.20 
onward

1 yr 2-5yr >5 yr Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

B Braun Laparoscopy - Managed Equipment Service 19/03/2013 31/08/2016 438 183 0 621

Canon	  UK Mul0-‐Func0onal	  Devices 01/07/2015 30/06/2020 139 740 46 925

Central	  Manchester	  NHS	  
Founda0on	  Trust

Clinical	  Immunology	  Services 01/04/2015 30/03/2018 82 164 0 246

Draeger	  Medical	  (UK)	  Ltd Oxylog	  3000	  &	  Ven0lators	  -‐	  Maintenance	  Contract 01/04/2011 31/03/2016 13 0 0 13

Health	  Logis0cs E-‐Catalogues	  for	  Procurement 01/04/2015 31/03/2018 13 26 0 39

Health	  Trust	  Europe Framework	  access	  to	  Procurement	  informa0on 01/04/2015 31/03/2020 40 160 0 200

Healthline	  Medical Pulp	  products	  excluding	  male	  urinal	  and	  bedpans 01/02/2014 31/01/2017 71 59 0 130

H-‐Trak
GS1	  Bar	  Code	  Scanning	  -‐	  Procedure	  level	  cos0ng	  -‐	  

Theatre	  System
01/04/2015 31/03/2017 40 40 0 80

Huntleigh	  Healthcare
Maintenance	  of	  Bed	  Frames,	  Ma\resses	  &	  

Associated	  Equipment
11/09/2007 10/09/2015 24 0 0 24

KPMG External	  Audit 01/11/2011 31/10/2016 68 40 0 108

Leaseguard Various	  Maintenance	  Agreements 05/11/2009 01/03/2021 216 210 50 476

Mersey	  Internal	  Audit	  Agency Internal	  Audit 01/06/2013 31/05/2016 62 10 0 72

Mi0e Domes0c	  &	  Portering 01/07/2011 31/07/2016 3,057 1,019 0 4,076

Penlon	  Ltd
Anaesthesia	  Units	  Oxygen	  Monitors	  &	  Ven0lators	  x	  

41	  items	  -‐	  Maintenance	  Contract
01/10/2012 30/09/2015 28 14 0 42

Philips	  Healthcare
2x	  Digital	  Diagnos0c	  VM	  x-‐Ray	  (GB101203-‐014-‐002	  

&	  GB101203-‐013-‐022)	  X	  Ray	  3	  Room	  4	  -‐	  
Maintenance	  Contract

01/04/2011 31/03/2016 40 0 0 40

Puricore Endoscope	  Equipment	  Maintenance	  Contract 01/01/2014 31/12/2016 38 0 0 38

Rocialle	  inhealth Procedure	  Packs 01/04/2015 30/03/2018 73 146 0 219

Specialist	  Computer	  Centre e-‐Rostering	  -‐	  Allocated	  Soaware 30/03/2012 29/03/2017 15 15 0 30

SRCL Clinical	  &	  Domes0c	  Waste 01/06/2014 31/05/2017 98 115 0 213

Sunlight Laundry 01/04/2008 31/06/2015 113 0 0 113

Synergy Sterile	  Services 21/06/2011 01/06/2018 894 969 0 1,863

Synergy Sharps	  Containers 24/02/2014 23/02/2017 30 28 0 58

Viglen	  Storage	  Group SAN	  Maintenance 19/03/2012 18/03/2017 24 576 0 600

5,616 4,513 96 10,225

Company

The NHS Foundation Trust has financial commitments as detailed in the table below. These commitments relate to non-cancellable contracts with companies, which have not been
identified and included in the notes relating to operating or finance leases. The NHS Foundation Trust has a financial commitment to make payments for the remainder of the
contract.

During 2014/15, the Trust received an upward valuation for the value of the Land and Buildings, of approximately 10%. This resulted in a impairment reversal to income of £2.8m
and an increase of the Revaluation Reserve of £7.2m, giving an increase of the Land and Buildings of £10m. The upward valuation was due to an increase in the general BCIS
Tender Price Index since the last valuation on the 31st March 2014, along with a shift in BCIS Location Factors. This increase has also resulted in an increase of the remaining life of
the buildings.

The NHS Foundation Trust had a valuation of the land and buildings on 31st March 2015. This valuation has been undertaken by the District Valuer. The valuation has been
undertaken having regard to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in accordance with the HM Treasury guidance, International Valuation Standards and the
requirements of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  

The valuation of each property is at a fair value following the Modern Equivalent Asset  (MEA) valuation and the valuation for land is at an Existing Use Valuation (EUV).

The NHS Foundation Trust has £550k capital commitments as at the 31st March 2015 (2013/14, £45k).

Contract	  start	  
date

Contract	  end	  
dated

Service

The NHS Foundation Trust has spent £2.9m on capital additions during 2014/15. This has been split between Estates and Estates Maintenance Schemes £0.4m, IT Schemes
£0.6m and Medical Equipment £1.9m. This spend includes £1.5m MRI Scanner, £216k Virtual Desktop Infrastructure/Additional Information Technology Storage System, £123k on
the Critical Care Scheme, and £119k on 2 x Maternity Ultrasound Machines.
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12.  Inventories

31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000

Drugs 479 445
Consumables 905 779
Energy - Oil 37 75
Total 1,421 1,299
Inventories recognised in expenses 9,559 9,283
Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense 23 41
Total Inventories recognised in expenses 9,582 9,324

13.  Trade and other receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables * 2,067 1,438 0 0
Other receivables due from NHS Charities - Revenue 0 1 0 0
Other receivables with related parties  - VAT Debtor 636 530 0 0
Other receivables with related parties* 24 0 0 0
Trade receivables * 290 849 0 0
Provision for the impairment of receivables ** (196) (125) 0 0
PDC Debtor 191 0 0 0
Other receivables - Compensation Recovery Unit (CRU) 937 1,051 335 338
Accrued income 707 1,886 0 0
Prepayments - Non PFI 844 740 0 0
Prepayments - PFI Lifecycle  0 0 2,977 2,309
Total 5,500 6,370 3,312 2,647

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Upto 3 months 1,926 1,220 0 (59)
Three to Six Months 199 854 (20) (12)
Over Six Months 60 87 (176) (54)
Total NHS and Trade Receivables 2,185 2,162 (196) (125)

 

Current

* Ageing of NHS and Trade 
Receivables less impaired 

receivables

** Provision for impairments of 
receivables 

31 March 2015 31 March 201431 March 201431 March 2015

Non-current
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14. Non-current assets held for sale 2014/15 2013/14
£000 £000

Balance as at 1 April 0 650
Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year 0 0
Less assets sold in the year 0 (650)
Less impairment of assets held for sale 0

Balance carried forward as at 31 March 0 0

15. Cash and cash equivalents 31 March 2015 31 March 2014
£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 4,586 12,555
Net change in year (3,595) (7,969)
Balance at 31 March 991 4,586

Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service 954 2,553
Cash with HM Treasury - National Loans Funds 0 2,000
Commercial banks and cash in hand 37 33
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position and the 
Statement of Cash flow 991 4,586

During 2014/15 the Trust has not sold any assets. During 2013/14 the NHS Foundation Trust successfully completed the
sale of the Darnton Building and Land.
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16.  Trade and other payables

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS payables 1,559 1,501 0 0
Trade Payables 2,108 2,548 0 0
Amounts Due to Other Related Parties -NHS Pensions 237 0 0 0
PDC Dividend Payable 0 40 0 0
Social Security Costs 913 886 0 0
Tax payables 1,034 902 0 0
Other trade payables - capital 458 491 0 0
Accruals 9,639 11,775 0 0
Other 1,705 1,318 0 0
Total 17,653 19,461 0 0

17.   Borrowings

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

PFI liabilities 1,227 1,428 56,213 57,440
Interim Revenue Support Loan from Department of Health * 0 0 14,650 0
Total 1,227 1,428 70,863 57,440

18.   Other liabilities

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred income  2,464 1,494 664 698

Total 2,464 1,494 664 698

Current Non-current

Current Non-current

Current Non-current

* The Department of Health has changed the guidance relating to the cash support funding to the NHS Foundation Trust, from the previous funding of Public Dividend Capital. The
NHS Foundation Trust has now received an Interim Revenue Support Loan from the Department of Health. The £14,650k was the required cash support to the NHS Foundation Trust
during 2014/15.



Page 31

Annual Accounts - Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust - 2014/15

19.   Private Finance Initiative contracts

19.1   PFI scheme off-Statement of Financial Position

19.2   PFI scheme on-Statement of Financial Position

- a 48 bedded surgical ward. 

- a dedicated integrated children's unit. 

- over 40% of the beds will be provided in single en-suite rooms. 

- three new operating theatres that will sit alongside the existing theatres in the Hartshead building. 

- a centralised x-ray department. 

- centrally located pharmacy. 

- car parking arrangements. 

- a bridge corridor linking the Ladysmith building to the main hospital. 

- a new main entrance that will provide visitors with a clear focal point of arrival.

 

The NHS Foundation Trust has one PFI scheme on-Statement of Financial Position.

The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any PFI scheme off-Statement of Financial Position.

In November 2005 the NHS Foundation Trust announced that Consort Healthcare had been selected as the private sector company to
work in collaboration with the NHS Foundation Trust in developing and constructing the new hospital buildings. The construction was
carried out by a joint venture between Balfour Beatty Construction Ltd and Balfour Beatty Workplace. The architects for the scheme
were Keppie Design. 

The Health Investment in Tameside (HIT) project is the biggest investment and most extensive site improvement Tameside Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust has seen for decades. It has resulted in new acute facilities with a construction programme which started in
Autumn 2007 and was completed by August 2011, with the full scheme officially being handed over to the Trust. The new facilities
include:-

- an integrated day case and endoscopy unit comprising three day case surgery theatres, three endoscopy rooms and 50 flexible
recovery spaces. 

The NHS Foundation Trust has the right to use the buildings, however Consort Healthcare have the responsibility for maintaining the

buildings to an agreed standard. All lifecycle replacement is also the responsibility of Consort Healthcare.

A key feature of the PFI scheme is that the operator is responsible for ensuring that the property is maintained to an agreed standard
for the entire life of the contract. These are known as lifecycle costs. The cost which the operator expects to incur in doing this is
reflected in the unitary payment and reflects two elements:
• maintenance (planned and reactive); and
• replacement of components as they wear out during the contract – this is known as capital lifecycle.

After the expiry of the contract, the license with Consort Healthcare to operate out of these buildings will expire and the NHS
Foundation Trust will become responsible for the maintenance and lifecycle costs of those buildings.

- centralised outpatient clinics, close to the existing blue and yellow suites in the Hartshead building replacing satellite clinics in outlying
buildings. 

The contract with Consort Healthcare expires at the end of the contract term (28th August 2041) and there is no provision within the
contract to re-price or re-negotiate the prices and dates. There is however the facility for variations to the contract and the NHS
Foundation Trust has procedures to manage those variations in line with Standing Financial Instructions. The Annual Service Payment
will be inflated each April based on the preceding February RPI.
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19.2   PFI schemes on-Statement of Financial Position - continued

Total obligations for on-Statement of Financial Position PFI contracts:

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Not later than one year 3,607 3,864
Later than one year, not later than five years 14,437 14,437
Later than five years 77,139 80,746
Less Future Charges (37,743) (40,179)
Net PFI Obligation 57,440 58,868
- not later than one year 1,227 1,428
- later than one year and not later than five years 5,459 5,239
- later than five years 50,754 52,201

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Within one year 4,664 4,319
Later than one year, not later than five years 20,766 20,395
Later than five years 183,835 193,131
Total Commitments 209,265 217,845

The NHS Foundation Trust has incurred operating expenses detailed below relating to 
the PFI Scheme on-Statement of Financial Position 31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

Depreciation 849 787
Impairment Reversal (2,457) (3,593)
Service Charge 2,889 2,795
Finance Cost 2,437 2,495
Contingent Rent Cost 778 664

4,496 3,148

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

£000 £000

The net carrying amount of PFI assets at the end of the reporting period 40,165 33,992
Contingent Rents recognised as an expense in the period. 778 664

Under IFRIC12, the PFI assets are treated as an asset of the NHS Foundation Trust and the substance of the contract is that the NHS Foundation

Trust has a finance lease. Therefore the unitary payment needs to be split into three elements; payment for services; payment for the property

(comprising repayment of liability, finance cost and contingent rental) and payment for lifecycle replacement.

Commitments in respect of the sevice element of the PFI, including the Operating 
Cost, the contingent rent and life cycle cost excluding the Finance Creditor

The NHS Foundation Trust is committed to make annual service payments (not including PFI finance charges) during the next year of £4,664k.

The payments are to Consort Healthcare for the PFI contract expiring in 26 years, during 2041.
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20. Provisions

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Legal claims 40 98 802 638
Other Provisions & Liabilities 585 91 0 0
Total 625 189 802 638

Legal 
claims Other Total

£000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2013 788 167 955
Arising during the year 76 4 80
Used during the year (96) 0 (96)
Reversed unused (73) (80) (153)
Unwinding of discount at 2.35% 9 0 9
Change of unwinding discount to 1.8% 32 0 32
At 1 April 2014 736 91 827
Arising during the year 234 494 728
Used during the year (85) 0 (85)
Reversed unused (62) 0 (62)
Unwinding of discount at 1.8% 19 0 19
At 31 March 2015 842 585 1,427

Expected timing of cash flows:
Not later than 1 year 40 585 625
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 430 0 430
Later than 5 Years 372 0 372
Total 842 585 1,427

Below is a table detailing a breakdown of the above provisions:

31 March 
2015

31 March 
2014

£000 £000
Employer's Liabilities - NHS Litigation Authority 301 196

Occupiers Liabilities - NHS Litigation Authority 22 10

519 530

Total Legal Claims 842 736

Other Provisions - Industrial tribunal claims 0 0
472 0

Other Provisions - Probable repayment of income liabilities 76 53

Other Provisions - Business rates 37 38

Total Other Provisions 585 91

Total Provisions 1,427 827

The above provisions are subject to uncertainties relating to the estimated costs and expected timings of the settlement. The cost and
timing of the provision for employer's and occupier's liability has been calculated using the information provided by the NHS Litigation
Authority. The injury benefits provision is an amount that is payable for the remaining life of an individual. The provision has been
calculated based on the historic annual payment and the expected remaining life of the individual. The other provisions have been
calculated on the information available at the time of producing the accounts.

Injury Benefits - NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division

Current Non-current

Other Provisions - VAT costs
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The NHS Litigation Authority at the 31 March 2015 has a provision of £98,279,000 in respect of the clinical negligence liabilities of the NHS
Foundation Trust (31 March 2014, £75,264,000).

The NHS Foundation Trust has no contingent liabilities in 2014/15 (2013/14, £86,000), which relate to the Employer's and Occupier's Liability.
This is the difference between the provision which the NHS Foundation Trust has made for the claim and the actual excess which the NHS
Foundation Trust could be liable to pay against the claim.

21.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity Risk

The NHS Foundation Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service contracts with local Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG),
which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Foundation Trust receives such contract income in accordance with
Payment by Results (PBR), which is intended to match the income received in year to the activity delivered in that year by reference to the
National Tariff procedure cost. The NHS Foundation Trust receives cash each month based on the agreed level of contract activity and there are
quarterly payments/deductions made to adjust for the actual income due under PBR. This means that in periods of significant variance against
contracts there can be a significant cash flow impact.  

The NHS Foundation Trust presently finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds or funds made available from Government,
in the form of additional Public Dividend Capital, under an agreed limit. In addition, the NHS Foundation Trust can borrow, both from the
Department of Health Financing Facility and commercially, to finance capital schemes. Financing would be drawn down to match the capital
spend profile of the scheme concerned and the NHS Foundation Trust would not therefore be exposed to significant liquidity risks in this area; the
NHS Foundation Trust did not borrow under any of these arrangements in the year.

Interest-Rate Risk

All of the NHS Foundation Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. The NHS Foundation Trust is not, therefore,
exposed to significant interest-rate risk. The only risk is therefore regarding the level of interest generated on the NHS Foundation Trust's
investment which may be higher or lower than planned at the start of the year due to fluctuating interest rates. The value of interest generated in
2014/15 was £23k (2013/14 was £59k).  

Credit Risk

The main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust is from Commissioners in respect of healthcare services provided under local
agreements - NHS Contracts. Non NHS customers do not represent a large proportion of income, the majority of this relates to other public
sector bodies which are considered low risk. The NHS Foundation Trust is therefore, not exposed to significant credit risk.

Treasury Management Arrangements

The NHS Foundation Trust operates within an agreed Treasury Management policy that governs the nature of the cash investments. The
financial performance of the NHS Foundation Trust's cash investments is reviewed quarterly by the NHS Foundation Trust's Finance and
Performance Committee. The credit risk to the NHS Foundation Trust is minimal for the investments. Investments are limited to a maximum
amount of £3,000,000 with each commercial bank and a maximum period of 95 days. Investments can only be placed with commercial banks
who have a Fitch credit rating of AA+. The NHS Foundation Trust is also able to place investments with HM Treasury in the National Loans Fund
Account (NLF).  The Treasury Management policy states an unlimited value can be placed with the NLF.

The NHS Foundation Trust also has an Interim Revenue Support Loan from the Department of Health. The Trust is required to repay the 1.5%
interest element on the loan every six months, with the principle of the loan being required to be repaid at the end of the 2 year loan period. If
required, the NHS Foundation Trust is able to apply for an extension on this loan for a further 3 year period, extending the loan to 5 years, when
the principle would be expected to be repaid in full.

Currency Risk

The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any overseas foreign transactions or balances. There is no currency or translation risk to the NHS
Foundation Trust.
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31 March 2015 31 March 2014

21.1  Financial assets
Loans                                      

and                   
receivables

Loans                        
and                               

receivables

£000 £000

Accrued income 707 1,886

Trade and Other Receivables (net of provisions for irrecoverable debts) 2,185 2,162

Cash at bank and in hand 991 4,586

Total 3,883 8,634

31 March 2015 31 March 2014

21.2   Financial liabilities
Other                                                                            

Financial                                                             
Liabilities

Other                                 
Financial                                         
Liabilities

£000 £000

Trade and Other Payables (5,830) (5,858)

Accruals (9,639) (11,775)

Interim Revenue Support Loan from Department of Health (14,650) 0

Finance Lease Obligations (including PFI) (57,440) (58,868)

Total (87,559) (76,501)
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Income Expenditure Income Expenditure

£000 £000 Debtor 
£000

Creditor 
£000 £000 £000 Debtor £000 Creditor 

£000

Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral Area Team 4,884 0 0 0 5,242 0 0 0

Greater Manchester Area Team 1,953 0 0 0 2,109 0 0 519

Department of Health - NHS Connecting for Health 0 0 0 0 2,004 0 0 0

Department of Health - PDC Dividend 0 873 191 0 0 810 0 40

NHS Tameside & Glossop 122,759 0 554 1,081 122,274 0 1,658 1,107

NHS Oldham 6,916 0 18 30 7,150 0 21 482

NHS North Manchester  4,657 0 32 123 4,450 0 45 183

NHS Central Manchester  482 0 0 0 573 0 0 25

NHS South Manchester  160 0 1 0 200 0 33 0

Other CCGs 2,638 0 267 6 3,558 0 441 181

Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 1,596 10 355 1 1,537 0 285 0

Stockport NHS Foundation Trust 1,108 1,729 697 104 1,003 1,533 322 257

University Hospital of South Manchester NHS 
Foundation Trust

13 1,611 118 377 135 909 6 341

Other NHS Bodies (including Welsh Health Bodies) 5,601 2,068 689 846 5,254 2,082 420 1,189

NHS Litigation Authority 0 5,887 0 0 0 5,113 0 0

NHS Blood 0 674 0 0 0 702 0 0

NHS Professionals 0 6,398 0 652 0 5,530 0 1,014

HMRC 0 5,797 636 1,947 0 6,094 530 1,788

NHS Pensions 0 8,642 9 237 0 8,342 0 0

Tameside MBC 120 945 18 0 0 0 0

Total 152,887 34,634 3,585 5,404 155,489 31,115 3,761 7,126

 

The NHS Foundation Trust is the corporate trustee of the Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund (Reg No. 1055818). In 2013/14 the Charitable Funds
have not been consolidated in accordance with IAS27. It has been agreed with the Trust auditors, the value of the Charitable Funds are not material to require
consolidation.

An Annual Report and Audited Accounts of the Trust's charity (covering the period reported in these accounts) will be available from 31st January 2016 and may be
accessed via the Charity Commission website.

Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a public benefit body authorised by Monitor, the independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.

During the period there has been no material transactions with any member of the Board or members of key management staff or parties related to them, with Tameside
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions
with the Department, and with other entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. These entities are listed below, along with details of Income
and Expenditure and the Debtor and Creditor balances.

Year Ended 31 March 2015 Year Ended 31 March 2014

Prior Year 2013/14Current Year 2014/15

Name of Organisation
As At

31 March 2015

As At

31 March 2014
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Number of 
Cases £000 Number of 

Cases £000

- Bad debts and claims abandonded (excluding cases between the Foundation Trust and 
other NHS bodies) 4 4 3 2

- Stores Losses (including damages to buildings and other properties as a result of theft, 
criminal damage and neglect) 15 23 15 41

Total Losses 19 27 18 43

- Compensation Payments 65 64 56 110

Total Special Payments 65 64 56 110

Total Losses and Special Payments 84 91 74 153

25. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The NHS Foundation Trust has had no post balance sheet events.

23.  Third Party Assets

24.  Losses and Special Payments

There were no cases exceeding £250,000 in either the current or prior year.

2014/15 2013/14

The NHS Foundation Trust held £8,195 cash at bank and in hand (2013/14 £2,265) which relates to monies held by the NHS Foundation Trust
on behalf of patients.  This has been excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts.

Note:  The amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exlude provisions for future losses.
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